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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED
IN THE

SUPREME COURT

OF

NORTH DAKOTA

KASPER SCHANTZ, as Administrator of the Estate of Raphael
Schantz, Appellant, v.. NORTHERN PACIFIC RAILWAY
COMPANY, a Corporation, Respondent.

(180 N. W. 517.)

Master and servant. — special interrogatories and general verdict held not
inconsistent.

L In an action for personal injuries, under the Federal Employers’ Lia-
bility Act, a general verdict was returned in favor of plaintiff for $7,500.
Special interrogatories were submitted to the jury, some of which were an-
swered. The court on motion ordered judgment in favor of defendant, on
answers made to special interrogatories. Held, that this was error, there being
no inconsistencies between the answers to the special interrogatories and the
general verdict.

Notr.—Authorities holding that a servant’s obedience to orders in attempting
to perform dangerous work with knowledge of the situation did not amount to an
assumption of risk, if he did not know of or fully appreciate the danger, are col-
lated in & note in 4 L.R.A.(N.S.) 838, on attempting dangerous work in obedience
to orders, without fully appreciating the danger.

On servant’s assumption of risk in obeying orders to perform obviously dangerous
work, see note in 4 L.R.A.(N.8.) 830.

47 N. D.—1.



2 : 47 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

Master and servant — knowledge of and appreciation of danger essential
to assumption of risk.

2. One of the defenses pleaded was assumption of risk. It is held, in the
circumstances of this case, in order to show assumption of risk, it must be
established by a preponderance of the evidence, that the servant had knowledge
of and appreciated the danger incident to the act in the course of his employ:
ment about to be performed, from which the injury resulted.

Master and servant — no assumption of risk in obeying command involving
danger.

3. Where the master orders and commands the servant to do an act im-
volving extraordinary danger, the serivint is justified in obeying the command,
and, by so doing, does not assume the risk. In such case, the risk is taken by
the master.

Appeal and error — no necessity for preparation of statement of case when
error appcars on face of judgment roll.

4. In this case, it was not necessary to prepare and present a statemerd of
the case, in order for this court to pass upon the assignments of error, as
error appears upon the face of the judgment roll. It shows there was no
inconsistencies between the answers to the special interrogatories and the gem-
‘eral verdict,

Opinion filed December 11, 1920.

Appeal from judgment of the District Court of Morton County,
North Dakota, Honorable W. C. Crawford, Judge.

Reversed and remanded, with directions to enter judgment upon
general verdict in favor of plaintiff.

Jacobsen & Murray, for appellant.

“A general verdict and special findings should be reconciled, if pos-
sible, and no specific finding should overthrow the general verdict un-
less entirely inconsistent and irreconcilable thereto.” Drouillard v.
Southern P. Co. (Cal.) 172 Pac. 405; Wyldes v. Patterson, 31 N. D.
382, 153 N. W. 631; Cowan v. Mpls. St. P. & S. S. M. R. Co. 172
N. W. 322.

“A servant only assumes those risks of which he is aware and appre-
ciates.” Umstad v. Colgate Elevator Co. 18 N. D. 309; Gila Valley
C. & N. R. Co. v. Hall, 232 U. S. 94, 58 L. ed. 521.

W. F. Burnett and Young, Conmy & Young, for respondent.

“A servant assumes the ordinary risks and dangers of his employ-
ment and the extraordinary risks and dangers which he kmows and
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appreciates.” Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. v. Shalstrom, 195 Fed. 729,
115 C. C. A. 515, 45 L.R.A.(N.S.) 387, and cases there cited; Union
P. R. Co. v. Marone, 246 Fed. 924.

Where a servant knows and appreciates the danger of the act which
he undertakes, he does not any the less assume the risk of injury, or
become chargeable with contributory negligence, as the case may be,
because he undertakes it under the direction of the master’s represent-
ative. Gorman v. Des Moines Brick Mfg. Co. 99 Iowa, 264, 68 N. W,
674 ; Kean v. Detroit Copper & Brass Rolling Mills (Mich.) 33 N. W.
400; Tocmey v. Eureka Iron & Steel Works (Mich.) 50 N. W. 850;
Manson v. G. N. R. Co. 31 N. D. 643; Cook v. N. P. R. Co. 32 N. D.
340; Vanevery v. Soo (N. D.) 171 N. W. 610.

Grace, J. This appeal is from a judgment in favor of defendant,
dismissing the action, upon a general verdict in favor of the plaintiff,
in connection with which verdict special interrogatories were returned.

The complaint states an action against the defendant for personal
injuries, under the Fedcral Employers’ Liability Act, U. S. Comp.
Stat. §§ 8657-8665. A general verdict was returned in favor of the
plaintiff for $7,500. The only question involved in this appeal is
whether the special findings destroyed the general verdict.

The following are the special interrogatories and the answers, where
answer was made:

Question 1: Did Raphael Schantz know, or should he, in the exer-
cise of reasonable care, have known, that he might be injured if he
attempted to catch the moving freight train? A

Answer: He should have known.

Question 2: Did the father and mother of Raphael Schantz suffer
any actual, pecuniary or money loss because of Raphael’s death ?

Answer:

Question 3: If you answer the preceding question in the affirm-
ative, what is the amount of that loss?

Answer:

Question 4: Was the proximate or real canse of Raphael Schantz’s
death the injury received at Harmon?

Answer: No.
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Question 5: What is the damage suffercd because ot pain and suf-
fering endured by Raphael Schantz ¢

Answer: $7,500.

Question 6: Was the injury received by Raphael Schantz, at Har-
mon, an accident for which no one in particular is to blame?

Answer: No. '

Subsequent to the return of the general verdict, the defendant made
a motion for judgment on the special questions answered by the jury.
The court granted the motion, and ordered judgment in favor of the
defendant for a dismissal of the action on its merits, and for costs and
disbursements, and judgment was entered accordingly.

The order for judgment and judgment is based upon the summons,
complaint, answer, gencral verdict, special interrogatories, motion for
judgment by the defendant, based upon the special interrogatories,
and motion for judgment by the plaintiff, for judgment on the general
verdict.

The complaint, after alleging the corporate character of defendant,
and that it was engaged in interstate commerce at the times mentioned
in the complaint, contains, in substance, the following allegations:

That by reason of the premises it became the duty of said defend-
ant, its agents, servants, and section foremen, to give the plaintiff’s
intestate, Raphael Schantz, who was a minor of sixteen years of age,
and who was inexperienced and did not appreciate the danger, due
warning of the dangerous incident of said employment; that it became
the duty of the defendant and its servants to furnish the plaintiff’s
intestate a safe and suitable motor car to carry him to and from differ-
ent points of work; that it became the defendant’s duty to slow down
and stop its trains for the said deceased to get on when it sought to
carry the deceased and the rest of the crew on its trains from and to
points of work ; that it became the duty of the defendant’s section fore-
man, to wit, Peter Barron, to give proper and safe orders to the said
deceased, and to properly and safcly supervise the carrying and the
method of carrying the deceased to and from points of work; that it
became the duty of the defendant, its agents, and servants, to commit
no act or to omit to do any act which would, could, or might injure
the deceased ; that it was the duty of the defendant and its servants to
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use due care towards the deceased, and properly provide for his safety
and welfare while engaged in said employment.

That on said 26th day of April, 1916, while the said defendant,
with its said servants, including the deceased, was engaged in inter-
state commerce as aforementioned, and while the said deceased was act-
ing as such servant and in the lawful performance of his duties as
aforesaid, the said deceased, together with the rest of the crew, were
returning from work to the town of Mandan, and were riding on said
gasolene motor car provided and furnished by the defendant for carry-
ing said section crew as aforesaid; that said gasolene motor car was
wholly unsuitable for the purpose for which it was used, as it was old,
worn out, and defective; that there was a large crew riding thereon;
that it was overloaded with tools; that such overloading was done at
the orders and command of the foreman of the defendant’s company ;
that by reason thereof said motor car failed to run and became stalled
at a certain point on said road ncar the town of Harmon, North Da-
kota; that at said time there was one of the defendant’s freight trains,
which had customarily been used for carrying the defendant’s crew
to Mandan, running on said branch road towards Mandan; that the
said defendant’s foreman informed the deceased, together with the rest
of the crew, that he would go up the track towards the coming train
and flag it, thereby causing it to slow down, and commanded, ordered,
and directed the deceased, together with the rest of the crew, to catch
the said coming freight train and ride upon it into Mandan; that the
deceased and other members of the crew suggested to the said fore-
man that said train was running too fast for them to catch; that the
said foreman thercupon assured the deceased that it was not coming
too fast, that he could catch it easily without any danger; that the
said foreman thereupon walked up the track a short distance toward
the coming train and pretended and attempted to flag same; that while
said train was passing the deceased and the rest of the crew at a high
rate of speed, the deceased, together with the rest of the crew, pursnant
to said command and order of the said foreman, and being then and
there lawfully performing his duties engaging in interstate commeree
with the defendant, attempted to catch and get on said train; that
while so attempting, and while the deceased was using due care and
being free from fault, he was thrown under the wheels of said moving
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train, thereby crushing and mangling his leg, fracturing and bruising
other parts of his body, head and abdomen, and thereby injuring vital
internal organs of his body, and thereby tearing loose the flesh and mus-
cles of his legs, which would make and did make the deceased a per-
manent cripple and invalid.

That the said injuries were caused wholly by the defective appli-
ances, tools, and equipment of the defendant, and the neglect of the
defendant and its servants as aforesaid, among other things, in this,
that the motor car for carrying the men was unsafe and not a proper
or safe machine for its purpose designed; that it was a dangerous
method to require section men and the deceased to catch and jump
upon a moving freight train as a means of being carried to and from
their points of work; that the said foreman was negligent and careless
in ordering and commanding the deceased to catch and get on a fast
moving train, the deceased being then and there a youth, incxperi-
enced, and not appreciating the danger of the act; that said foreman
carclessly and negligently failed to give the proper signal to the train
crew of the moving train to stop or slow down so as to make it safe
for the dcceased to get on; that the train crew of said moving train
carelessly and negligently failed to stop or slow down for the deceased
to get on, the said train crew knowing that the deceased and the rest of
the section crew were contemplating to catch such freight; that said
foreman was carcless and negligent in assuring the deceased that it
was safe to catch such moving train, and further in assuring the said
deccased that said train was not moving at a fast rate of speed; that
all of the negligence of the defendant aforementioned contributed to the
said injuries.

That by reason thereof the deceased was made sick, sorc, and lame,
and suffered terrible physical and mental pain, and was confined to
the hospital under the care of a physician continuously until on or
about the 20th day of August, 1916, when the said Raphael Schantz,
deceased, died; that the said deceased, at the time of the injuries, was
sixtcen years of age, in good health, strong mentally and physically,
and had been for years previous engaged in performing manual labor
and capable of earning about $75 per month; that the deceased if he
had lived, would never have been able to perform any kind of labor
tlereafter, or earn any money, on account of such injuries; that said
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deceased has suffered damages in all by reason thereof in the sum of
fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) end at the time of his death did
have a valid claim against the said defendant in said sum for said in-
juries; that the said deceased left no surviving wife or children; that
he was unmarried and had no issue whatsoever; that he did leave sur-
viving him his parents, to wit; Kasper Schantz, his father, and Mary
Anna Schantz, his mother; that he also left surviving him his brothers
and sisters, being seven in number; that said parents reside in the city
of Mandan, North Dakota, and that they were at all times herein-
mentioned citizens of the United States.

Then follows an allegation that the deceased was, at the time of his
injuries, employed by the defendant and engaged in interstate com-
merce. The foregoing constitutes plaintifP’s first cause of action. The
complaint sets forth a second cause of action, based upon the loss of
services of the deccased to his parents, who are alleged to be unable to
support themselves by reason of being in feeble health, and that they
were dependent upon Raphael Schantz for their living, and by reason
of his death claimed damages in the sum of $10,000.

The answer denies that Raphael Schantz was in its employ as a
section laborer on April 25, 1915, but alleges that he was in its employ
on April 18, 1916, and was injured on that date. It denies that h.
was engaged in interstate commerce when injured, or that he was in-
jared through the negligence of the defendant or the section fore-
man, and alleges that he was injured through his own fault and negli-
gence, which contributed to his injury. :

This case has heretofore been before this court. See Schantz v.
Northern P. R. Co. 42 N. D. 377, 173 N. W. 556. In that case, the
trial court directed a verdict in favor of the defendant, and judgment
was entered thereon. On appeal to this court, the judgment was re-
versed. It was there, in effect, held that, for the assumption of risk
to be available to the defendant, it should be pleaded, and that the
question of assumption of risk was one for the consideration of the
jury. The case was remanded for a new trial. The case was tricd
upon the same pleadings that were in the former case.

Prior to the retrial the defendant made a motion to amend its
answer. The amended answer is substantially the same as the origi-
nal, with the exception that it contains an allegation that Raphael
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Schantz was injured because of one of the ardinary and usual risks of
the business in which he was engaged, and because of a risk which he
appreciated and assumed.

It appears that the motion and proposed amended answer were
served upon Jacobson and Murray, attorneys for the plaintiff, on.
August 22, 1919. It appears, by affidavit of Connelly, attorney for
the defendant, that he received the motion papers from Watson,
Young, & Conmy, prior to September 15, 1919, and that he there-
after turned them over to J. M. Hanley, Judge; and it further ap-
pears that when the motion papers were delivered to the said judge,
that he advised the affiant that J. K. Murray, attorney for the plain-
tiff, had advised him over the telephone that he could not be present on
the 15th day of September, 1919, when the motion was set to be heard.
He never did appear before said court in regard to said motion. The
motion was not heard nor determined before the trial, which was on
or about January 15, 1920. The motion was granted and amendment
of the answer permitted by an order of the court dated February 17,
1920. In the court’s order, allowing the amendment, it is stated that
the action was tried on the issues presented in the amended answer.

Under § 7482, Comp. Laws 1913, the trial court has power to allow
amendment, either before or after judgment, in furtherance of justice
and on such terms as may be proper. We will assume, in the further
discussion of the matters here involved, that the amended answer was
properly allowed. v

The general verdict returned by the jury was as follows: “We, the
jury, impaneled and sworn to try the above-entitled action, do find
for the plaintiff and against the defendant, and assess his damages at
the sum of $7,500. Jarris Estrop, Foreman.” .

Section 7632, Comp. Laws 1913, provides: The verdict of a jury
is either general or special. (1) A general verdict is that by which
they pronounce generally upon all or any of the issues either in favor
of the plaintiff or defendant. Section 7633 provides: The court may
also direct the jury, if they render a general verdict, to find in writing
upon any particular questions of fact, and further states that, when
the special findings of fact are inconsistent with the general verdict,
the former controls the latter, and the court must give judgment
accordingly.
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A general verdict pronounces upon all or any of the issues. The
issnes referred to in § 7632 are issues of fact. Under § 7605, the
issue of fact arises upon material allegation in the complaint, contro-
verted by the answer, or upon new matter in the answer not requiring
reply, or controverted by reply; and upon new matter in the reply,
unless an issue of law is joined thereon.

Under § 7508, issues of fact, where for the recovery of money, must
be tried by the jury unless it is waived as thercin provided. The ques-
tion is then presented, What are the issues of fact in this case? Those
must be determined from the pleadings. An inspection of them will
disclose many issues of that character, which were all, with the excep-
tions to be hereinafter noted, determined in favor of the plaintiff, by
the general verdict.

The general verdict determined that Raphael Schantz was inexperi-
enced and did not appreciate the danger incident to said employment;
that it was the duty of the defendant to slow down and stop its train
for Raphael Schantz, the deceased, when it sought to carry the de-
ceased and the rest of the crew on its trains from and to points of
work; that it was the duty of the defendant’s section foreman, Peter
Barron, to give proper and safe orders to Raphael Schantz, and to
properly and safely supervise the carrying and the method of carry-
ing him to and from points of work; that Raphael Schantz was en-
gaged in interstate commerce at the time he received his injury; that
Peter Barron, the section foreman, informed Raphael Schantz that
he would flag the train and cause it to slow down, and that he com-
manded, ordered, and directed Raphael Schantz and the rest of the
crew to catch the freight train and ride upon it to Mandan; that
Raphael Schantz and the members of the crew suggested that the train
was running too fast; that the foreman assured Raphael Schantz it
was not coming too fast, and that he could catch it easily without any
danger; that Raphael Schantz, pursuant to the command and order of
the foreman, attempted to catch and get on the train, and while so
attempting, and while he was using due care, and being frec from fault,
he was thrown under the wheels of the moving train, his leg mangled
and fractured, and his body otherwise bruised, and his vital organs
injured, and he was made sick, sore, and lame, and suffered terrible
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physical and mental pain, and was confined to the hospltal until the
20th day of August, 1916, when he died.

The general verdict debermmed that the defendant was negligent
and careless in the manner alleged in the complaint, and that such
negligence contributed to the injuries. It determined in favor of
plaintiff every material allegation of the complaint controverted by
the answer, resulting in an issue of fact, including Raphael Schantz’s
knowledge and appreciation, if any, of his danger, and his assumption
of risk, except in so far as any of said issues were determined by the
special questions submitted to the jury.

The answer to question 1, supra, does not show that Raphael
Schantz had any knowledge of his danger. The answer is not that
he knew, but that he should have known, in the exercise of reasonable
care, of his danger, and that he might be injured if he attempted to
catch the moving freight train. What he should have known, and
what he actually did know, are two entirely separate and distinet mat-
ters. There is no special question asked and answered, showing that
he knew and appreciated his danger. Hence, it must follow that the
general verdict determined that he neither knew nor appreciated his
danger. Until it affirmatively appears that he both knew of and ap-
preciated his danger, it cannot be said that he assumed the risk.
Yuha v. Minneapolis, St. P. & S. Ste. M. R. Co. 42 N. D. 179, 171 N.
W. 855; Martin v. Hill, 66 Wash. 433, 119 Pac. 849; Kansas City,
M. & O. R. Co. v. Roe, — Okla. —, 180 Pac. 371; Lyons v. New
Albany, 54 Ind. App. 416, 103 N. E. 20; Chesapeake & O. R. Co. v.
De Atley, 241 U. S. 313-316. 60 L. ed. 1019-1021, 36 Sup. Ct.
Rep. 564; Gila Valley, G. & N. R. Co. v. Iall, 232 U. S. 94, 58 L.
ed. 521, 3% Sup. Ct. Rep. 229; Seaboard Air Line R. Co. v. Horton,
233 U. S. 492, 58 L. ed. 1062, L.R.A.1915C, 1, 34 Sup. Ct. Rep. 635.
Ann. Cas. 1915B, 475, 8 N. C. C. A. 834; Umsted v. Colgate Farmers
Elevator Co. 18 N. D. 318, 122 N. W. 390.

Ordinarily, in cases where the master has given no positive com-
mand or order to the servant, to perform an act in the course of em-
ployment, and where the defense of assumption of risk is a proper
one, the question of assumption of risk is one of fact for the jury.
But, as we shall see, this is not true where the master has given a
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positive order or command to the servant, to do an act in the course of
the employment, involving more than ordinary danger.

It will be observed that the complaint alleges that the section fore-
man commanded, ordered, and directed Raphael Schantz, together
with the rest of the crew, to catch the freight train and ride upon it
into Mandan; that Raphael Schantz and the other members of the crew
suggested to the foreman that the train was running too fast for them
to catch ; that the foreman assured Raphael that it was not coming too
fast and that he could easily catch it without any danger.

By the general denial, this became an issue of fact, and the general
verdict resolved it in favor of plaintiff’s intestate.

Aside from the question of the deceased’s extreme minority, and
considering the matter as though deceased were a person of maturity,
wo think the principle is clear that there is no assumption of risk, in
the circumstances of this case, where the master, through another act-
ing under his authority, gives an order, incident to the work, to a serv-
ant under his control and dircction, which the servant obeys. The risk
in such case is taken exclusively by the master.

Cook v. St. Paul, M. & M. R. Co. 34 Minn. 45, 24 N. W. 311, 16
Am. Neg. Cas. 247; Strong v. Iowa C. R. Co. 94 Jowa, 380, 62 N.
W. 799; Louisville, H. & St. L. R. Co. v. Armstrong, 137 Ky. 146,
125 8. W. 276 ; Schlavick v. Friedman-Shelby Shoe Co. 157 Mo. App.
83,137 S. W. 79; Swanson v. Union Stock Yards Co. 89 Neb. 361.

31 N. W. 594; Sherman v. Texas & N. O. R. Co. 99 Tex. 571, 91

S. W. 561; Jolnson v. Motor Shingles Co. 50 Wash. 154, 96 Pac.
%62; Dalton v. Ogden Gas Co. 126 Ill. App. 502; Mattoon City R.
Co. v. Graham, 138 TIl. App. 70, 234 TIL. 483, 84 N. E. 1070, 14
Ann. Cas. 853; Shirk v. Chicago & E. 1. R. Co. 140 Ill. App. 22:
Wells & F. Co. v. Kapacznyski, 218 T1l. 149, 75 N. E. 751; Koofos
v. Great Northern R. Co. 41 N. D. 176, 170 N. W. 861.

Respondent contends that the burden is on plaintiff to show therc
was error in directing the entry of judgment in defendant’s favor;
and that this cannot be done unless there is a scttled statement of the
case, which here has not been presented, and, hence, the testimony is
not before the court. We think, however, in this case the error appears
upon the judgment roll. There is no inconsistency between the answers
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to the special interrogatorics and the general verdict. Hence, it was
error to enter judgment upon the special questions.

Under § 7632, supra, the general verdict pronounces upon all or
any of the issues. The issues are formed by the pleadings. An in-
spection thereof will disclose the issues. Such issues are, by the gen-
cral verdict, decided in favor of the plaintiff or defendant, as the case
may be, excepting only such of them as are decided upon special in-
terrogatories.

Under our statute, and as a general principle of law, we think it
must be plain “that a general verdict upon issues and evidence prop-
erly submitted must be presumed to have decided every fact or de-
duction therefrom essential to support it, while the special finding
must be limited to and controlled by its specific terms. The general
verdict must be understood as establishing the truth of every material
averment of the complaint, except in so far as such averments are
contradicted or modified by the answers to the interrogatories.

“In determining whether the special findings are inconsistent with
the general verdict, so that the latter must be held to be controlled by
the former, the court is not permitted to regard the evidence in-
troduced on the trial. Ordinarily resort can be had only to the find-
ings and verdict and to the pleadings. The question to be decided is
not whether, in the light of the evidence adduced, the general verdict
is inconsistent with the facts found, the remedy in case of such incon-
sistency being a new trial, but whether, accepting the facts found with-
in the issues as verities, there is irreconcilable conflict between them
and the general verdict.” See Clementson Special Verdict, pp. 134-
136. '

The damages recovered are upon plaintifPs first cause of action.
Special interrogatory No. 5 and the answer thereto clearly show this
to be true. The general verdict must have been given likewise. No
damages were recovered upon the second canse of action. There is no
inconsistency betwecn the answers to the special interrogatories and
the general verdict. The judgment should have been entered upon the
general verdict, and defendant’s motion for judgment upon the special
questions and answers should have been denied.

The judgment appealed from is reversed. The case is remanded
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to the trial court, with directions to enter a judgment upon the gen-
eral verdict in favor of plaintiff.
The appellant is entitled to his costs and disbursements on appeal.

Brossox, J. I concur in the result.

BirozeLL, J. (specially concurring). In its final analysis the case
of the respondent rests upon the validity of the proposition asserted
in one sentence in respondent’s brief. It is said:

“ . . If he [Schantz] should bhave known of the danger, then
he took his chances in doing the work in the manner ordered, and can-
not recover.”

If the answer to the first interrogatory be construed as placing the
servant in the same situation he would have occupied had he actually
koown of the danger, would the knowledge of the dangers attending
his act in attempting to board the moving train be sufficient to preclude
recovery where he was, in fact, ordered to board the train, his age
and inexperience considered? There is no finding in answer to any
special interrogatory as to whether he was justified in complying with
the master’s order, or whether he acted reasonably or unreasonably in
so doing. -The finding is directed solely to the question of knowledge.
The respondent’s proposition is faulty in that it ignores the qualifying
effect of the master’s order. Where a servant acts in response to an
order or command, he may be justified in carrying out the order even
though it exposes him to a peril of which he is aware. 4 Labatt,
Mast. & S. 2d ed. pp. 3933-3935. And it is only where the danger
is so apparent that a reasonably prudent person in his situation and
with his knowledge would not have obeyed the command that the mas-
ter is exonerated from liability. The rule as to the qualifying effect
of an order is especially applicable where the master and the servant
are not upon the same footing by reason of the immaturity of the latter.
Where the servant acts in obedience to an order, the questions of
assumption of the risk of apparent dangers and of contributory negli-
zence are ordinarily questions of fact to be determined by a jury under
the circumstances of the particular case. Tenmessy v. Ginsherg, 45
N. D. 229, 180 N. W. 796. In the instant case, on the record before
this court as shown by the main opinion herein. these issnes mnst he
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deemed to have been decided, under the general verdict, in favor of
the plaintiff, and in the absence of an inconsistent finding in a special
interrogatory it was error to enter judgment for the defendant. For
these reasons I concur in the reversal.

Rosinson, J. (dissenting). In this case I dissent. The case is now
before the court on a second appeal, which is from a judgment on a
special verdict. The appellant does not present the evidence, but on
the former appeal it appeared that deceased was in the employ of de-
fendant as a scction laborer, and that he met with a fatal accident by
attempting to get onto a fast moving freight train. As the train ap-
proached the station, where it did not stop, the scction foreman said to
the deccased that he might catch onto the train in case it slowed up.
He was not ordered to catch onto the moving train, as the opinion
assumes. The foreman had no right or authority to give such an
order, and he did not give it. It was not in the line of his business.
The train did not slow up. The deceased had no orders to get onto it.
All that is said concerning a servant obeying the orders of his master is
foreign to this case. DBut it is said that under the general verdict the
court should assume to be true certain averments which it knows to be
false, that is, the alleged orders given by the foreman and his authority
to give such orders which did not pertain to his duty as a section fore-
man. Now, if the court shonld hold that the section foreman had an
authority by virtue of his cmployment to direct those under him to
risk their lives in catching onto fast moving trains, then the court
should remand the case for a new trial and a special finding as to
whether or not the foreman gave any such orders. Such a verdict
should not be sustained on any refined technicality, when it is based
on a presumption which the court knows to be untrue.

Curistianson, Ch. J. (concurring specially). When this case was
here on a former appeal, I was of the opinion that the trial court prop-
erly instructed the jury to return a verdict in favor of the defendant.
See Schantz v. Northern P. R. Co. 42 N. D. 377, 173 N. W. 558.
Time has not altered the views which I then entertained and ex-
pressed. These views, however, were not shared by a majority of this
court. They believed that under the evidence the question of negli-
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gence and assumption of risk were for the jury. Hence, that was the
decision of this court. And that decision, right or wrong, became the
law of the case. Schmidt v. Beiseker, 19 N. D. 35, 120 N. W. 1096;
4 C. J. 1093 et scq.

In respondent’s brief on this appeal it is asserted that “the record
testimony shows Raphael Schantz made two attempts to catch the mov-
ing train before he was hurt, and was thrown off each time;” that
“the record shows that there was no assurance of safety by Barron,”
and, also, “that there was no order to catch the train,—nothing more
than permission to do so.” These assertions, however, have nothing
to support them, for the evidence is not before ns. We have only the
judgment roll proper, and from this it appears that the case was sub-
mitted to the jury for a general verdict; that in connection with the
general verdict, the jury was directed to make answer in writing to
certain special interrogatories; that the jury returned a general verdict
in favor of the plaintiff for $7,500, and made answers to five different
interrogatories. It also appears that the defendant moved for, and
that the trial court rendered, judgment in favor of the defendant upon
the special findings of the jury.

The sole question presented on this appeal is whether the finding of
the jury that Raphael Schantz, in the exercise of reasonable care, should
have known that he might be injured if he attempted to catch the
moving freight train, was so variant from and contrary to the general
verdict that, if the answer to the special interrogatory is truc, it would
follow as a conclusion of law that the general verdict is unwarranted.
38 Cyc. 1927 et. seq. “Special findings are inconsistent with the gen-
eral verdict when they as a matter of law authorize a different judg-
ment from that which the verdict will authorize.” And “special find-
ings so inconsistent with and antagonistic to the general verdict as to
be absolutely irreconcilable with it control the general verdict, and a
judgment non obstante must be given according to the special find-
ings.” 38 Cye. 1927. But to control the general verdict the facts
found by the jury in answer to the special interrogatories must be so
“clearly antagonistic to it as to be absolutely irreconcilable, the con-
flict being such as to be beyond the possibility of being removed by
any evidence admissible under the issues, so that both the general
verdict and the special findings cannot stand.” 38 Cyc. 1929, 1930.



16 47 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

“No presumption will be indulged in favor of answers of the jury
to special interrogatories as against the general verdict; but, on the
contrary, every reasonable intendment in favor of the general verdict
should be indulged, and all parts of the verdict are to be reconciled in
support thereof if it can reasonably be done.” 38 Cyc. 1928, 1929.
While a special verdict will be construed most strongly against the
party upon whom rests the burden of proof, a special finding received
without objection will be construed most strongly against the party in
whose favor it is found. 38 Cye. 1930. On the record before us in
this case, therefore, we must assume that the evidence adduced was
sufficient to justify findings, and that the jury did in fact find in
favor of the plaintiff upon every material issue of fact raised by the
pleadings,—excepting alone the question of fact covered by finding
above referred to. And the question presented here is whether the
facts found by the jury in such finding are such that it would follow
therefrom as a matter of law that the plaintiff is not entitled to recover,
even though all the other issues of fact raised by the pleadings in the
case were found in his favor.

The defendant contends that the finding establishes, as a matter of
law, that Raphael Schantz assumed the risk of the injuries, I do not
believe that the finding may be so construed. I do not believe that this
finding establishes anything more, or any other or different condition,
than that indisputably established by the evidence upon the former ap-
peal. And, in view of the decision then made by this court, I agree
with Mr. Justice Birdzell that even though the facts were as found
by the jury in such special finding, it would still be a question for the
jury,—in view of all the circumstances alleged in the complaint, in-
cluding the youth of the deceased, and the order given by the fore-
man,—to say whether the deceased assumed the risk of the injuries.
I disagree, however, with what is said in the principal opinion written
by Mr. Justice Grace, and in paragraph 3 of the syllabus, upon this
matter. I do not believe that it follows in all cases that “where the
~ master orders and commands the servant to do an act involving extraor-
" dinary danger, the servant is justified in obeying the command, and
by so doing does not assume the risk;” and that “in such case, the
risk is taken by the master.” T belicve that where the servant acts in
obedience to an order, as a general rule, it is for the jury to say whether
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the servant assumed the risk. 4 Labatt, Mast. & S. 2d ed. p. 3927;
Hennessy v. Ginsberg, 46 N. D. 229, 180 N. W. 796. There are cases,
however, wherein the evidence shows that the danger is one so thorough-
ly known to and appreciated by the servant; or where the danger to be
encountered is at once so obvious and serious that a person, situated
as the servant was, necessarily must have known and appreciated the
danger. In such cases,—where the evidence is such that reasonable
men in the exercise of reason and judgment can reach only one con-
clusion,—the question of a command is not of itself sufficient to make
the question of assumption of risk one of fact for the jury.

JOSEPH ANDRIEUX, Respondent, v. E. H. KAEDING, Appellant.
(181 N. W. 59.)

PFrand — evidence of deceit in sale of mining stock held sufficient.

1. Defendant sold plaintiff certain corporate stock of the Bessemer Iron
Mining Company, and, during the negotiations for the sale thereof, represented
to him that the property of said company contained large deposits of manganese
ore, and made several other material representations concerning the property
and its value, upon which plaintiff relied. The property as a mining propo-
sition proved to be worthless.

Plaintiff brought an action, on the grounds of fraud and deceit, to recover
$3,000, the amount which he had paid for the stock, and the verdict was in
his favor for that amount and interest.

Held, that there is substantial evidence to support the verdict.

Bvidence — fraud — trial — instructions approved - evidencc held ad-
missible — rule of damages stated — nondirection not reversible error.
2. Held, that the court did not err in excluding or receiving certain evi-
dence, nor in its rulings upon certain objections and motions, nor in the giving

of certain instructions.

ﬁ..d — investigation by purchaser of mining stock held not to preclude
recovery for deceit.

3. Where the property is of such character, or is so situated, that it cannot
be examined, as in this case, where the property was alleged to consist of large
and valuable deposits of iron ore, to which no shaft had been sunk, and where
no exploration records were presented to the party desiring to investigate the
property, showing the actual condition existing, a visit to the property, for

47 N. D—2.
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the purpose of inspection, by one about to purchase stock therein, would mot
preclude him from relying upon the representations theretofore made as to the
conditions and value of the property, it appearing that such investigation eould
convey no knowledge.

Opinion filed December 14, 1920.

Appeal from an order of the District Court of Bottineau County,
denying defendant’s motion to set aside and vacate the judgment and
grant a new trial ; Honorable W. J. Kneeshaw, Judge.

Judgment affirmed.

T. D. Sheehan, and Miller, Zuger & Tillotson (John Ott of coun-
sel), for appellant.

The evidence is insufficient to sustain the verdict.

“Proof of fraud must be by clear and convincing evidence and evi-
denced by facts inconsistent with an honest purpose.” Reitsch v. Mec-
Carty (N. D.) 160 N. W. 694.

“Proof of fraud must be by clear and convincing evidence beyond
reasonable controversy.”” Richards v. Millard (Wis.) 131 N. W. 365.

“In an actionable fraud, one of the essential clements to maintain
an action is actual or constructive intent to deceive.” Milwaukee
Worsted Mill v. Wilson (Wis.) 147 N. W. 1068; Humphrey v. Merri-
man (Minn.) 20 N. W. 138,

“Where purchaser makes as full an investigation as he chooses, he
cannot thereafter recover on thc ground that he relied upon misrepre-
sentations of the vendor.” Roper v. Noll (S. D.) 143 N. W. 130;
Moses v. Katzenburger, 84 Ala. 95; Anderson v. McPike, 80 Mo. 293 ;
Development Co. v. Silva, 125 U. S. 247; Farnsworth v. Duffner, 142
U. S. 431; 1 Bigclow, Fraud, 87.

J. J. Weeks and W. . Adams, for respondent.

One who buys property has a right implicitly to rely upon the repre-
sentations of the seller. Guild v. More, 32 N. D. 469; Fargo Gas &
Coke Co. v. Co. 4 N. D. 219.

When a certain theory as to the measure of damages or the amount
of recovery is accepted or acted upon by the parties in the trial court
as the proper one, it must be adhered to on appeal, whether it is cor-
rect or not. 3 C. J. 377; Montana Eastern R. Co. v. Lebeck, 32 N. D.
162, Harris v. Van Vranken, 32 N. D. 238; Peterson v. Conlen, 18
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N. D. 205; Movius v. Propper, 23 N. D. 452; Lunn v. Seby, 2 N. D.
420. :

Grace, J. This action is one to recover the sum of $3,000, paid to
Bessemer Iron Mining Company, while relying upon false and fraud-
ulent representations of defendant, relative to the amount and value
of iron ore deposits in certain property, known as the Bessemer Iron
Mining Company, a corporation, part of the corporate stock of which
was purchased by plaintiff.

The material facts are as follows: v

The Crow Wing Iron Company was the owner of the north 1 ot the
southeast } of section 6, township 46, range 29, Crow Wing county,
state of Minnesota. The land is in the vicinity where iron ore is found
and produced. The Crow Wing Iron Company drilled this property in
the year 1911. It does not appear that anything more was done with
the property until 1917, when the same was leased to the Bessemer
Iron Mining Company, of which one Rydberg was an officer.

The latter company, in 1917, did more drilling on the land. In
June of that year the defendant, with other parties, were taken to see
the property. Negotiations continued between Rydberg and those
parties until October, 1917, when the defendant and other parties of
Minneapolis were again taken to see the property. At this time the
drilling was finished and some buildings had been constructed, and
a shaft was being sunk in the vicinity where some of the drilling had
heen done. Northeast of this mine, about a mile and a quarter, was
the Fay mine, where the shaft had been completed, and from which
ore was about to be taken.

Surrounding the Fay mine are other mines, including the Farrell
and the Merritt mines, some of which were producing what is de-
nominated manganiferous or manganesc ore. Not long after this, the
parties from Minneapolis made a contract with the Bessemer people,
claimed to be similar to the one into which plaintiff and his associates
entered, the only difference claimed was the amount in the first pay-
ment, which was less than that provided in the contract which plaintiff
sigmed.

It is claimed that defendant and one Michael paid their first pay-
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ment of $500, but the other parties did not make their payments, and
the contract was canceled.

In the late fall, in October or November, the defendant met one
Vikan of Bottineau, in Minneapolis, and they had some conversation
with reference to this mining proposition. Kaeding desired him to
bring the matter before parties of Bottineau, with the view of interest-
ing them in the proposition.

Vikan did talk with some parties at Bottineau, and Mr. Smithson
went to Minneapolis, made some investigation of the property and
conditions, and wrote Vikan thereafter; and sometime after January
9, 1918, after Smithson had talked with defendant, and had some con-
versation with reference to the latter going to Bottineau, to raise the
money for the purpose of sinking a shaft, he did go to Bottineau, and
on about the 16th day of January entered into a certain contract.
After this contract was signed, onc Moline, a contractor, was selected
by the parties to take charge of the sinking of the shaft.

After this, and before any money was paid, and at the request of
defendant, plaintiff and three other parties to the contract went to the
location of the mine for the purpose of investigating the same. They
also went to Duluth and had some talk with the manager of the Fay
mine, and on the 23d day of January went to Minneapolis, and entered
into the contract upon which this action is based, which superseded
the eontract of January 16th.

The Bessemer Iron Mining Company had a mining lease from the
Crow Wing Iron Company, on the land above deseribed. On the 4th
day of January, 1918, the former entered into a contract with the
defendant and one Michacl, whereby it agreed to issue and sell to them,
or such other parties as became interested with them, 170,000 shares
of the capital stock of that corporation, for the sum of $30,000. That
company, according to recital in the contract, theretofore had issued
and sold, for promotion and dcvelopment purposes, 167,915 shares of
its capital stock.

The purpose declared in the contract for selling 170,000 shares of
stock was the sinking and constructing on the land a shaft, which was
to be 100 feet deep, if necessary, and 6 feet wide and 12 feet long, and
this for a proper exploration of the property.

Under the contract, the shaft was to be constructed under the joint
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direction of all the parties to that contract. The contract contained
this further provision: “In consideration of all the covenants of the
party of the first part, herein contained, it is further agreed by all of
the partics to this contract, that if merchantable ore shall be found
upon the property above described, by the sinking of said shaft, in such
quantitics and quality as to warrant the mining thereof, then said
parties of the second part, and said persons selected by said second
parties, to become interested with them, may, upon their option, pay
to said party of the first part the difference between the total amount
of money advanced by said parties of the second part, and those to be
hereafter interested with them, as herein contemplated, for the con-
struction of said shaft, in the sum of $30,000, and that, then, there-
upon there shall be issued to said parties of the sccond part, and those
to become interested with them, as herein contemplated, 170,000 shares
of the capital stock of said party of the first part, divided between the
parties of the second part, as their several interests shall appcar, ac-
cording to the amount advanced by each of them.”

If, upon the completion of said shaft, merchantable ore in sufficient
quantity and quality to warrant the mining thercof shall not be found
upon said property, then and thereupon it is agreed by and between the
said parties that said party of the first part shall issue to said party to
the second part, and divided equally among them, and those interested
with them, such shares of the capital stock of the party of the first part
as will be paid for by the total amount of money advanced by said
parties of the second part, and those intercsted with them, for the
construction of said shaft, at the rate of $30,000 for 170,000 shares.

This contract was signed on the part of the Bessemer Iron Mining
Company, by Rydberg, president, and Donahue, secrcary, and by
Kaeding and Michael, as the other contracting parties. This contract
was incorporated into and made a part of the contract involved in
this suit, and is executed by Kaeding and Michael, as parties of the
first part, and Joseph Andrieux, of Bottineau, and seven other promi-
nent men of that city, engaged, largcly, either in the banking or mer-
cantile business, as parties of the second part. The contract provided
that upon signing thereof, each of the parties of the second part should
pay into the treasury of the Bessemer Iron Mining Company the sum
of $1,000, and thereupon there should be issued to him a certificate of




22 " 47 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

stock of that company, in the sum of $5,000; that on the 1st day of
March, 1918, each of the second parties should pay into the treasury
the further sum of $500, and a further certificate of stock should be
issued to each in the sum of $2,500; and that thereafter the second
parties would each pay into the treasury of the corporation, as the same
might be required for development purposes, and for the purpose of
putting the mining project in operation, such further sums until each
had paid into the treasury the total sum of $3,000.

The contract recites that it was understood by the parties to it that
the first parties had theretofore paid into the treasury the sum of
$2,000 each, and that, after each of the second parties had paid in
the sum of $2,000 each, the first parties would pay in the further sum
of $1,000 each, as the same might be required in the furtherance of
the mining project.

The sccond parties further stipulated to pay Kaeding the sum of
%800 on the 1st day of April, 1918, in consideration of services ren-
dered by him, and money expended in the furtherance of the business
of said corporation, and in considcration of legal services theretofore
performed, or to be performed, by one Thomas D. Schall, for the cor-
poration, in conncction with the business affairs thereof, each of the
parties of the second part mutually agreed that from the shares of stock
issued to them, they would transfer 300 shares to Schall, or a total of
3,000 shares.

The plaintiff, as per contract, paid for the stock the sum of $3,000.
e paid $1,000 on January 25, 1918, $1,000 on March 1, 1918, and
$1,000 on March 15, 191S. In his complaint, plaintiff alleges that
defendant, in order to induce him to buy the corporate stock, and pay
the sum of $3,000 thercfor, and with intent to deceive and defraud
plaintiff, falsely and fraudulently represented to him, and to the seven
other persons to whom he sold said corporate stock, with the intent that
they convey such representations to plaintiff, that the debts of said
corporation did not amount to more than $4,000 at most; that the said
corporation was the owner of a valuable iron mine, which mine con-
tained mangancse ore in paving quantities; that the ore in said mine
had been tested and found to contain manganese ore in paying quan-
tities; that ore of the kind and quality contained in said mine was
worth from $16 to $28 per ton; that the said mine contained as goo:l
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manganese ore in as paying quantities as another mine in the same
vicinity, which was known as the Fay mine, which contained man-
ganese ore in paying quantities; all of which representations the de-
fendant falsely and fraudulently asserted to be true, although he did
not believe them to be true, and although he had no reasonable ground
for believing them to be true. v

Plaintiff alleges that he relied upon the representations aforesaid,
and was induced thereby to join with several other persons in entering
into the contract; that the debts of the corporation at the time of enter-
ing into the contract amounted to more than $10,000; that the cor-
poration was not the owner of a valuable iron mine; that the mine
did not contain manganese ore in paying quantities; that the ore found
in the mine was worth nothing, and could be mined only at a loss; that
the mine did not contain as good mangancse ore as the Fay mine, nor
in such paying quantities; that the mine and the corporate stock of the
corporation was worthless.

The answer denies the fraudulent representations, or that plaintiff
relicd upon them, and pleads and rclies upon the contract; and alleges
that, at the time plaintiff invested his money in the shares of the
Bessemer Iron Mining Company, he had made full investigation of
the property of the Bessemer Iron Mining Company, and of the pos-
sibilities of it, and that it was upon a personal investigation made by
him, prior to the signing of the contract and the time he invested his
money in the shares, that he was induced to sign the contract to buy
the shares. It pleads the $800 which the contract specifies should be
paid Kaeding, as a counterclaim. The case was tried to a jury, and
verdict returned in plaintiff’s favor for $3,000 and interest.

As there are several of the exhibits designated by the same letter,
in order to avoid confusion, it is well to explain the exhibits.

The defendant, during the negotiations for the sale of the stock,
bad and exhibited to plaintiff, and those associated with him, what
purported to be a blueprint or map of the Bessemer mining property.
At the trial, this was identified as exhibit “A.” In the depositions of
Ostrand, Vibert, and Wolfe it is identified as exhibit “D.”

Besides the above exhibit, there arc three blueprints, marked ex-
hibits “A,” “B,” and “C.” These are the original blueprints made
for the Crow Wing Iron Company, in 1911, and were in the office of
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the Crow Wing Iron Company, at Cloquet, Minnesota, all the time
Kaeding was interested in the Bessemer mine.

Two other exhibits are also designated “B” and “C.” These ave
samples of ore taken from the Fay mine, and which the defendant had
with him, and exhibited to the plaintiff and his associates at the time
of the negotiations for the sale of the stock.

Exhibit “1” is the contract of January 16th. There is also another
exhibit “D,” which is the contract of January 25th. Exhibit “E” is
the report of engineer Wolfe. Exhibit “F” consists of several shects
of blueprint, of cross sections to which reference is made in the testi-
mony of Wolfe.

Exhibit “2” is a letter from Smithson to Vikan, both of whom were
parties to the contract.

The defendant has assigned a very large number of errors, thirty-
three of which are urged, seven of which are based upon alleged error
of the court in giving certain instructions. Fiftecn are based upon
crror claimed to have been committed by the trial court in the reception
or exclusion of certain evidence or in its ruling upon objections and
motions made during the course of the trial. In eleven, it is contended
the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict.

The giving of the following instructions are assigned as error:
(1) “As regards the allegations of fraud and misrepresentation charged
in this case by the plaintiff, in his declaration filed in this case, the
court instructs the jury that to entitle the plaintiff to recover damages
in this case the jury must believe, from all the evidence, that the al-
leged misrepresentations were, in fact, made by the defendant, or some
other duly authorized person, and that such representations were false
when made; and, further, the jury must believe from the evidence that
they were such representations as a man of ordinary prudence would
rely upon, and that the plaintiff did, in fact, rely upon such statements,
and was induced thereby to purchase the stock in question in this suit,
and to execute the contract complained of in this action, and has
thereby been damaged. Otherwise, the verdict must be for the de-
fendant.”

The correctness of this instruction is challenged on the ground that
it is erroneous and misleading, in that it fails to distinguish between
representations concerning matters that could only have been expres-
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sions of opinion, as distinguished from representations of existing facts
susceptible of knowledge. There was no error in the instruction. The
evidence clearly shows that the representations were not the expressions
of opinion, but of matters claimed to exist as facts, and expressed in
such a manner as to warrant the plaintiff in believing that defendant
had full knowledge of the facts he represented to be true and to exist.

The subject of fraudulent representations will be more fully analyzed
later in the opinion.

(2) “The court instructs the jury that any wilful misrepresentation
of a material fact, inade with the design to deceive another, and to in-
duce him to enter into a trade he would not otherwise make, will
enable the party who has been overrcached to annul the contract; and
it makes no differcnce whether the party making the misrepresentation
knew it to be falsc, or whether he was ignorant of the facts stated,
provided the matter stated was material to the party making the state-
ment, and stated it as true when, in fact, he had no apparently good
rcason for belicving it to be true, and when the other party, under the
circumstances shown by the evidence, was reasonably justified in rely-
ing upon the statement and did rely upon it in making the trade, and
was deceived and injured thereby.”

The defendant claims this instruction is erroneous and misleading
in that it is rather in conformity with the equity rule in an action
brought for the cancelation of a contract for fraudulent representa-
tions, than one where there is an affirmance of the contract and an ac-
tion for damages.

We think defendant’s reasoning is not sound, in this, that the court
did not, nor did it intend to, apply the principle of law to which de-
fendant refers. This action is neither for the cancelation of a contract,
nor is it one where the contract has been affirmed and then an action
maintained for damages for fraud. It is an action for damages for de-
ceit. The complaint states that kind of action.

Section 5943, Comp. Laws 1913, provides: “One who wilfully de-
ceives another with intent to induce him to alter his position to his
injury or risk is liable for any damages which he thereby suffers. See-
tion 5944. Deceit defined. A deceit within the meaning of the last
scction is either: (1) The suggestion as a fact of that which is not
true bv one who does not believe it to be true. (2) The assertion as a
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fact of that which is not true by one who has no reasonable ground for
believing it to be true. (3) The suppression of a fact by one who is
bound to disclose it, or who gives information of other facts which are
likely to mislead for want of communication of that fact; or, a promise
made without any intention of performing.”

The instruction defines the proper legal principles applicable to the
issues, and in conformity with the statutory definition of deceit and of
damages therefor.

The rule of damages in cases like this is that fixed by statute, supra;
to wit, the amount of damage suffered by rcason of the deceit; and in
this case, in view of the allegations of the complaint, it would be no
more than the amount of money plaintiff paid for the stock, and the
interest thereon from the time of payment.

Perhaps the instruction was not in the best form, but we are certain
it was not prejudicial. It was, to a large extent, a statement of our
statutory definition of deceit.

(3) “When two or more persons combine to conspire by false repre-
sentations or other fraudulent acts to cheat and defraud another, all
of said persons participating in said fraud are liable to the person de-
frauded, whether they receive any benefit from the fraud or not.”

Defendant contends that this instruction introduces a new element
in the case, to wit, that of conspiracy; that it had a tendency to permit
the jury to speculate as to whether or not some conspiracy may not
have existed between defendant and Rydberg. The language of the in-
struction states a gencral principle of law applicable to the facts in it
stated. We think there is nothing in the instruction to introduce a
new clement or a false issue, or that it would cause speculation by the
jury in the regard claimed by defendant.

The principal thought in the instruction related to fraud, and not to
conspiracy. We think the court was not in error in giving the in-
struction, but if it could, by any stretch of imagination, be deemed
error, it was error without prejudice.

(4) “Now, gentlemen of the jury, there has been some evidence
here, as to statements made by and the opinion of Smithson and others,
and the court instructs that anything that Smithson or Vikan or any
of these fellows may have written, or anything they may have said, or
knowledge they obtained, not in the presence of this plaintiff, and
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which had not been brought home to him, or which he had not been in-
formed of, are not binding upon the plaintiff in any event. The other
parties in this transaction are not suing. It is this plaintiff,. Mr.
Andrieux, who is bringing this action, and the question is as to what
representations were made to him at that time, and whether he relied
upon them, and whether they were true. And therefore any letter Mr.
Smithson may have written—it not being shown that the plaintiff,
Andrieux, knew anything about it at all—is not binding upon him.
We are not trying the case of the other parties. We are trying the case
of this plaintiff, Andrieux, against the defendant. Those bankers and
other men are not in this case at all. They are not suing. It is the
plaintiff, Andrieux, who is suing.”

The instruction taken as a whole, we think, was a correct statement
of the nonadmissibility of statements by, and conversations between,
other parties, not made or had in the presence of the plaintiff. It is not
shown that plaintiff heard such or that he knew thereof, nor was it
shown that he had knowledge of any letters written by Smithson to
Vikan, or other letters, if any, between other of the parties, and cer-
tainly it must follow that none of the same was binding on him.

Exhibit “2” was a letter written by Smithson to Vikan. It was
excluded as evidence, and, we think, properly so: for it does not appear
by any competent proof that the plaintiff ever knew of the contents of
it. The represcntations and statements claimed to be facts, or state-
ments expressed in such language and in such manner and circum-
stances, by the defendant at Bottineau, during the negotiations there
with plaintiff and his Bottineau associates, and at Minneapolis when
tho final contract was executed, and prior to the exccution thereof, in
the presence of plaintiff and his Bottineau associates, or some of them,
were proper and competent evidence, relative to the issne of fraud and
of its admissibility, there is not the least doubt. The instruction was
only a caution to the jury to consider proper and competent evidence,
and to disregard that which was clearly hearsay.

Further objection is made to the instructions, in that it is claimed
that the court laid down many abstract propositions of law that had no
application to the issues involved, and which were confusing and mis-
leading to the jury; and that the charge failed to instruct the jury as to
the law relative to actionable or nonactionable representations.
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As to the first objection, there is not the least merit. As to the sec-
ond, if the representations were false and plaintiff relied on them, and
he was deceived thereby, to his injury, and this was the theory upon
which the case was tried and submitted to the jury, then the represen-
tations were clearly actionable, and the charge, as a whole, defined the
law in that regard quite clearly.

It was not necessary for the court to further elucidate the subject by
defining nonactionable representations. The court’s duty was to define
principles of law applicable to the issues. It performed that duty in
a most competent and erudite manner; and further, in a civil case, non-
direction, unless it amounts to misdirection, is not reversible error.
Huber v. Zeiszler, 37 N. D. 556, 164 N. W. 131.

Had the defendant desired further instructions, he should have
preparcd them in writing, and presented them to the court at a proper
time. Not having done so, he is not in position to complain, provided
the court has, in its charge to the jury, so amply defined the law ap-
plicable to the issues as to fairly cover them; in other words, unless the
charge is so devoid of the correct principles of law applicable to the
issucs that it amounts to misdirection, it should, where there is no
requests for further instructions, generally be held to be sufficient.

We will now consider the errors assigned, which are urged, based
upon the court’s rulings in the reception or exclusion of evidence, and
its rulings upon objcctions and motions. Specification 7 of errors of
law.

Ostrand was a mining engineer, of good professional qualifications,
and plaintiff’s witness. He was asked the following question, to which
objection was interposed and overruled:

Q. State, from the examination of that map, exhibit “D,” and from
vour knowledge and experience as a mining engineer, if you know of
any purpose for which that map might be used.

By Mr. Shechan: Defendant objects on the grounds of its being
immaterial and purely speculative, and asking the witness to go into
the field of conjecture.

A. To mislead.

In his deposition, Ostrand testified, with reference to exhibit “D”
(the same as the blueprint, exhibit “A,’ used in negotiating sale of
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stock), in reply to a question whercin he was asked to state, of his own
knowledge as a mining engineer, and from. the drill records and cross
sections on that map, what, if anything, would be the value of the
property shown on the blueprint. His answer was that no information
is shown on that map to give a basis on which to give an estimate.
He was then asked the following question: '

Q. Showing the index to ore bodies shown on that map, and re-
ferring to map, I will ask you to state if you know of any such forma-
tion existing on the Cayuna range, in Crow Wing county, Minnesota,
33 is shown on that map, plaintiff’s exhibit “D.” '

A. No.

He also stated that the map was of no value except to show the loca-
tion of property.

As we view this testimony, it is quite material. The map was an
instrumentality of deception, except that it might show location of the
property. It was of no utility except to use to mislead and deceive as
to the true condition which there existed.

This witness shows that the formation shown on this map is not in
conformity with any known formation on the range.

J. F. Wolfe, a graduate of the Colleze of Engineering of the Uni-
versity of Wisconsin, and who had an advanced professional degree of
Fogineer of Mines from that University, and whose course of study
embraces engineering and geology of the Take Superior iron district,
and who was from 1908 to 1918 employed as a mining engineer and
zeologist by the Oliver Iron Mining Company, a mining branch of the
I'nited States Steel Corporation, and whose work embraced the Ver-
milion, Mesaba, and Cayuna ranges of Minnesota, and other ranges, and
who was engaged in practice of consulting mining engincering at Duluth
and Crosby, testified in reference to exhibit “D,” in his opinion the
exploration records of this property (Bessemer) did not warrant the
making of such a drawing. representing a hody of the manganiferous
ore on the property; and that, in his opinion, it was drawn from the
imagination of the author, without sufficient positive, documentary in-
formation, or at the direction of someone employing him; and that,
in his opinion, it was made to induce those not familiar with mining
properties. or records of mining explorations, to believe that a large
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and valuable body of manganese or manganiferous iron ore existed
on the property of the Bessemer Iron Mining Company.

Certainly, this evidence was of a high probative value, where the
issue is fraud. Exhibit “D” was an instrumentality utilized in the
consummation thereof. :

Error No. 23: Error is assigned by receiving in evidence, over
defendant’s objection, exhibits “A,” “B,” and “C,” upon the principal
ground that they did not show, or purport to show, the condition of the
property as to exploration and development at the time of this trans-
action.

Fred D. Vibert resides at Cloquet, Minnesota. He was the pub-
lisher of a newspaper and was state senator. His testimony is sub-
stantially to the following effect: He was connected with the Crow
Wing Iron Company, as secretary and director, and that such corpora-
tion explored the property in question in 1911; that he preserved the
drillings and they were kept at Crosby until the drilling was done,
and then were shipped to Cloquet and kept in his office; that thesc
drillings and cuttings were the same as were examined by J. F. Wolfe
in his office, in April, 1918; that the chemical analysis of the cuttings
and drillings was made by C. J. O’Connecll, and that his analysis
showed there was some manganiferous ore there, but, as to the quantity,
he was not in position to say. He 1dent1ﬁed the exhibits objected to,
“A ”»” “B » and “C 2” as tl‘lle

The witness’s testimony shows that he participated in the drilling
of the property, by going to Crosby at least once, and sometimes twicc,
each weck while the work was going on, and he was familiar with the
detail results of the drilling and explorations done by the Crow Wing
Iron Company, on this property.

The defendant claims these exhibits were inadmissible, in that there
is a lack of evidence showing the truth or correctness of the matters
which those exhibits purport to show; that the party’s evidence, who
made the analysis of the ore, is not before the court, and that, hence,
there is no evidence to show that the figures on exhibits “A,” “B,” and
“C,” correspond with the results obtained by the party who made the
analysis.

The witness, however, was an officer of the Crow Wing Iron Com-
pany, and his testimony is to the effect that those exhibits were true.
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At the time of the drilling and exploration by the Crow Wing Iron
Company, in 1911, these exhibits were made. There does not appear
to be any motive shown why that company should have prepared, by
its experts, fallacious blucprints or maps of its drillings and explora-
tions.

The witness was an officer of the company and was in position to
have knowledge of the correctness of these exhibits. It is true that
upon these exhibits is set forth, in figures or words, a great deal of
technical matter, to which, if the witness’s attention had been directed,
he perhaps could not have qualified as to his actual knowledge of thosc
matters; but he could know, and perhaps did know, at the time the
maps were made, that they disclosed the truth, and perhaps it was for
this reason that the Crow Wing Iron Company never developed the
property.

We think, for the purposes for which the exhibits were introduced
in this case, viz., that they showed the true condition of this property
in 1911 sufficiently to demonstrate that exhibit “D” was so fictitious
and misleading in its entirety, and so misrepresents the actual con-
dition of the property, that it could have been prepared and used for
no real purpose other than to deceive as to the true condition which ac-
tnally existed in the property at the time it was drawn and used in the
sale of the stock.

There is testimony showing that the drilling records could not be in-
terpreted by a mining engineer as showing, or proving up, a body of
manganese or manganiferous iron ore to exist on the property. We
think there was no reversible error in admitting in evidence thesc
exhibits.

Error No. 24 is based upon the reception in evidence of exhibit “E,”
the report made on this property to the plaintiff and his associates, hy
J. F. Wolfe, mining engineer.

The objection to the exhibit is that it is based upon information
which Wolfe received from the exploration records “A,” “B,” and “C.”
and upon conditions which existed in 1911, and not those which ex-
isted in 1917.

The report discloses that the property was explored prior to 1914
by the Crow Wing Iron Company, of which one Vibert was an officer.
At that time, forty-seven holes were drilled on the property, by Oster-
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burg Diamond Drilling Company; that complete samples were kept
and stored in ten sample boxes, which samples were taken every 5 feet
in ore material.

Analyses were made for iron, phosphorous, and manganese. Special
‘analysis was made of hard ore cores obtained in diamond drilling.
Records were made and kept in quite good form of this exploration
work ; that the property was taken over in 1917 by the Bessemer Iron
Mining Company, and that seven additional holes were drilled; that
a shaft was started near the last hole drilled; that some of the earlier
holes, ncar the shaft location, showed some fairly high manganese
analysis; that there is enough of manganese showing in drill holes 27
and 34, perhaps, to induce one so inclined to take a gambling chance
on finding more or better ore in mine workings than is indicated by
the drillings.

After a full discussion of many other matters, the report concludes
that no body of manganifcrous ore of high emough grade and large
enough quantity is indicated by the drill records and sample., as exist-
ing on this property ; that the body of sandy, washable iron ore which
does exist is too narrow, too intermixed with rock, and too irregular to
be mined by open pit methods; that the commercial analysis shows
that the washable ore cannot be mined, concentrated, and sold at a
profit, if mined by underground methods.

We think there was no error in admitting the exhibit. The report
was made by a mining engineer of unquestioned ability and experience.
It was based upon knowledge acquired from exploration records of
the Crow Wing Iron Company, and other information acquired by
Wolfe, as shown by his report.

The same sources of information existed during the time Kaeding
was engaged in his negotiations with reference to this property. He
must have known of what had been done, and of the exploration records,
or, at least, he must be held to have known; and where the issues are
such as are in this case, we think there was sufficient foundation laid,
taking into consideration the exploration records and the expert and
scientific knowledge of Wolfe, to warrant the reception in evidence of
this exhibit.

Error is based upon the admission of exhibit “F.” This is several
sheets of blueprints, containing figures purporting to show a chemical
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analysis of ore coming from this property. The blueprints were made
by Wolfe. The chemical analysis was not made by Wolfe. He does
show that the cores and cuttings were examined in the office of Vibert,
an officer of the Crow Wing Iron Company. He had made a thorough
examination in that regard, in making the report, exhibit “E.” He
had very extensive knowledge in mining engineering and geology; and
considering his wide knowledge of the subject, and his sources of in-
formation, and his examination of the exploration records of the Crow
Wing Iron Company, we think there was sufficient foundation shown
relative to exhibit “F”” to permit its introduction as some evidence
bearing upon the issues involved here.

The court did not err in denying defendant’s motion to instruct the
jury to return a verdict in favor of defendant. We cannot further con-
tinue a seriatim discussion of the errors of law assigned.

We have examined every error of law assigned, based upon the ex-
clusion or reception of evidence and rulings on motions, and hold that
the court committed no prejudicial, reversible error in any of its rul-
ings.

We have remaining only the question of the eleven assignments of
error, based on the insufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict.
In disposing of those, it will be only necessary to determine if there is
any substantial evidence to support the verdict. If there is, then the
judgment must be affirmed.

The principal representations have been sct forth in the early part
of this opinion, important among which are those to the effect that
the corporation was owner of a valuable iron mine, which contained
manganese in paying quantities, which had becn tested and was of the
valuo of from $16 to $28 per ton, and that the mine contained as good
manganese ore, and in as paying quantities, as the Fay mine.

The evidence shows, quite conclusively, that these representations
were not the mere expressions of opinion, but, on the contrary, it
clearly appears that such expressions and statements were made as cx-
pressions of fact. The representations and expressions were made at
Bettincau to plaintiff and his associates there, and to him and some of
them at Minneapolis, at the time of the signing of the final contract.

The representations made to all who were present on those occasions
47 N. D.—3.
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must be deemed to be of the same effect as to each present, as it made
to each individually.

We cannot set forth all the evidence, showing what those representa-
tions and statements were, but will set forth sufficient, so as to leave
no doubt as to the character and meaning of them.

Ferguson testified: ‘“He said he [Kaeding] had all the dope right
here, and he showed us a map, similar to this [exhibit ‘A’-‘D’].
There is a vein of ore, he says, which runs according to the drill
map here [the light streak]. He showed us that some places they had
not gone through it and had gone as far as 340 or 350 feet. With ref-
crence to samples ‘B’ and ‘C’ [samples of ore from Fay mine] he said
ong, little piece, something like that, and he said if he could get very
much of that, we would all be millionaires in a short time. He said
it was rare stuff, and only found in small pockets. The other, he said,
was just fair ore, if I remember right, and it runs from 8 to 10 to 28
or 30 dollars a ton, according to the amount of manganese it contained.
He said this particular mine contained large quantities of ore, similar
to that large exhibit [exhibit ‘C’]; he said the drilling showed it. He
said the property had been drilled and it showed up good.”

This witness further testified: “I think the map showed that some
place here [referring to the statement of defendant that in one place
they had drilled to a depth of 350 feet and had not gone through the
ore], this drill hole here, No. 24, shows 345 feet, and he said they had
not reached the bottom of it then.”

Part of the plaintiff Andrieux’s testimony, in substance, is as fol-
lows: Defendant told him he had been looking over the property since
June, 1917; that when he first went to the property, there was no
road to it; that he had bought 170,000 shares for $30,000, which gave
him and his partner, Michael, a controlling interest; that the shaft
had been started, and that drillings had been done to explore the prop-
erty, to see what was there. He got to the ore and showed us the drill-
ings. He got a map (exhibit “A”), showing the drillings, that he said
showed a body of iron ore there on that property; showed us where the
body of solid ore was, a body of manganese ore, so many feet wide and
so many feet deep. The blue print was supposed to show it. He men-
tioned at one place, they had gone as far as 350 feet and they had not
gone through the ore, had not been able to reach the bottom of the ore.
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He pointed out this part here (indicating on map) showing over a half
mile of ore field, and he pointed to this color (light color) as showing
manganese ; that he said that the holes, as represented in the map, had
been drilled and that every 5 feet of it, when they were drilling it, had
been tested, and had proven of good quality of manganese ore; then ex-
plained to us what manganese ore was. (Witness identifying exhibits
“B” and “C,” specimens of ore.) He said that (exhibit “B”) was
almost pure manganese, the best manganese that could be found,
almost pure; that exhibit “C” was more common, and this was the
thing that was found on this property, and was selling from 16 to 28
dollars a ton, and that these exhibits came from the Fay mine, which
was about a mile and a half from this property; that the ore in that
mine was mostly like exhibit “C,” but that now and then finding some
of this exhibit “B” in pockets; and that the Bessemer Iron Mining
Company was on the same vein as the Fay mine, and was of the same
quality of ore.

There is abundance of testimony that the statements and representa-
tions made by defendant were made as his own positive statement of
facts, made as though it were something he knew himself. The plain-
tiff testified that those statements were not made to him as upon the
authority of Rydberg.

In Minneapolis, at the time the contract was consummated, and prior
to the signing thereof, at a meeting at which defendant, Rydberg,
Vikan, Moline, and the plaintiff were present, plaintiff asked Rydberg,
“Wasn’t this property that we looked over drilled by the Crow Wing
Iron Company ¥’ And he said, “Yes;” and plaintiff said, “Do you
have the drilling records and test records of those explorations taken
by those people ?” and he said “Yes, we have.” Plaintiff asked Ryd-
lerg where the drillings and test records of the Crow Wing Iron Com-
pany were, and he said at Duluth; and Kaeding says, “Yes, we have
all that. They are all right; everything is all right.” Plaintiff testi-
fied that he relied upon all the representations and statements.

It is entirely unnecessary to pursue an analysis of the testimony in
this regard any further. It is abundant to show the representations by
defendant, as claimed by plaintiff. The evidence is quite sufficient to
show that such representations were false, and that plaintiff was de-
ceived thereby. His damages are conclusively proven.

.
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Of course, plaintift’s testimony, and that of his witnesses, is gen-
crally contradicted by the defendant’s evidence, but the credibility of
the witnesses, and the weight to be given their testimony, is exclusively
for the jury. Its verdict is in favor of plaintiff, and that verdict is
amply sustained by substantial evidence.

1t is defendant’s contention that plaintiff had full opportunity to
examine the property before he made the final contract. It is true
that plaintiff and several of his associates did go down to the property
for the purpose of examining it, but, on account of the character of the
property, and the fact that the shaft was only down a few feet, there
was nothing for plaintiff to see but a hole in the ground. The condition
of the property at that time, as shown to exist by the testimony, was
such that plaintiff could not, however searching his examination might
be, discover anything which would aid him in determining the value of
the property. In these circumstances, he waived none of his rights
by his visit of inspection to the property.

We do not find it necessary to discuss the representation relative to
the amount of debts to the Bessemer Iron Mining Company at the time
of the sale of the stock.

It is clear the judgment is right and should be affirmed. It is
affirmed. Respondent is entitled to his costs and disbursements on
appeal.

Rosinson, J., concurs.
Bronson, J. T concur in result.

BrrpzeLy, J. (concurring). I concur in an affirmance of the judg-
ment. Upon an examination of the record T am of the opinion that
therc are but two questions presented which merit the serious consid-
cration of the court. The first arizes upon the rulings of the court
admitting exhibits A, B, (!, E, and T. The first three exhibits con-
sist of test sheets purporting to show the resnlts of a test of the prop-
erty in question made long prior to the transactions involved in this
case, and F and I consist of a report of an engincer employed by the

Jessemer Tron Mining Company and its accompanying blueprints.
Exhibits E and T are based partly upon the test sheets A, B, and C.
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The second is the question as to whether or not the plaintiff pleaded
and proved the proper measure of damages.

The appellant complains of the admission of the exhibits on the
ground that they contain data, such as chemical aualyses, without any
authentication or proof that the data relate to the samples of ore taken
from this property, and without any proof that the analyses are cor-
reet. Also that they purport, as a whole, to show the condition of the
property as of a time long prior to the transaction in question, and
are at best merely extrajudicial statements of unknown persons who
compiled the exhibits, and are inadmissible for these reasons. The
record discloses that the objections made did not clearly present to the
trial court for ruling the question of their inadmissibility on all the
grounds now urged. In fact, when exhibits A, B, and C were offered,
the attorney for the defendant specifically stated that he had no objec-
tion. Later, however, he asked permission to interpose an objection;
which he did, and the court overruled it as the exhibits had already
been admitted. Furthermore, exhibits A, BB, and C were identified by
Vibert as records of exploration of the Crow Wing Iron Company,
showing locations of drilling holes and chemical analyses of drillings
and cuttings. 1t thereforc appears that there was extant, and appar-
ently available to the defendant, these sources of information relative
to the condition of the property. The exhibits would thus have a bear-
ing in determining whetber his statements had been recklessly made.
The engineer Wolfe, who made exhibit E, accompanied by exhibit F,
did not rely exclusively upon the exhibits A, B, and C, as he made a
personal examination of the property. He testified as an expert, and
there was neither a general objection made to the admission of his re-
port, exhibit E, nor was it objected to on the ground of its being hear-
-ay. It was simply objccted to on the ground that there was no proper
identification of the matters that the witness took into consideration in
preparing his report, and that it was based upon conditions developed
in 1911. The evidence shows that the samples which Wolfe took inte
consideration had been carefully kept and were identified, and there is
no reason to suppose that the mineral character of the property had
changed between 1911 and 1917. A further consideration will suffice
to demonstrate that any error there might have been in connection with
the admission of these exhibits is negligible, for the evidence shows
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that the property had been abandoned as a mining property. The
plaintiffs were induced to huy stock solely on account of the supposed
utility of this property for mining purposes. The defendant is shown
to have substantially admitted, in certain proceedings in Minnesota
concerning the liquidation of the corporation, that the property was
worthless for mining purposes; so, conceding that the exhibits con-
tained hearsay statements that should not have been permitted to go to
the jury, the error was nonprejudicial. Furthermore, the exhibits
were important as bearing upon the weight of Wolfe’s deposition, and
were proper to be considercd for that purpose; and it would have been
difficult, if not impossible, to have segregated the hearsay statcments
from the remainder.

On the question of damages I am satisfied that no error was com-
mitted. In the complaint plaintiff alleged the false representations,
and then charged that the “mine was worthless and the corporate stock
of said corporation worthless;” and in alleging his damage stated that
he had been “damaged in the sum of $3,000, paid by him for said cor-
porate stock.” The complaint would have been good without setting
forth the particulars in which the plaintiff was damaged. Guild v.
More, 32 N. D. 432, 155 N. W. 41. The evidence showed that the
property was worthless as a mining property and that the stock was
worthless. In the light of this proof it is immaterial whether the
action of the plaintiff be considered as founded upon a rescission of the
contract or upon its affirmance, as in either event he would be entitled
to recover the amount paid. Furthermore, no objection was made by
the defendant that the complaint did not allege the proper measure of
damages, nor was the question raised during the trial upon the admis-
sion of evidence. The defendant, therefore, cannot predicate error on
the measure of damages adopted at the trial.

CarisTianson, Ch. J., concurs.
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FRED E. DAVIS, Respondent, v. HENRY JOERKE, Gottfried
Heinrich, and Emmanuel Schock, Appellants.

(181 N. W. 68.)

Evidence — evidence admissible to determine capacity in which uncertain
contract was signed.

1. Where the form of a simple written contract for the payment of money
is such that it may reasonably be said to be uncertain as to the capacity in
which the individuals signing it intended to be bound, the name of their prin-
cipal being disclosed in the body of the contract, evidence of the transaction is
admissible for the purpose of determining whether or not it is the individual
obligation of the persons signing or the obligation of the disclosed principal.

Corporations — where uncertain whether parties acted as principals or
as agents, direction of verdict for plaintiff held error.
2. Where there is an issue as to the capacity in which the defendants con-
tracted,—that is, as to whether they contracted as principals or as agents for
a disclosed principal; where the written contract is ambiguous, and there is
conflicting testimony as to the prior negotiations and agreements relating to
the capacity in which it was intended the defendants should be bound, it was
error for the trial court to direct a verdict in favor of the plaintiff.

Corporations — when corporation not liable for promoters’ contract stated.

3. Where individuals interested in the project of forming a corporation

entered into a contract with a stock subscription solicitor to pay him a commis-

sion for work done, the corporation, when formed, in the absence of assumption

in some manner, is not liable on the contract, and neither are the individuals
liable if the solicitor relied exclusively upon the corporation to be formed.

Corporations — directors of proposed corporation may be liable to promotecr,
if organization abandoned.

4. If directors in a proposed corporation purport to bind it, in advance of

its organization, for legitimate promotion expenses, and undertake to answer

for the assumption of the obligation by the corporation, they may be held

Nore—The rule is well established, in the absence of ratification or adoption, or
charter or statutory provision imposing liability, that a corporation is not boun'_i
by contracts made by its promoters before its creation, as will be seen by an
examination of the notes in 26 L.R.A. 5144, and 50 L.R.A.(N.S.) 979, on liability
of corporation on contracts of promoters.

On personal liability of one who signs a contract by adding words indicating
representative capacity, to his signature, see note in 42 L.R.A.(N.8.) 1.
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personally liable if they abandon the plan of organization and prevent the
assumption of the obligation by the corporation.

Opinion filed December 16, 1920.

Appeal from the District Court of McIntosh County, Honorable F.
J. Graham, Judge.
Reversed and remanded.

Statement of facts by Bienzerr, J. This is an action upon a con-
tract to pay money as follows:

Agreement.
Ashley, N. D. Oct. 14, 1919.
We the undersigned president and members of the board of directors
of the Farmers’ State Bank, Ashley, N. D., do hereby promise and agree
to pay F. M. Mitchell of Bismarck, N. D., the sum of $1,610 for value
received, without interest at the time the sccretary of state of North
Dakota issues a charter to the above-named bank.
Henry Joerke, President.
Gottfricd Heinrich, Director.
Emmanuel Schock, Director,
Witnesses:
W. L. Johnson,
Fred E. Davis.

The contract was assigned by Mitchell to the plaintiff. ‘At the con-
clusion of the trial, a verdict was directed in favor of the plaintiff for
the full amount stipulated to be paid, upon which judgment was
entered. The appeal is from the judgment and from an order denying
the defendants’ motion for a new trial.

The facts are as follows: During the late summer or carly fall 1919,
F. M. Mitchell interested a number of persons in the vicinity of Ash-
ley, North Dakota, in a project of starting a new bank. He spent about
a month in the locality, and personally solicited various individuals te
purchase stock. In this work he was assisted somewhat by some of the
defendants in the action. Where successful in his solicitations, he
took notes for the amount subscribed. The plan was to organize a bank
of $20,000 capital to be known as the Farmers’ State Bank. The stock
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was to be sold at 125 so that the bank might start with a surplus and un-
divided profits account of $3,000, and it is claimed that $10 per share
was to be allowed Mitchell as compensation for his work and organiza-
tion expenses. Mitchell had an arrangement with the plaintiff, Davis,
whereby part of the organization work was to be done by the latter. A
meeting of the subscribers was held in Ashley on October 11, 1919, at
which the defendants and two others were elected directors of the pro-
posed bank. There is testimony to the effect that at the time the organi-
zation meeting was held some 161 shares had been subseribed, and that
an arrangement was made whereby the remaining shares would be al-
lotted to those who had subscribed previously, with the understanding,
however, that nothing should be allowed to Mitchell upon such shares
for organization expenses. At the time of this meeting the subscribers’
notes were in the possession of Mitchell. Omn October 14th, Davis and
Mitchell called the defendants together apparently for the purpose of
making a settlement of Mitchell’s claim for commissions or promotion
expenses. They went to the Ashley State Bank, where Davis dictated,
and the three defendants signed, the contract upon which this suit is
brought. A receipt showing the change in the possession of the securities
amounting to $25,000, held for the stock of the new bank, was also
drawn up and signed by the Ashley State Bank, by Johnson, its cashier.
This receipt was also assigned by Mitchell to the plaintiff. The receipt,
omitting the list of notes and securities reads as follows:

Ashley, N. D., Oct. 14, 1919.
Received of F. M. Mitchell, Bismarck, N. D., the following
described notes to be held in escrow until such time as a charter has
been issued to the Farmers’ State Bank, Ashley, N. D., at which time
the undersigned bank agrees to pay to said F. M. Mitchell the sum of
$1,610 after first deducting the sum of $50 which is to be paid to Gott.
Heinrich, and the further sum of $40 which is to be paid to E. M.
Schock. . . .
Ashley State Bank, Ashley, N. D.
By W. L. Johnson,
Cashier.
For a valuable consideration I hereby assign and transfer to Fred E.
Davis the within instrument and the instruments thereto attached.
F. M. Mitchell.
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Articles of incorporation of the Farmers’ State Bank were executed
by the defendants and two others on October 13, 1919. These were
accompanied by a certificate of the defendant Joerke as president of
the Farmers’ State Bank that the capital stock of $20,000 was paid up.
~ The articles were filed with the secretary of state on October 16, 1919,
and the charter was delivered on the same day to the state examiner,
but the preliminary examination required by law was never made and
the charter was never delivered by the examiner to the Farmers’ State
Bank. On November 13th a special meeting of the board of directors
was held, at which all of the defendants were present, and it was re-
solved to employ counsel for the purpose of bringing or defending a
suit founded on the claim in question; also to notify the Ashley State
Bank not to deliver to Mitchell or his assigns the subscription notes,
“ag this bank has repudiated the claim of said F. M. Mitchell and his
assigns against the bank for the said claim against the bank for the sale
of said stock.”

At a meeting of the dircctors on December 2d, a resolution was car-
ried to the effect that the president be given authority to reject any and
all applications for stock in the bank, and that the president and
cashier be given authority to meet the dircctors of the First National
Bank of Ashley to bargain for the purchase of that bank, and be
authorized to close the deal for such purchase at not more than $55,000.
At later meetings of the directors and stockholders, arrangements were
made to increase the subscriptions to the stock of the Farmers’ State
Bank in order to purchase the First National Bank. At the stockhold- |
crs’ meeting a motion was unanimously carried that meetings held by
and under the name of the Farmers’ State Bank be discontinued, and
that the meetings and transactions be by virtue of the stockholders of
the First National Bank of Ashley; and it was declared that the organ-
ization would be known thereafter as the First National Bank of Ash-
ley. The notes were practically all paid and the proceeds deposited in
the Ashley State Bank in the name of Henry Joerke, agent, and in his
testimony he states that he was agent for the Farmers’ State Bank.

J. H. Wishek and W. S. Lauder, for appellants.
Here was on the face of the note itself, in view of ‘he way it was
drawn and signed, ample to put anyone upon inquiry as to the charac-
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ter in which the defendants signed. Chatham Nat. Bank v. Gardner,
31 Pa. Super. Ct. 135; Crandall v. Rollins (N. Y.) 82 N. Y. Supp.
317; Wilmoth v. Hensel, 151 Pa. 200, 31 Am. St. Rep. 738.

Where one signs as agent of another, the prima facie presumption is
that the words are merely descriptio personm, and therefore that the
one 8o signing is personally bound; yet it may be shown in an action
between the original parties that it was not so intended. 3 R. C. L. p.
1095.

Where an offer of proof is made and overruled it will be presumed
that the party making the offer could, if permitted, have proved the
facts as set forth in the offer. Larson v. Russell (N. D.) 176 N. W.
1013 ; Dickinson v. Burke, 8 N. D. 118. ‘

Cameron & Wattam, for respondents.

One who executed a promissory note or other instrument in the name
of another, assuming to be his agent but having in fact no authority
for that purpose, is himself bound as principal. Palmer v. Stephan, 1
Denio, 471; Dusenbury v. Ellis, 3 Johns. Cas. 70, 2 Am. Dec. 144;
Rawlings v. Robson, 70 Ga. 595 ; Byars v. Dorres, 20 Mo. 284 ; Weare
v. Grove, 44 N. H. 196; Roberts v. Button, 14 Vt. 195.

Where a note recited, “We, as trustees” of a named church “for
and in behalf of the church, promise to pay,” and was signed by per-
sons designated as the trustees of such church, and the note failed to
bind the church because of absence of authority to execute it, the
trustees signing are personally held on the note. Dennison v. Austin,
15 Wis. 335 ; Brunswick-Balke Collender Co. v. Boutell, 45 Minn. 21.

Tt is not competent for the signer of a note not made in the name of
his principal to show that anyone other than himself was liable thereon.
National German American Bank v. Lang, 2 N. D. 66.

Parol evidence is not admissible to vary the terms of a written agree-
ment. Johnson v. Kindred State Bank, 12 N. D. 336; Harney v.
Wirtz, 30 N. D. 292; Reitsch v. McCarty, 35 N. D. 555.

BirpzerL, J. (after stating the facts). The principal error com-
plained of is the direction of the verdict in favor of the plaintiff. Tt
is contended that the contract in question is ambiguous in that it does
not clearly appear whether the defendants who are sued individually,
undertook an individual liability or whether they undertook to bind
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the corporation of which they were respectively president and direc-
tors. At the trial considerable evidence was admitted going to estab-
lish the understanding of the parties in this respect. It was the con-
tention of both Davis and Mitchell, who were present at the mcet-
ing when the instrument was drafted and signed, that they were inter-
csted only in obtaining the signatures of the defendants rather than
the whole board of directors, because they knew the defendants to be
personally responsible. They testified that they stated this in sub-
stance to the parties at the time the contract was signed. On the other
hand, the testimony offered by the defendants is that a majority of the
directors were requested to sign so as to bind the corporation by their
action in so far as the corporation could be hound at the time; that they
expressly refused to become personally liable for the obligation; that
all parties understood that the corporation had not yet come into exist-
ence; and that the only liability intended to be evidenced by the con-
tract was whatever liability the corporation would later assume. After
admitting this testimony the trial court apparently came to the con-
clusion that it was inadmissible; that the contract on its face was not
ambiguous and bound the defendants personally; and for that reason
the verdict was directed. We are of the opinion, however, that the
instrument is ambiguous in that it docs not clearly appear whether the
defendants undertook to bind the corporation or whether they eon-
tracted personally, using the description of president and dircctor as
mere words descriptio persone. The authorities dealing with this
question are in almost hopeless confusion, and we neced not discuss
them at length. On one hand there are those which emphasize the
parol-evidence rule to the point of attempting to extract from every
written instrument the intention of the parties without aid from ex-
trinsic sources. In the extreme applications of this rule by such
authorities, contracts are construed as binding the individuals in in-
stances where it is quite apparent that the actual intention of the par-
ties was to bind a corporate principal. This, because the individuals
had not adopted a form of signature showing beyond question the in-
tent to sign the corporate name. On the other hand, there are those
authorities which relax the parol evidence rule upon the slightest show-
ing of uncertainty in the capacity in which those whose names appear
are intended to be bound.  Tn view of these conflicting authorities, par-
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ticularly with respect to negotiable instruments, a provision was in-
serted in the Negotiable Instruments Law in the hope of measurably
reconciling the conflict and producing more uniformity in the deci-
sions. The section reads:

“Where the instrument contains or a person adds to his signature
words indicating that he signs for or on behalf of a principal, or in a
representative capacity, he is not liable on the instrument if he was
duly authorized ; but the mere addition of words describing him as an
agent, or as filling a representative character, without disclosing his
principal, does not exempt him from personal liability.” TUnder this
statute the form of the signature is not necessarily controlling, but the
contenis of the instrument are to be examined to ascertain whether the
agent appears to sign for or on behalf of a principal, and if he has used
words describing himself as an agent without disclosing the principal
he is not exempt from personal liability, but if he does disclose the
principal, as in the instant case, he is not liable provided it was the
intention to bind the principal. If there can fairly and reasonably be
said to be uncertainty regarding this intention it is open to inquiry
aliunde to render it certain, ecspecially between immediate parties.
The parol-evidence rule has received even a more rigid construction in
the case of negotiable instruments than as applied to contracts gen-
erally. As this statute evidences a tendency to relax the rule somewhat
with regard to negotiable instruments, there is all the more reason
why it should not be rigidly applied to ordinary contracts. This is the
tendeney of the recent authorities. 3 R. C. L. p. 1095, says:

“It i= better in these cases, however, to hold that the signature is
ambiguious, and henee subjeet to explanation by extrinsic evidence ; and
this is the modern view. According to sounder doctrine while, where
one signs as an agent of another, the prima facie presumption is that
the words are merely descriptio personw, and thercfore that the one so
signing is personally bound; yet it may be shown in an action between
the original parties that it was not so intended, and that, in fact, the
rcal intention was to bind the principal whose name was disclosed in
the signature of his agent, or who was well known by the payvee to be
the real party to be bound.” Megowan v. Peterson, 173 N. Y. 1, 65
N. E. 738. Sec also note and cases cited therein, 42 L.R.A.(N.S.) 6.

We arc of the opinion that there is sufficient uncertainty manifested
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on the face of the contract in question to admit evidence of the transac-
tion, and that the conflicting testimony relating to the capacity in which
the defendants’ contracted formed a question of fact, which should have
been submitted to the jury.

In view of the fact that there must be a new trial of the actxon,
another question is presented upon the record that requires considera-
tion. Upon such conflicting evidence as appeared upon the former
trial, the jury will be called upon to determine what the true contract
of the parties was, and even if it should be determined that the defend-
ants contracted in a representative capacity, the further question
would arise as to whether or not they might still be personally liable,
in view of the subsequent transactions. As appears in the statement
of facts above, those purporting to act for the bank repudiated this
obligation as the obligation of the bank, and the stockholders have
apparently determined not to complete the organization of the Farmers’
State Bank, but to continue their organization as the First National
Bank of Ashley. The question as to whether or not the defendants
rendered themselves personally liable to the plaintiff by reason of their
participation in this action of the stockholders, is one that is not free of
difficulty.

It is elementary that a corporation is not liable upon contracts en-
tered into by its promoters. Before the corporation comes into exist-
ence, it can have no representative, and no one is capable of acting
for it. Those interested in promoting it may nevertheless contem-
plate the ultimate payment by the corporation of the legitimate promo-
tion expenses. But the corporation docs not become liable for such
cxpenses, in the absence of a subsequent undertaking in some form.
In the instant case the record is in an uncertain state as to the capacity
in which Mitchell was originally employed, if he was employed, to
undertake the work he did. It does not appcar, however, that he was
cmployed by these defendants acting together. Neither does it appear
as to whether or not he was acting as the agent of each individual
stockholder for the purpose of bringing about the organization of the
corporation. Possibly he had an understanding with the individual
stockholders for his commission, and that it was included in the sub-
scription notes. If such were the arrangement these defendants, act-
ing with knowledge thereof, in attempting to put their own notes be-
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yond the reach of Mitchell and abandoning the original plan of incor-
poration, would each be severably liable to him or his assignee for the
amount so included in the notes given by them. The record leaves it
equally uncertain as to whether there was any undertaking, express or
implied, that these defendants would co-operate to secure the comple-
tion of the organization. These are questions of fact upon which the
ultimate liability of the defendants in this action may depend. They
must be determined by the jury from all the evidence bearing upon the
transaction. The jury, in short, must find what the actual contract
relations were.

While some of the evidence has either a direct or circumstantial
bearing upon some of these questions, we are satisfied that it cannot be
said that they must be resolved one way or the other as a matter of
law; for reasonable inferences either way may be drawn from some of
the testimony. If, for instance, the jury should believe the version of
the transaction as testified to by the defendants, they might also rea-
sonably infer that Mitchell was content to take the risk of the ultimate
organization of the corporation; knowing, as he must have known, the
desire of the stockholders, whom he had personally solicited. In this
event, it could not be said that there was any undertaking on the part
of the defendants to secure the organization of the corporation, nor
would they be precluded from exercising their judgment, in conjunc-
tion with the other stockholders, as to the desirability of completing
the organization. Queen City Furniture & Carpet Co. v. Crawford,
127 Mo. 356, 30 S. W. 163; Landman v. Entwistle, 21 L. J. Exch.
N. S. 208, 7 Exch. 632, 155 Eng. Reprint, 1101 ; Fletcher, Cyec. Corp.
§ 158. On the other hand, if these partics undertook to answer for the
assumption of this obligation by the corporation and then joined in a
plan to frustrate its assumption, they have, of course, repudiated their
obligation, and are liable. Roberts Mfg. Co. v. Schlick, 62 Minn. 332,
64 N. W. 826; 14 C. J. § 313.

It follows from what has been said that the judgment and order ap-
pealed from must be reversed and the cause remanded for a new trial.
It is so ordered.

Curistianson, Ch. J., and Broxnsow, and Grace, JJ., concur.
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Rosinson, J. (concurring specially.) The plaintiff sues on a docu-
~ ment as follows:

Ashley, N. D., Oct. 14, 1919,
We, the undersigned, president and members of the board of direc-

tors of the Farmers’ State Bank, Ashley, N. D., do hereby promise and
agree to pay F. M. Mitchell of Bismarck, N. D., the sum of $1,610
for value received, without interest at the time the sccretary of state
of North Dakota issues a charter to the above-named bank.

Henry Joerke, President.

Gottfried Heinrich, Director.

Emmanuel Schock, Director.
Witnesses :

E. E. Johnson,
Fred E. Davis.

On the back of the document it is written:

I hereby assign and transfer to Fred E. Davis all my rights, title,
and interest in and to the within instrument.

F. M. Mitchell.

Defendants, by answer, aver that the document was made without
any consideration. The court directed a verdict for the plaintiff, and
appellants aver that there is no evidence to sustain the verdict.

As it appears, Mr. Mitchell was a promoter, and to secure the organ-
ization of a bank at Ashlev, North Dakota, he did induce several per-
sons to subscribe for bank stock to the amount of $16,100, agreeing to
pay for the samne $125 a share, and that each subseription included 10
per cent for his promotion. e did preside at an organization meeting
held by the stock subseribers, and he then delivered the subseription
papers to defendant Joerke, who had been elected president of the
bank. Davis was present, dictated the document in question and the
assignment to himself. There is no claim that cither of the defend-
ants employed Mr. Mitchell or Davis to secure the subscriptions or to
promote the organization of the bank. No services were rendered for
or at the request of either of the defendants. The subscription papers
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were not payable to Joerke or to either of the defendants. The papers
were turned over to the Ashley State Bank to be held in escrow until
the issue of a charter to the Farmers’ Statc Bank of Ashley. The
bank gave a receipt for the same to F. M. Mitchell, and at the foot of
the receipt there is written an assignment to Fred E. Davis. On the
argument of the case counsel for plaintiff was requested to point out
evidence of any consideration for the promise to pay $1,610. They -
failed to do so. An examination of the record does not disclose any
consideration for the promise. The defendants did not hire either
Mitchell or Davis to perform any services, either for themselves or the
bank, or for any person. When defendants signed the paper they were
under no legal obligation to pay anything to Mitchell or to Davis.
Hence the promise to pay is void for want of consideration. Further-
more, it appears that in obtaining the promise to pay and in obtaining
the subscriptions, Mitchell and Davis were dealing with illiterate Ger-
mans, who did not understand the promotion game or the English
language. Otherwise, it is hard to conccive how any one of the sub-
scribers would have promised to pay 10 per cent for inducing him to
subscribe for stock when he was perfectly free to subscribe without
paying any commission. As the pleadings and the proof wholly fail
to show any cause of action against the defendants, the judgment
should be reversed and new trial granted.

H. C. WERNER, Respondent, v. UNITED STATES RAILWAY
ADMINISTRATION, W. D. Hines, Director General, and
Northern Pacific Railway .Company, a Corporation, Appellants.

(181 N. W, 80.)
Carriers — carrier of stock may be liable ex delicto notwithstanding ship-

ping contract.
In an action against a carrier for negligence in caring for cattle shipped

Norm.—On the ql?és?ion of statutory duties of carriers of live stock with refer-
wee to care of stock during transportation, see note in 44 L.R.A. 449.
On duty of carrier of live stock as to feeding and watering stock during trans-
portation, see notes in 43 Am. St. Rep. 446. and 63 Am. St. Rep. 554.
47 N. D.—4.
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over its line, where the defense was based upon the terms of a shipping contra:t,
it is held:

1. The carrier may be held liable for negligence in an action ex delicto; and
there is no failure of proof where there is sufficient evidence to prove breach
of duty, and no substantial ground of error where it appears that the carrier
was given the benefit of the valid and applicable limitations in the shipping
contract.

Carriers — carrier not relieved of reasonable care as to feeding, etc., by
contract provision for attendants.

2. Where the carrier knows that no one is accompanying live stock carried
by it, it owes the duty of exercising reasonable care in feeding, watering, and
shipping; and it is not relieved of that duty by a provision in the contract {o
the effect that the shipper will furnish one or more attendants.

Carriers — instruction held not to warrant finding for plaintiff on ground
of delay alone.

3. For reasons stated in the opinion, it is held that the instructions to the
jury were proper.

Appeal and error — judgment reduced by value of animal not dying as
result of negligence.

4. The evidence being insufficient to show that the death of an animal o.-
curring a few days after arrival at destination, due to disease, was proximately
caused by any negligence of the carrier, and the value of the animal being
established by undisputed evidence, the judgment is reduced to the extent of
the value of the animal, and, as so reduced, affirmed.

Opinion filed December 24, 1920. Rehearing denied January 11, 1821.

‘Appeal from judgment of District Court of Sixth Judicial Distriet,
Lembke, J. '

Affirmed.

Young, Conmy, & Young, for appellants.

In computing delay of shipment of cattle, due consnderatlon must
be made of the stops for feed, water, and rest. St. Louis, I. M. & S.
R. Co. v. Carlisle (Tex. Civ. App.) 78 S. W. 553 ; Hickey v. Chicago,
B. & Q. R. Co. (Mo. App.) 160 S. W. 24; Johnston v. Chicago, B. &
Q. R. Co. (Neb.) 97 N. W. 482; Cleve v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co.
(Neb.) 108 N. W. 982.

Even where delay is shown, it must be proved by the plaintiff that
the delay was negligent, to sustain a recovery. Clark v. St. Joseph &
G. I. R. Co. (Mo. App.) 122 S. W. 318; McDowell v. Missouri P. R.
Co. (Mo. App.) 152 S. W. 435,
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It must be shown, either directly or inferentially, that the delay re-
sulted from negligence of the carrier, or its agents and servants. Pat-
terron v. Chicago & A. R. Co. (Mo. App.) 182 S. W. 1034; Teller &
Smith v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. (Iowa) 120 N. W. 672; Cunning-

“It is better in these cases, however, to hold that the signature is
ham v. Chicago & A. R. Co. (Mo. App.) 182 S. W. 1033.

Where plaintiff alleges negligence in one respect, he cannot recover
on proof of negligence in another respect. Ausk v. Great Northern R.
Co. 10 N. D. 215; Texas & P. R. Co. v. Stephens, 86 S. W. 933 ; Gulf,
C.&S. F. R. Co. v. Wiegert (Tex.) 87 S. W. 191; Texas & P. R. Co.
v. Stewart, 43 Tex. Civ. App. 399, 96 S. W. 106 ; Moore v. Baltimore
&£ 0. R Co. (Va.) 48 S. E. 887; Ecton v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co.
(Mo.) 102 S. W. 575 ; Barr v. Quincy, O. & K. C. R. Co. 138 Mo. App.
471,120 S. W. 111 ; Burgher v. Wabash R. Co. 139 Mo. App. 62, 120
S. W. 673.

“Where the only cause of action declared on in the petition was de-
fendant railroad’s negligent failure to tramsport plaintiff’s hogs
promptly, plaintiff could not recover for injuries to the hogs while be-
ing loaded or unloaded by defendant’s employees.” Hunter v. St.
Louis Southwestern R. Co. (Mo. App.) 126 S. W. 254; Stone v. Chi-
cago, R. I. & P. R. Co. 149 Iowa, 240, 128 N. W. 354; Willson v.
Northern P. R. Co. 111 Minn. 370, 127 N. W. 4.

“A carrier, not being an insurer of a shipment of live stock against
increased risks necessary to the transportation, is not liable, unless neg-
ligent, for injuries to the stock.” Ft. Worth & D. C. R. Co. v. Berry
(Tex.) 170 S. W. 125; St. Louis Southwestern R. Co. v. Lewellen
Bros. (Tex.) 116 S. W. 116.

“It is generally not commendable practice, in stating the issues to
the jury, to quote at large from the pleadings. It may, and frequently
does, mislead or prejudice the jury, so as to require a reversal.” Spiel-
er v. Lincoln Traction Co. (Neb.) 171 N. W. 896; Hanna v. Hanna,
(Neb.) 176 N. W. 732; Swanson v. Allen (Iowa) 79 N. W. 1382;
Baker v. Drake (Tex.) 185 S. W. 879; Branthover v. Monarch Elev.
Co. 33 N. D. 454; Elliott Supply Co. v. Green, 35 N. D. 641; Nupen
v. Pearce, 235 Fed. 497; Iverson v. Look (S. D.) 143 N. W. 332.

John Moses and Nuchols & Kelsch, for respondent. '

A motion for a directed verdict in favor of the defendants for dismis-
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sal of the action is properly denicd where the evidence is conflicting,
and where there is some evidence from which the jury can make a find-
ing of damages in favor of the plaintiff. Swallow v. First State Bank,
35 N. D. 608; Ilorton v. Wright, 36 N. D. 622.

If the verdict of the jury is supported by substantial evidence then
it must stand. Acton v. Fargo Street R. Co. 20 N. D. 444 and
authority cited.

Birpzery, J. On December 3, 1917, Slimmer & Thomas, a com-
mission firm doing business at South St. Paul, Minnesota, dclivered
to the defendant for shipment to the plaintiff at Hazen, North Dakota,
forty-one head of young steers. The car containing the cattle left St.
Paul at 11:05 p. ar. on Dceecmber 3d, and arrived at Hazen at 3:15
r. M., December 7th. When they arrived at Hazen some of them had
their horns broken, one had a broken leg, which necessitated killing it,
and it is claimed that the whole of them had been damaged considerably
in transit by reason of rough handling and lack of food and water. A
few days after their arrival one died of pnecumonia or fever. This
action is to recover damages for the alleged negligence of the defend-
ants in the carc and shipment of the stock. In the trial court the plain-
tiff recovered a verdict of $277, with intcrest and costs, making a judg-
- ment of $352.91.

The ncgligence upon which the action is predicated is alleged in the
complaint as follows:

“That the said carload of steers so loaded in the cars at South St.
Paul, Minnesota, on the 3d day of December, 1917, arrived at Hazcen,
North Dakota, on the Tth day of Deccmber, 1917, being a running
time of approximately ninety-six hours.

“That the said defendant, its agents and servants, not regarding its
duty regarding the carriage of the said forty-one head of steers, so care-
lessly and negligently carried and transported the said forty-one head
of steers, that the same were unreasonably delayed in transit, and suf-
fered greatly from privations and exposure.

“That the said running time of ninety-six hours is altogether unrea-
sonable, and that the said defendant was negligent in not shipping the
carload of stock with greater despatch.

“That the said carload of stock was not properly taken care of in
transit, and that on arrival at Hazen, North Dakota, it was found that
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one steer had a leg broken in the car, and was sold by the agent of the
Northern Pacific Railway Company at Hazen, North Dakota, to the
plaintifi’s damage in the sum of $41.”

It is first claimed by the appellant that the action should have been
dismissed for failure of proof on defendant’s motion made during the
trial. It is said that the action is based on the common-law liability
of the carrier, and the evidence showed that the cattle were shipped
under a contract containing certain valid limitations of the common-
law liability. From this it is argued that any liability of the carrier
arising out of this shipment is governed by the contract, and action
cannot be maintained without showing a breach of the contract. The
case of Cooke v. Northern P. R. Co. 22 N. D. 272, 133 N. W. 308, is
relied upon. This contention is without merit. The defendants in
their answer pleaded the contract; and the court, in instructing the
jury, gave the defendants the full benefit of its provisions by casting
upon the plaintiff the burden of proving negligence as well as compli-
ance with the terms of the contract generally. The fact that a special
contract is cntered into covering a shipment does not altogether elim-
inate the duty which the carrier owes as custodian and shipper, for the
violation of which it may be answerable in an action ex delicto. See
Morrell v. Northern P. R. Co. 46 N. D. 535, 179 N. W. 922.

The appellant relies upon the fourth stipulation in the shipping con-
tract, which recites that the shipper will unload, care for, and feed the
stock while in possession of the carrier, and furnish one or more attend-
ants, and that in case of failure so to do the carrier, in performing
these duties, shall be considered as representing the shipper. Upon the
back of this contract, in the space where the agent is required to insert
the names of persons entitled to transportation under its provisions, it
bears a stamp as follows: “No attendant in charge.” This indicates
that the carrier knew at the time the contract was made that no one
was to accompany the stock, and where the carrier has this knowledge
the provision of the contract above referred to does not relieve it of
liability for negligence in caring for the stock. Morrell v. Northern
P. R. Co. supra; Sailer v. United States Administration, post, 126,
181 N. W. 57.

The testimony shows that the cattle were in good shipping condition
when delivered to the carrier, and that they were in poor condition
uwpon arrival at destination. The defendant’s agent at Hazen and
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other witnesses noted their poor condition. The evidence leaves little
doubt as to the cause of the damage, and the jury’s verdict is conclu-
sive. The record shows that the cattle were fed but a small quantity
of hay en route. While there is little or no evidence to show unrea-
sonable delay in transit, the evidence does show that the cattle were on
the road four days, and it also shows that an insufficient quantity of
feed was given them to properly sustain strength for that period. The
time covered by the transportation may be considered important only
as .bearing upon the care that they had during that period. It is
claimed that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that they
might render a verdict for the plaintiff if they found from the evidence
that the cattle were delayed. That is not the instruction. The in-
struction was that if the cattle were “delayed and were improperly fed
for an unreasonable time,” the plaintiff might recover, etc. Under
this instruction the jury would not have been warranted in finding a
verdict for the plaintiff on the ground of delay alone. We are of the
opinion that it is a proper instruction under the evidence.

The evidence, however, fails to show that the death of the steer that
died of pneumonia or fever a few days after arriving was proximately
caused by any negligence of the carrier. We are of the opinion that
the evidence is insufficient to sustain the verdict in so far as it in-
cludes recovery for this animal. The evidence shows the value of this
steer to have been $41. See Wright v. Minneapolis, St. P. & S. Ste.
M. R. Co. 12 N. D. 159, 96 N. W. 324. The judgment must be re-
duced in this amount.

It appears that the judgment appealed from is against both the
Director General and the railroad company. When the contract was
made and the shipment moved the railroad was not under Federal con-
trol. Thus, there appears to be no reason why judgment should be
cntered against the railroad administration. Therefore, the judgment
against the United States Railroad Administration, Walker D. Hines,
Director General, is reversed, and the judgment against the Northern
Pacific Railway Company, reduced in the sum of $41, as above indi-
cated, is affirmed. Neither party will recover costs on this appeal.

Curistianson, Ch. J., and Rosinsor, and Bronson, JJ., concur.

Grace, J. T concur in the result.
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MIKE WENZEL, Respondent, . THOMAS TAYLOR, Appellant.
(180 N. W. 807.)

Public lands — postdated lease cannot retroactively grant term already
expired conveying title to crop previously harvested.
A lease cannot by the device of postdating be made to operate retroactively,
80 as to grant a term that has already expired, and convey title to a crop of
hay that had been previously harvested and stacked upon the land.

Opinion filed December 24, 1920. Rehearing denied January 11, 1921.

Appeal from the District Court of Stutsman County, Nuessle, J.

Affirmed.

C. 8. Buck, for appellant.

When the lease explicitly provides that the landlord may treat it as
void on a breach of a condition by the tenant, his election to do so dis-
solves the relation between him and his tenant. Miller v. Havens, 16
N. W. 865; Schwocbel v. Fugina, 14 N. D. 375; 24 Cyec. 1347, 1350.

S. E. Ellsworth, for respondent.

An estate in real property other than an estate at will or for a term
not exceeding one year can be transferred only by operation of law
or by an instrument in writing, subscribed by the party disposing of
the same or by his agent thereunto authorized by writing. Comp.
Laws 1913, § 5511; Fuller v. Board of University & School Lands, 21
N. D. 216, 129 N. W. 1029.

The state, by failing to act upon a ground of forfeiture which, if it
existed, should have been known in 1918, by demanding of plaintiff
the rental for the ensuing year, and by giving him to believe until
February, 1920, that it did not expect to exercise an option to canccl
the lease, has conclusively waived its right to such forfeiture. Fergu-
son v. Taleott, 7 N. D. 182, 73 N. W. 205; Timmins v. Russell, 13 N.
D. 487, 99 N. W. 48; Cughan v. Larson, 13 N. D. 373, 100 N. W.
1088 ; Hanson v. Hanson Hardware Co. 23 N. D. 169, 135 N. W. 766.

The relation of landlord and tenant may be defined in general terms
a3 that which arises from a contract by which one person occupies the
property of another with his permission and in subordination to his
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rights. 24 Cyc. 876, 882; Mpls. Iron Store Co. v. Branum, 36 N. D.
385, 162 N. W. 543.

A tenant in undisturbed possession of the demised premises is
estopped to deny the title of his landlord, as such title of the landlord
existed in him at the time of the creation or the inception of the ten-
ancy, before a surrender of possession to the landlord. 24 Cye. 935-
937; Ricketson v. Gallighan (Wis.) 62 N. W. 87; Pappe v. Traut
(Okla.) 41 Pac. 397; Bartlett v. Robinson (Neb.) 72 N. W. 1053;
Lindsay v. R. Co. (Minn.) 13 N. W. 191.

Where the grass was severed from the realty before the confirma-
tion of the sale, the title to the grass did not pass to the purchaser of
the land. Yeazel v. White (Neb.) 58 N. W. 1020; Phillips v. Key-
saw (Okla.) 56 Pac. 695.

Biepzery, J. ‘Action to enjoin the defendant from removing hay
from the northwest quarter of section 32, township 139, range 66, in
Stutsman county. The plaintiff claimed one half the hay harvested
upon the land in 1919. The judgment of the lower court found him
to be the owner of one third thereof or 40 tons, and enjoined the de-
fendant from interfering with plaintiff’s ownership, possession, and
right of removal. From this judgment defendant appeals.

In April, 1918, the plaintiff, Wenzel, was the successful bidder at
a public sale of school-land rentals in Stutsman county, and there was
demised to him for the term of five years the northwest quarter of sec-
tion 32, township 139, range 66, for the sum of $85, payable in annual
instalments of $17 each. A lease evidencing this demise was duly
executed. The plaintiff paid the first year’s rental in cash at about
the time the lease was issued, and subsequently, in the month of July,
1918, entered into an oral agrcement with one Greenstein, by the
terms of which Greenstein was permitted to go upon the land and cut
and remove the hay for the season of 1918 for a consideration of $55
paid to Wenzel. Later that year the plaintiff received a notice from
the office of the state land commissioner dated December 1st, notify-
ing him that the 1919 rental would be due on January 1, 1919, and
unless paid by January 31st, the lease would be canceled without fur-
ther notice. Plaintiff paid the rental on January 15, 1919, obtaining
the receipt of the county treasurer of Stutsman county. Under date
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of February 1, 1919, the plaintiff was notified by the public land com-
missioner that at a meeting of the board of university and school lands,
acld on January 30th, a rcsolution had been passed canccling the
lease. In July of 1919 the defendant solicited of the plaintiff the
privilege of taking off the hay crop for that year upon shares, and after
some negotiations an oral agreement was made between the plaintiff
and defendant whereby the latter was to harvest the crop and put it
in stacks, receiving two thirds as his own. The defendant harvested
the erop and stacked it upon the land, and during the following winter,
about February 1, 1920, when the plaintiff claimed his portion, the
defendant set up a claim bascd upon a subsequent lease from the
board of university and school lands.

It seems that complaint was made during the summer of 1918 to
the board that the plaintiff had sublet the land during 1918 in viola-
tion of a provision of the school-land lease, and that it was on account
of this complaint that the lease was later canceled by the board. As a
result of some correspondence initiated by the public land commis-
sioner with this defendant in November, 1919, and some time after
the hay had been harvested, the defendant was apprised that Wenzel's
lease had been canceled, and that he should not pay anyone for a lease
on the land except the county treasurer. As a result of this corre-
spondence the defendant paid $75 to the county treasurer, and later,
about January 28, 1920, the defendant’s payment was accepted by the
land commissioner as rental for 1919 and a lcase was made to him.
The defendant claims that this lease was retroactive on the hay crop
of 1919, and gave him title to the whole of it. The plaintiff at all
times resisted the action of the board of university and school lands in
canceling his lease without notice after he had paid the rental for the
vear 1919.

We think the case is clear, and it requires little or no discussion to
demonstrate the correctness of the judgment appcaled from. The de-
fendant put up the hay under a contract with the plaintiff which ree-
ognized the plaintiff’s right to one third of it. The plaintiff had paid
his rent for that year in response to a notice sent out after complaint
had been made to the board giving the facts which were later made the
basis of the eancelation. The lease to the defendant, which was not
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made until January, 1920, could not demise a term that had already
expired so as to convey title to the crop that had been harvested and

firmed.

MAGDALENA FUCHS, Respondent, . ROBERT LEHMAN,
Appellant.

(181 N. W. 85.)

Vendor and purchaser — evidence held to sustain judgment for price paid
on reconveyance to vendor.

1. In an action to recover $3,000, which sum, it is alleged, the defendant
agreed to pay for the interest of the plaintiff and her husband in certain real
and personal property which they transferred to him, it is held that the trial
court did not err in refusing to order a new trial on the ground of insufficiency
of the evidence to justify the verdict.

Appeal and error — vendor and purchaser — error in excluding evidence
held cured by subsequent admission; motive for retransfer held ad-
missible in action for payments made.

2. For reasons stated in the opinion it is Mheld that certain rulings on the
admission and exclusion of evidence were nonprejudicial.

Trial — instructions must be construed as a whole. )
3. The court’s instructions must be considered and construed as a whole.
Trial — instruction that plaintiff must prove ‘‘justness’” of claim held
proper.
4. Certain instructions considered, and, for reasons stated in the opinion,
held to be nonprejudicial.

Opinion filed December 24, 1920.

Appeal from the District Court of Stark County, Hanley, J.

Defendant appeals from the judgment and from an order denying a
new trial.

Affirmed.

Simpson & Mackoff and B. M. Rigler, for appellant.

The court erred in sustaining plaintiff’s objection to the question
put to Samuel Fuchs by the defendant as to the reason why he gave

-
~

thus converted into personalty. The judgment appealed from is af- =

1
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the place back. The defendant had a right to ask this question for the
Y Purpose of laying a foundation for impeachment. 2 Elliott, § 971;
State v. Hazlett, 14 N. D. 490; Taugher v. N. P. R. Co. 21 N. D. 111,
Thos. H. Pugh and Otto Thress, for respondent.
If there is in the case substantial evidence on which the jury’s ver-
:dict may rest, the court will not disturb this verdict, although the
evidence may be conflicting. The rule is well settled in this state.
o™ \ontana Eastern R. Co. v. Lebeck, 32 N. D. 162, 155 N. W. 648;
Senn v. Steffan, 37 N. D. 491, 164 N. W. 102; Richel v. Sherman, 34
N. D. 298, 158 N. W. 266.

s The presiding judge saw the witnesses, heard the testimony, and is
€O in a position to judge as to the right of the jury to believe one side
= or the other, and, generally, in such cases, the ruling of the lower
= court will not be disturbed on appeal. Hager v. Clark, 35 N. D. 591,
kbe 161 N. W. 280; Blackorby v. Ginther, 34 N. D. 248, 158 N. W. 354;
© Wilker v. Laubscher (Towa) 162 N. W. 780; Tarczek v. C. & M. R.
> Co. (Wis.) 156 N. W. 473 ; Branthover v. Monarch Elev. Co. (N. D.)
= 173 N. W. 455,

The witness cannot properly be cross-examined as to statements ir-
relevant or collateral to the matter in issue, either with a view to
eliciting from him an admission of the variance or laying a foundation
for proof thereof. 7 Enec. Ev. 80.

CrristiansoN, Ch. J. Plaintiff brought this action to recover
$3,000, which she claims the defendant agreed to pay to her and to
Sam Fuchs, her husband, in consideration of certain property which
they conveyed to him. In her complaint she alleges the agreement on
the part of the defendant to make such payment, and the conveyance
by herself and her husband of the property for which such payment was
to be made. She further avers the assignment to her by the husband of
his cause of action.

The evidence shows that in May, 1919, the defendant sold to the
plaintiff and Sam Fuchs, her husband, a farm consisting of two quar-
ter sections of land, located near Richardton, in Stark county, in this
state, together with certain horses, cattle, and machinery on said farm.
One of the quarters was conveyed to the plaintiff, and the other to her
husband. There was paid to the defendant, $3,000 in cash,—$1,000

- = \
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to apply on the quarter section conveyed to the plaintiff and $2,000 to
apply on the quarter section conveyed to her husband. The balance
of the consideration was evidenced by twenty promissory notes, ag-
gregating $19,500. In June, 1919, negotiations were had between
the defendant and plaintiff’s husband which resulted in a reconveyance
by the plaintiff and her husband to the defendant of such lands, and
a resale and redelivery to the Jdefendant of the personal property.
It is undisputed that plaintiff and her husband, on or about June 25,
1919, executed, acknowledged, and delivered deeds conveying such real
property to the defendant; that he, on or about June 25, 1919, en-
tered into possession of the realty, and received into his possession the
personalty, and since that time has been, and now is, the owner of said
real and personal property.

It also appears from the evidence, that the defendant returned to the
plaintiff and her husband, the twenty promissory notes which they had
exccuted and delivered to the defendant at the time they purchased
the land and personal property from him. The sole question involved
in this action is whether the defendant, as a consideration for the re-
conveyance to him, agreed to pay back to the plaintiif and her husband
the $3,000 which he received at the time he sold and conveyed this
property to them. The plaintiff’s husband testified positively that this
was the agreement. The defendant, on the other hand, testified with
cqual positiveness, that the agreement was that he would surrender to
the plaintiff’s husband the twenty promissory notes, and that this was
the only consideration he was to pay for the reconvevance of the prop-
erty. Several witnesses were called (all such witnesses being relatives
of the parties to the controversy), who testified in regard to the ques-
tion at issue. Sam Fuchs was in some things corroborated by his wife,
the plaintiff; and in other things, by his brother, Chris. A greater
number of witnesses, however, testified, in favor of the defendant’s
version of the transaction. The jury returned a verdiet in favor of
the plaintiff for $3,000 and interest from June 25, 1919. The defend-
and moved for a new trial on the ground of errors of law oceurring at
the trial, and duly excepted to; insufliciency of the evidence to justify
the verdict ; excessive damages appcaring to have been given under the
inflnence of passion or prejudice: and newly discovered evidence. The



FUCHS v. LEHMAN 61

motion for a new trial was denied, and the defendant appealed from
the judgment and from the order denying a new trial.

The first and main contention of the appellant is that the evidence
is insufficient to justify the verdict. It is argued that the evidence
a3 adduced by the defendant was of greater probative force than that
adduced by the plaintiff; that defendant’s version was more reasonable
than plaintifP’s version, and also that defendant’s version was supported
by the testimony of a greater number of witnesses. This argument,
however, ignores the fundamental rule that in this case all questions
of fact were for the jury; and that it was for the jury to pass upon the
eredibility of witnesess and the weight to be given to their testimony.
The jury believed the plaintiff’s version of the transaction. This they
bad a right to do. It was for the jury to say what the truth was. They
determined that plaintiff’s version was the true one. The trial judge,
who saw and heard the witnesses, refused to disturb the verdict. In
determining whether the verdict should be sct aside on the ground of
insufficiency of the evidence, the trial court cxcrcised a diserctionary
power, and his ruling should not be interfered with unless this court
can say that he abused his discretion. Wo arc all agreed that no abuse
of discretion appears here.

The next contention of the appellant is that the trial court erred in
sustaining an objection to the following question propounded to
plaintif’s husband, while he was under cross-examination:

“Q. Now, on June 25th, the crops on the land were burned up,
weren't they, by the hot winds ?”’

It is wholly unnccessary to determine whether the ruling was or
was not erroneous, for the record discloses that the court subsequently
changed its ruling, and permitted testimony to be offered as to the
endition of the crops at the time the plaintiff and her husband made
conveyance to the defendant. Hence the error, if any, in the original
ruling was clearly cured.

It is next contended that the court erred in sustaining an objection
to the following question propounded to the plaintiff’s husband, Sam
Fuchs, while he was under eross-examination:

“Q. Didn’t you tell Val Brown there at that time that the reason that
vou gave the place back to Robert wa: because you thought it was too
much for vou to pay for it?”
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This question related to a certain conversation claimed to have taken
place between Sam Fuchs and Val Brown, on the latter’s farm, in
September, 1919. The record shows that on recross-examination de-
fendant’s counsel was permitted to go into the alleged conversation at
length. Sam Fuchs was then asked if he did not, in such conversation
at Val Brown’s place, some time in September, 1919, tell Brown that
before giving the place back to the defendant, he (Sam Fuchs) asked
the defendant for the $3,000, but that defendant refused to give it
back. Sam Fuchs answered that he had such conversation with and
made such statement to Val Brown before the deal was made, 1. e.,
before June 25, 1919, but denied that he had any such conversation
with him subsequent to that time. Val Brown was called as a wit-
ness for the defendant, and testified that Sam Fuchs was at his place
in September, 1919 ; and that at that time and place, Sam Fuchs said
to him (Brown) that before giving the place back to the defendant,
he (Fuchs) asked “Robert for his $3,000 he had paid him, and that
Robert refused to give it back to him.” The materiality of the question
to which the objection was sustained was certainly not apparent at the
time it was asked. As soon as it was disclosed to the court that the
statements claimed to have been made by Fuchs were material and
against his and the plaintiff’s interests, the court permitted the entire
conversation to be shown. No restrictions were placed upon the
examination of either Sam Fuchs or Val Brown, as to what was said
during the conversation after the materiality thereof became apparent.

Error is also assigned upon the ruling of the court in permitting the
following question to be propounded to plaintiff’s father, Wald:

“Q. Did you at any time between May 19, 1919, and June 25,
1919, threaten to take Sam’s wife away from him unless he gave up
the land to Lehman ¢’

In our opinion the assignment is wholly without merit. It was the
contention of the defendant—and several of his witnesses testified—
that at the time the negotiations between Sam Fuchs and the defendant
were had, on June 25, 1919, Sam Fuchs said that he would lose his
wife unless he gave up the land; that his father-in-law threatened to
and would take his (Fuchs’s) wife away from him if he kept, and re-
mained upon, the land. The defendant contended that this was one
of the main reasons why Sam Fuchs desired to turn the property back
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to the defendant. In these circumstances it was manifestly proper
for the plaintiff to prove that the condition, or motive, asserted by the
defendant, did not exist.

It is next contended that the court erred in instructing the jury thus:
“The plaintiff has brought this action and the burden of proof is upon
the plaintiff to show by a preponderance of the evidence the justness
of her claim before she can recover. That is the law in every civil
case, and that the party who maintains, who sets up and alleges the
fact, the burden of proof is upon them. A party coming into a court
of justice must satisfy the jury, by what is termed a fair preponder-
ance of the evidence, as to the justness of her claim.”

It is not apparent to us that the instruction is misleading even if
it is considered abstractly. The term “just” may apply to law as well
as ethics. In certain cases it denotes that which is right and fair ac-
cording to positive law. Funk & W. New Standard Dict. Justness
is defined by the Century Dictionary: 1. The quality or state of being
just, equitable, or right; conformity to truth or justice; lawfulness;
rightfulness; honorableness. 2. Conformity to fact or rule; correct-
ness; exactness; accuracy. It is elementary that instructions must be
considered as a whole. In this case the trial judge defined the term
preponderance of evidence with much care. He also instructed the
jury: “Unless the plaintiff has shown you throughout the entire case
the correctness of her story to such an extent that it outweighs the
proof of the defendant she cannot recover.” We find no reason for
believing that the defendant was prejudiced by the instruction com-
plained of.

The contention that the verdict was excessive is clearly untenable.
The plaintiff was either entitled to the verdict which was returned, or
nothing at all.

No claim is made in this court that the defendant was entitled to a
new trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence.

It follows from what has been said that the ]udgment and order must
be affirmed. It is so ordered.

Rominsoxr, Broxnson, and Bieozerr, JJ., concur.

Grack, J. (concurring specially). A consideration of the matters
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presented upon this appeal leads to the conclusion that the verdiet of
the jury is sustained by substantial evidence; that the court did not err
in any of its rulings regarding the reception or exclusion of evidence,
nor in its rulings upon objections.

It is clear the damages were not excessive, nor is there anything in
the record to indicate that the jury were influenced by passion or preju-
dice.

JACOB SALEWSKI, Appellant, v. MINNEAPOLIS, ST. PAUL,
& SAULT STE. MARIE RAILWAY COMPANY, a Corpora-
tion, Respondent.

(181 N. W. 72.)

Railroads — frightening horse by ordinary switching operations not action-
able.

1. A railroad company is not liable for injuries resulting from horses he-
coming frightened at a railroad crossing hy the sight of a locomotive engaged
in switching; and which locomotive was then moving in the usual and ordinary
manner, and was attended only by the noises incident to the usual and ordinary
operation of locomotive.

Railroads — findings held not to show negligence in frightening horse.

2. For reasons stated in the opinion, it is held that the jury, by their an-

swers in the special verdict, found that defendant was free from actionable
negligence.

Appeal and crror — error as to failure to instruct and to submit interroga-
torics as to contributory negligence held immaterial in view of verdict
of no anegligence.

3. In an action for personal injuries, errors predicated on failure to give re-
quested instructions and to submit requested interrogatories bearing on the
question of contributory negligence become immaterial where the special ver-
dict shows that the jury found the defendant not guilty of negligence.

"~ Nore—On liahilitiyﬁblf' railroad -com.pan).’ —operating trains or cars longitudinally
along public street for frightening horses by blowing off of steam or causing other
noise, see note in 49 L.R.A.(N.S.) 677.

On sufficiency of general allegations of railroad’s negligence by frightening horses,
see note in 59 L.R.A. 230.
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Appeal and error — discretion of court in denying ncw trial not disturbed.
4. For reasons stated in the opinion it is hAeld that the trial court did not err
in denying a new trial.

Opinion filed December 31, 1920. Rehearing denied January 18, 1921.

Appeal from the District Court of Stutsman County, Coffey, J.

Plaintiff appeals from the judgment and from an order denying a
new trial. ‘

Affirmed.

Knauf & Knauf, for appellant.

In submitting a case on special issues, it is necessary that all the
issues should be found by the jury, and the court should by its charge
explain the law upon any issue, where it is necessary for a thorough
understanding of the question by the jury. Merzbacker v. State, 36
S. W. 308; Baxter v. R. Co. 80 N. W. 644; Schrunk v. St. Joseph, 97
N W. 947,

The lower court should have given the instructions necessary to in-
form the jury as to the issues, rules for considering the testimony, the
burden of proof, and to make the jury clearly understand its duty.
L.N.A. & C. R. Co. v. Frawley, 9 N. E. 594; Mauch v. Hartford, 87
N. W1 816; Burns v. Co. 19 N. W. 380.

The issue should have been submitted directly, tersely, and in some
form. It was not. The failure was prejudicial and erroneous. Mc-
Gowan v. R. Co. 64 N. W. 891; Byington v. City, 88 N. W. 26; Doh-
man v. Ins. Co. 71 N. W. 69; Andrews v. R. Co. 71 N. W. 372;
Kreutzer v. R. Co. 40 N. W. 657; Klatt v. Lbr. Co. 66 N. W. 791.

The negligence of a third person contributing to the injury, which
would not have occurred but for the defendant’s negligence, cannot be
imputed to the plaintiff. Ouverson v. Grafton, 5 N. D. 281, 65 N. W.
676; Chambers v. R. Co. (N. D.) 163 N. W. 824; City v. Botzek, 94
C.C. A. 563, 169 Fed. 121; Union Pacific R. Co. v. Lapsley, 51 Fed.
174,2 C. C. A. 149, 152, 16 L.R.A. 800; Little v. ITackett, 116 U. S.
366, 29 L. ed. 652.

A special verdict should be limited to the case made by the pleadings,
-hould find all the facts proven under the issues, and should not embody
statements of conclusions of law or fact. A finding that one of the

parties has been guilty of negligence has often been held by this court
47 N. D—5.
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to be a mere statement of conclusion. Railway Co. v. Adams, 105 Ind.
151, 5 N. E. 187; Railway Co. v. Spencer, 98 Ind. 186 ; Railway Co.
v. Bush, 101 Ind. 582; Connor v. R. Co. 105 Ind. 62, 4 N. E. 411;
Railway Co. v. Balch, 105 Ind. 93, 4 N. E. 288; Railway Co. v. Fraw-
ley, 110 Ind. 18, 9 N. E. 594.

Judgment reversed with directions to grant a new trial. C. St. L.
& P. R. Co. v. Burger, 24 N. E. 981.

Lee Combs and S. E. Ellsworth (John L. Erdall and John E.
Palwmer, of counsel), for respondent.

“If the party fails to base or make the motion upon the basis author-
ized in the statute, he is held to have abandoned his motion for a new
trial upon the grounds declared.” King v. Hanson, 13 N. D. 85, 99
N. W. 1085. '

The whole system of new trial secms to bé based upon the theory
that certain proceedings must be taken by the party applying for such
new trial, and that, if these proceedings are omitted, his motion for
a new trial fails. White v. Sacramento County, 72 Cal. 475, 14 Pac.
87; Cooney v. Furlong, 66 Cal. 520, 6 Pac. 388.

No error can be predicated upon the ruling of the court in denying
the motion for a new trial, for the reason that, since no statement had
been settled and allowed, there was nothing before the court to support.
such motion. Simmons v. Bunnell, 101 Cal. 223, 35 Pae. 770;
Sulton v. Simmons, 100 Cal. 576, 35 Pac. 158; Keating v. Kennedy
(Cal.) 138 Pac. 118.

In a special verdict it is the duty of the jury to find the facts only

~while the trial judge determines their legal effect. 38 Cye. 1774;

Morrison v. Lee, 13 N. D. 591, 102 N. W. 223; Swallow v. First
State Bank, 35 N. D. 608, 161 N. W. 207; Russell v. Meyer, 7 N. D.
335, 75 N. W. 262 ; Guild v. More, 32 N. D. 474, 155 N. W. 44; Col-
lins v. Mineral Point & N. Y. R. Co. (Wis.) 117 N. W. 1014; Cooper
v. Ins. Co. (Wis.) 71 N. W. 606 ; Byington v. Merrill (Wis.) 88 N. W.
26.

“The purpose of a special verdict is to obtain separate findings on
material, controverted issues, and questions are properly refused which
submit to the jury every matter on which witnesses differ in the course
of the trial. Ward v. Chicago, M. & St. P. R. Co. (Wis.) 78 N. W.
442,
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A railroad company is not liable for injuries resulting from horses
becoming frightened on a highway, at the sight of its engines, or the
noiscs necessarily incident to the operation thereof. Walters v. Chi-
cago, M. & St. P. R. Co. (Wis.) 80 N. W. 451; Abbot v. Kalbus
(Wis.) 43 N. W. 367; Dotson v. Michigan C. R. Co. (Mich.) 153 N.
W. 10¢6.

A railroad company is not liable for injuries cansed by a team taking
fright at the ordinary operation of a train upon its road. Railroad
Co. v. Roberts (Neb.) 91 N. W. 707; Ilendricks v. Fremont, E. & M.
V.R. Co. (Neb.) 93 N. W. 141; Dewey v. Chicago, M. & St. P. R.
Co. 75 N. W. 75.

The law is well settled that a railway company is not liable for the
consequences of such noises on or in the vicinity of public streets, made
by its locomotives or trains, as are incident to the operation thereof.
Walters v. C. M. & St. P. R. Co. 104 Wis. 251, 80 N. W. 451; Dewey
v.C. M. & St. P. R. Co. 99 Wis. 457, 75 N. W. 74; Cahoon v. C. &
N. W. R. Co. 85 Wis. 572, 55 N. W. 900; Crowley v. Chicago, St. P.
M. & 0. R. Co. (Wis.) 99 N. W. 1017.

Where one person is driving with another for the mutual pleasure
of both, with opportunity to see and equal ability to appreciate the
danger, and is in fact looking out for herself, but makes no effort to
avoid the danger, such person is chargeable with the want of care
which results in injury. Bush v. Union P. R. Co. (Kan.) 64 Pac.
624; Willfong v. Omaha & St. L. R. Co. (Iowa) 90 N. W. 358,

CrristiansoN, Ch. J. In this action, the plaintiff seeks to recover
damages for the death of his wife, which he alleges was occasioned by
the negligence of the defendant. It is averred in the complaint, and
the evidence shows, that the plaintif’s wife, Tina Salewski, on June
27, 1917, was riding in a buggy which was being drawn by a single
horse along Fourth avenue, in the village of Courtenay. The horse was
being driven by a niece of the deceased. As they were about to cross
the railroad tracks of the defendant in that village, the horse became
frichtened at a locomotive, so that it suddenly turned and threw the
plaintiff’s wife from the buggy and caused her serious injuries, from
which injurics, it is alleged, that she died about two and one-half years
later. The specific charge of negligence in the complaint is that the
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defendant had permitted sheds, buildings, and coal sheds to be con-
structed adjacent to and adjoining the railway track on the west side
of Fourth avenue, in said village of Courtenay, “so that it was impos-
sible for the said Tina Salewski or the said 1lannah Bartkowski to see
the north railway track lying immediately to the right and on the west-
crly side of said Fourth avenue, which said track crosses the said
Fourth avenue in an easterly and westerly direction; and that owing
to the aforesaid premises and the aforesaid conditions, all of which
were negligently permitted, kept, and maintained by the said defend-
ant and its tenants, and by reason of the said railway track being
negligently permitted to be built and maintained immediately adjacent
to and within 4 feet of said buildings, and as the said Hannah Bartkow- -
ski and Tina Salewski were riding along in a buggy drawn by said
liorse, in a southerly direction toward, and were about to enter upon
and cross the said railway tracks aforesaid, and on the northerly side
thercof, suddenly and without warning and with great negligence and
without ringing any bell, and without blowing any whistle, and with-
out giving any sign or signal, and without keeping or maintaining any
zate at said crossing, and without keeping any flagman or having anyv
flagman or switchman thercat, the agents of the said defendant com-
pany ncgligently, suddenly, and withont warning whatsoever, carelessly
and negligently pushed and moved its cars and engine with great speed
and without any noise or warning, down upon the said avenue and
crossing from a westerly direction, on said sidetrack and house track
immediately adjacent to the said buildings, shed, and lumberyard, and
suddenly and mnegligently scared the horse hitched to and drawing the
said buggy in which the said Tina Salewski was riding, so that the
horse suddenly turned and threw the said Tina Salewski from the said
buggy, greatly and permanently injuring her shoulder, arm, back, and
abdomen, nerves and spine, and causcd her great pain and injuries and
suffering, all through the necgligence and want of proper and ordinary
care on the part of the defendant, in its building and permitting the
said buildings, sheds, lumber, and material to be placed and piled so
close to its track and the said Fourth avenue, in said village of Courte-
nay, and its sudden pushing and shoving of said cars and engine be-
longing to said defendant with great neglicence and without warning
to the said Tina Salewski or said TTannah Dartkowski, and by reason
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of its failure to give some warning sign of the approach of its engine
and cars upon said railway track and crossing, and by reason of its
failure to properly protect and guard pedestrians and travelers upon
said highway, street, and avenue, from injury by its engine and cars.”
The defendant by its answer placed in issue all the material allegations
of the complaint, except the allegations rclating to the corporate capac-
ity of and the ownership by the defendant of the railroad in question.
The answer also averred affirmatively that the injuries of the deceased,
if any, were occasioned by her own negligence and by the negligence of
the person who was driving the horse.

At the close of the testimony, a rcquest was made for a special ver-
dict. The court submitted the case accordingly to the jury for a special
verdict upon twenty-five questions. No general verdict was returned.
The court gave instructions to the jury wherein it defined the terms,
“‘negligence,” ‘“approximate cause,” and “contributory ncgligence.”

The questions and answers embodied in the special verdict are as
follows:

Question 1: Was the Minneapolis, St. Paul, & Sault Ste. Marice
Railway Company, a corporation, organized and doing a general rail-
way business of North Dakota in 1917, and was said company on the
27th day of June, 1917, opcrating a local freight train and doing
switching in the village of Courtenay and across Fourth Avenue?

Answer: Yes.

Question 2: On the said 27th dayv of June, 1917. were Hanunah
Bartkowski and Tina Salcwski riding in a bugey, drawn by a single
horse on Fourth avenue, in Courtenay, North Dakota, and approaching
the crossing of said railway company on said Fourth avenue?

Answer: Yes.

Question 3: Did said railway company have three separate tracks
running through the village of Clourtenay, across Fourth avenue, on the
27th day of June, 1917, and was the north track of said railway com-
pany known as the house track?

Answer: Yes.

Question 4: On the 27th day of June, 1917, in the village of
Courtenay, on Fourth avenue, north of the house track of said railway
eompany, did the horse attached to said buggy become frightened,
and did an aceident oeccur?
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Answer: Yes.

Question 5: If you answer the above question “Yes” then I will
ask you at what distance on Fourth avenue, north of the crossing on
the house track, did the horse become frightened and the accident take
place ?

Answer: Thirty-five feet.

Question 6: Did Tina Salewski sustain injuries by reason of any
accident, at or about that time and place?

Answer: Yes.

Question 7: At the time of such accident, if any occurred, was the
said railway company’s engine and train, approaching Fourth avenue
at the crossing of the railroad on the house track?

Answer: Yes.

Question 8: At what rate of speed was said engine and train ap-
proaching and coming upon said crossing?

Answer: Six miles an hour.

Question 9: Was the bell being rung or the whistle blown?

Answer: Yes.

Question 10: At the time said engine was approaching the cross-
ing, did one of the train crew, one Louis Larson, appear on the said
railway crossing of Fourth avenue, warning Tina Salewski and Ilannah
Bartkowski to stop in the street north of said crossing?

Answer: No.

Question 11: Did said Louis Larson go north across said tracks,
in front of the emgine, cntering upon Fourth avenue, warning Tina
Salewski and Hannah Bartkowski of danger?

Answer: Yes.

Question 12: Did Tina Salewski and Ilaunah at the time they
were driving down Fourth avenue approaching said house track look
east and west for approaching trains?

Answer: Yes.

Question 13: What fencing, wood, or brick, if -anyv, were there on
the cast of the coal shed and the intersection of Fourth avenue and
the house track?

Answer: Part of old fence, one pile of brick, one pile of wood.

Question 14: Did Tina Salewski see, or could she hy looking have
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seen, the engine approach said crossing prior to the time the accident
happened ?

Answer: No.

Question 15: Did the coal sheds, fencing wood, or brick, if any
there were, prevent Tina Salewski and Hannah Bartkowski from see-
ing the engine approach ?

Answer: Yes.

Question 16: Could said Tina Salewski and Hannah Bartkowski,
by the exercise of reasonable and ordinary care, have seen or heard the
engine approaching, and have stopped their horse and prevented the
accident ?

Answer: No.

Question 17: Was said railway company negligent at this time and
place in handling and operating its railway engine and train?

Answer: Yes.

Question 18: If you answer the foregoing question “Yes,” then
was such negligence the proximate cause of the injury which said Tina
Salewski received ? :

Answer: Yes.

Question 19: Was Tina Salewski herself negligent in her manner
of dmving towards said railway engine and crossing or by failing to
look and listen for the train?

Answer: Yes.

Question 20: If you answer the foregoing question “Yes,” then
did such negligence contribute to her own mJury?

Answer: Yes.

Question 21: Was the injury the result of a pure accident for which
o one was to blame?

Answer: Yes.

Question 22: What is the reasonable value of the medical services
in taking care of and treating said Tina Salewski?

Answer: TFifteen hundred dollars.

Question 23: Did Tina Salewski die on the 19th day of October,
19192

Answer: Yes.

Question 24: Was the injury received by her, if any, on the 27th
day of June, 1917, the proximate cause of her death ?
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Answer: Yes.

Question 25: What is the value of the household services of Tina
Salewski, of which Jacob Salewski has been deprived by reason of
her death?

Answer: Fifty dollars a month.

Upon such special verdict, the trial court entered a judgment in
favor of the defendant. Thereafter, plaintiff moved for a new trial
upon the grounds of errors of law occurring at the trial; failure of the
cvidence to justify the answers to questions 19, 20, and 21; and refusal
to submit certain requested interrogatories and to give certain re-
quested instructions. The trial court made an order denying a new
trial, and the plaintiff has appecaled from the judgment and from the
order denying his new trial.

The respondent contends that the procecdings upon the motion for
a new trial were fatally defective; and that in contemplation of law
no motion for a new trial was ever made. It seems that the trial court
entertained somewhat similar views, for in his memorandum opinion
denying the motion for a new trial he said: “I thercfore deny the
motion for a new trial upon the ground that proper steps have not been
taken . . . to bring the errors assigned to the attention of the court
in the manner provided by statute, for review.”

The trial court did not, however, rest its decision upon this ground
alone. He further said: “TIt is clear from the special verdict that
the jury deliberately intended to find that the plaintiff was gnilty of
contributory negligence, in this action, and to defeat the plaintiff's
right of recovery, and in this respeet I am in full accord with the find-
ing and determination of the jury. Whatever discretion I have to
exereise in this case is exercised against granting a new trial, upon the
ground that I believe the plaintiff is not entitled to a recovery in this
action, upon the evidence submitted to the jury.”

We do not find it necessary to determine whether the trial court was
correct or incorrect in its views as to the procedural questions, for we
are entirely satisfied that the order denving a new trial should be af-
firmed on its merits.

There was square conflict in the evidence as to what distance from
the railroad track the accident occurred. The plaintiff’s witness ITan-
nah Bartkowski testified that the accident occurred some 8 or 10 feet
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from the crossing. Other witnesses who testified for plaintiff placed
the distance at from 15 to 20 feet. The witnesses who testified for the
defendant claimed that the distance was considerably greater. The
jury found (in answer to the 5th interrogatory) that the accident oc-
curred 35 feet from the crossing.

There was also a square conflict in the evidence as to whether the
bell on the locomotive was being rung at the time of the accident, and
shortly prior thereto. There were many witnesses who testified on
the part of the defendant that it was being rung, and some testified on
the part of plaintiff that they did not hear it; and that they would have
heard it if it was being rung. There was absolutely no evidence to the
effect that the whistle was blown at any time while switching was being
done; and there is positive testimony to the effect that the whistle
was not blown at the time of the accident or shortly prior thereto. In
view of the evidence there can be no room for doubt but that the jury,
in their answer to the ninth interrogatory, must have found that the
bell was being rung as testified to by defendant’s witnesses.

The ninth interrogatory really contained two questions:

(a) Was the bell rung?

(b) Was the whistle blown ?

As a general rule, a question for a special verdict should not he
framed in the alternative or disjunctive. It should be plain, single,
and dircet. A violation of this rule may introduce into the verdict an
clement of uncertainty. Thus if in this case the defendant had con-
tended that the locomotive gave signal of its approach to the crossing
in question, both by blowing the whistle and by ringing the bell, and
the plaintiff had contended that neither signal was given, then of
course it might have been possible that some of the jurors might have
found that the bell was being rung, but that the whistle was not blown,
while others might have found that the whistle was blown, but the bell
was not being rung. But that is not the condition here. In this case
there was absolutely no evidence and no contention that the whistle was
blown as the locomotive approached the crossing. Whatever evidence
there was on this question was all to the contrary. If the question had
heen divided into two parts, the jurors, as reasonable men, could not
possibly have said that the whistle was blown. The great preponder-
ance of the evidence, howover, was to the cffect that the bell was being
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rung; and there can be no room for doubt but that is what the jury
found, and intended to find, in their answer to the ninth interrogation.

The evidence adduced on the part of the defendant was to the effect
that one of the brakemen on the train, one Louis Larson, was stationed
at the crossing while the switching was going on. The evidence ad-
duced by the plaintiff was to the contrary. Larson testified: “I stopped
in here somewhere (indicating on a certain map) between the passing
track and the house track. To the east of the center of the avenue,
I saw a bay horse driving up the road. Driving towards me from the
north on Fourth avenue. There were two women in the rig. I stood
on the crossing for the purpose of protecting it, while the train was
working. That was part of my duty.

Q. What did you do, if anything, while flagging the crossing there,
when you saw that train start to move over the crossing east?

A. T held up my hand like this [indicating] for them to stop, be-
cause I seen they were getting too close to make the crossing. . . .

Q. What did you do after holding up your hand?

A. T stood there for a minute.

Q. A second or two, you mean?

A. Yes, and the engine came up to the crossing, a little closer, and
I saw the horse start to turn, and I ran over ahead of the engine.

Q. You ran over where?

A. To the north side.

It will be noted that the court submitted two questions relating to
the warning claimed to have been given by Larson, viz., questions 10
and 11. A number of witnesses testified with reference to whether
such warning was given and as to where Larson was at the time it was
given. One witness testified that Larson made two attempts to stop
the approaching rig. Apparently the court was of the opinion that the
evidence required the submission of two separate questions upon this
phase of the case. The jury answered the first one in the negative and
the sccond one in the affirmative. It will be noted that the affirmative
answer to the 11th interrozatory is in accord with the testimony of the
witness Larson. The tenth interrogatory asked the jury if “at the time
said engine was approaching the crossing, did . . . one Louis
T.arson, appéar on the said railway crossing of Fourth avenue, warning
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Tina Salewski and Hannah Bartkowski to stop in the strcet north of
said crossing?” The jury could not well have answered this question
in the affirmative if they believed the testimony of Larson; for accord-
ing to Larson’s testimony he did not come forth into view from a
distance or from a place or state of concealment (Funk & W. New
Standard Dict.) “at the time said engine was approaching the cross-
ing; ’ but was then, and had for some time been, stationed at a certain
point between the passing track and the house track. Nor according to
his testimony did he give any directions to the two women as to where
they should stop. He merely gave them the usual signal with his
hand, warning them of the approaching train. We see no rcason for
holding that the answers to the two interrogatories are inconsistent.
Intelligent men would not have been likely to have answered the 11th
interrogatory in the affirmative, if they had believed that Larson was
not in fact stationed at the crossing, and had not in fact given the warn-
ing he claimed to have given, and gone over the track ahead of the
approaching locomotive as he testified that he did.

Hence, we have this situation established by the findings of the jury.
The plaintiff and the deccased came driving from the north towards
the railroad crossing. An engine of the defendant, which was ringing
a bell, approached the crossing at the rate of 6 miles per hour; a brake-
man signaled them by holding up his hand; the horse became frightened
at the engine, and started to turn, with the result that the deceased fell
out of the buggy and was injured. This occurred 35 feet away from
the track. In connection with these findings it is permissive to con-
sider the facts which are uncontroverted. Swallow v. First State Bank,
53 N. D. 608, 616, 161 N. . 207. There is no dispute as to how the
accident oecurred. There is no claim that the engine collided with the
horse and buggy. The claim is, and the evidence shows, that the horse
became frightened at the engine, and started to turn towards the east;
that the driver, Hannah Bartkowski, dropped the reins and jumped
out; that the buggy was not overturned, but that it was tilted, and the
deceased fell out. The driver, Hannah Bartkowski, when called as a
witness for the plaintiff, testified: I went up to the Piper-Howe Lum-
ber Company, “and got some trimming for the house, and then T turned
around and went back south again; didn’t go faster than a slow trot,

and there was a man driving in front of me on a lumber wagon, well,
’
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a little ways ahead, and I was driving just the slow trot, looking west
as far as I could look and east, and a couple of times looked straight
ahead, and I couldn’t see or hear anything, and all at once that farmer
waved at me in front of me. and I stopped the horse just immediately
the train came by, and the horse got scared and turned towards the
cast and I jumped out, and my aunt was thrown out.”

There is no contention that the engine made any undue noise, or that
there was anything unusual about it or its operation whatsoever.

It is essential that railroads be operated. And “as a general rule the
principle is uncontroverted that a railroad company is not liable for
the frightening of animals, where such a result ensues from the ordinary
use, movement, or situation of its cars, locomotives, or trains. This
proposition, of course, implies that it has a lawful right to make all
such noises as are necessarily connected with the proper transaction of
its business, such as the blowing of a whistle by a locomotive engine,
or the emission of stcam, where the engine is propelled by it, and such
act is a necessary incident to its use. The general rule applies whether
the frightening occurs at a railroad crossing or on an adjoining high-
way, as, generally speaking, the duty of kecping a lookout and of giving
warning is limited to the track and public crossing. Necessarily the
duty of a railroad company towards the drivers of horses on adjoinine
highways must be limited in its scope to harmonize it with other duties
imposed by the rules of the statutory and the common law., Trains
must be run on schedule and at high speed, crossing signals must be
wiven, and it is the duty of an engineer to keep a lookout for crossings.
All the perils occasioned to the wayside traveler by noises and sights
necessarily produced in running trains in the country on schedule arve
things that the traveler must guard against, not perils that the opera-
tors of trains must watch for and prevent.  So, no liability attaches
where injury results to a horse from becoming frightened by the giving
of the usual signals as required by law, or by the rules of the railroad
in the ordinary operation of the train. The law, however, imposes on
a railroad company the duty of opcrating trains relatively to adjacent
highways so as not unneccessarily to interfere with the rights of in-
dividuals traveling such highways, or to endanger such travelers by
unusual and unnceessary noises and if it does anvthing unusual or
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unnccessary which wenld naturally be caleulated to frighten ordinarily
well-broken and gentle horses, it may be held liable.”

In Dewey v. Chicago, M. & St. P. R. Co. 99 Wis. 455, 75 N. W.
74, 4+ Am. Neg. Rep. 92, the supreme court of Wisconsin said: “They
[the railroad company’s servants] had a right to move the engine in
pursuit of defendant’s business in which they were engaged, and with-
out responsibility on defendant’s part for the consequences of any of
the ordinary noises which the operation of the engine caused, or such
incidents as the ordinary escape of smoke and steam. If such were not
the case, railway companics would be greatly embarrassed in the per-
formance of the duties they owe to the public. There appears to have
been an utter failure to show any excessive or unreasonable blowing off
of steam, or any unusual noise, or anything not ordinarily attendant
upon the usnal movements of a locomotive. That where injuries re-
sult from the frightening of horses by the sight of moving cars, trains,
or locomotives, or the usunal noises or incidents of their ordinary opera-
tion, there is no liability on the part of the railway company, is firmly
established and recognized as the law.  Abbot v. Kalbus, 74 Wis. 504,
43 N. W. 367; Cahoon v. Chicago & N. W. R. Co. &5 Wis. 570, 55
N. W. 900; Flaherty v. ITarrison, 98 Wis. 559, 74 N. W. 360; Elliott.
Railroads, § 1264, and numerous cases cited. Sce also Walters v.
Chicago, M. & St. P. R. Co. 104 Wis. 251, 80 N. W. 451, 6 Am. Nee.
Rep. 737: Hendricks v. Fremont, . & M. Valley R. Co. 67 Ncb.
120, 93 N. W. 141; Crowley v. Chicago, St. P. M. & O. R. Co. 122
Wis. 287, 99 N. W. 1017; Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. v. Roberts, 3 Neb.
(Unof.) 425, 91 N. W. 707; Dotson v. Michigan C. R. Co. 187 Mich.
650, 153 N. W. 1065.

Under the facts in this case, as established by the uncontroverted
evidence, and the findings of the jury, we are of the opinion that
plaintiff is not entitled to rccover. In order to warrant a recovery for
the plaintiff, he must show, and the special verdict together with the
uncontroverted facts, must establish, that the defendant was guilty of
negligence, and that such negligence was the proximate cause of the
injury for which compensation is sought. This court has ruled that
“thn failure of a special verdiet to find upon any material fact in issue
is cquivalent to a finding against the partv upon whom the burden of
proof rests to establish such fact.” Boulger v. Noarthern P. T (o, 41
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N. D. 316, 171 N. W. 632. Here it is not a case of failure to find in
favor of the party having the burden of proof, but a case where the
specific facts have been found against him. And while it is true the
jury, in answer to the 17th interrogatory, said that the defendant was
negligent at the time and place in handling and operating its railway
engine, the answer to the interrogatories covering the specific facts are
to the contrary. “Positive findings as to material facts which are con-
clusive of the controversy overcome those which are merely incidental.””
" Boulger v. Northern P. R. Co. supra. And we have failed to find
any evidoence tending to show that there was anything out of the
ordinary in the operation and handling of the engine,—certainly there
is no evidence that any undue or unusual noises were made. The
proximate cause of the injury was the fright of the horse. That fright
wes not, under the facts as found by the jury, caused by anything un-
usual or unnccessary done by the defendant in the operation of its
engine. Inasmuch as the jury in effect found that the injury was not
occasioned by defendant’s negligence, the errors assigned by appellant
upon the failure of the trial court to give certain instructions and sub-
mit certain interrogatories bearing on the question of contributory neg-
ligenco become immaterial. Deisenricter v. Krause-Merkel Malting
Co. 92 Wis. 164, 66 N. W, 112,

Appellant contends that under the rule laid down in Nygaard v.
Northern P. R. Co. 46 N. D. 1, 178 N. W. 961, he was entitled to a
new trial. In that case the trial court granted a new trial on the
ground that it believed it should have given more explicit instructions
on certain phases of the case. In affirming that decision a majority
of this court held that the trial court “exercised a discretionary right
in granting a new trial, and did not abuse its discretion in so doing.”
It has been said: “A test of what is within the diseretion of a court
has been suggested by the question, May the court properly decide the
point cither way? If not, then there is no diseretion to exercise. If
there is no latitude for the exercise of the power, it cannot be said
that the power is discretionary.” Hayne, New Tr. & App Rev. ed. p.
1650. This principle was recognized in the decision in the Nygaard
Case. For in the majority opinion it was said: “If . . . the
trial court should have denied the motion for a new trial, the conten-
tions of the appellant might be considered well taken, and the order of



SALEWSKI v. MINNEAPOLIS, ST. P. & 8. STE. M. R. CO. 79

the trial court, in such event, should probably not be disturbed.” 178
N. W. 963. In this case the trial judge exercised his discretion against
the plaintiff. He was of the opinion that the ends of justice would be
best subserved by denying a new trial. On the record before us we see
1o reason for saying that the trial court was in error in ruling as it did.
On the contrary, we are inclined to the view that the ruling was entirely
correct.
The judgment and order must be affirmed. It is so ordered.

Ropixson and Bimpzeri, JJ. concur.

Broxsox, J. T dissent. The majority opinion, with a partial reci-
tation of the facts in the record, demonstrates its own error. It is
quite necessary to protest concerning the manner in which this case
was submitted to the jury for a special verdiet npon interrogatories,
and concerning the evident mistrial that has resulted by rcason thereof.
It is necessary again to protest against the evident recognition given
by the majority opinion to the propriety of interrogatories framed and
submitted to the jury as they were in this case. The majority opinion
has set forth these interrogatories in full. On their face, in connection
with the record, they demonstrate that issues of law were submitted to
the jury and issues of fact in reality reserved for the court. That, in
& manner, the jury became the judge of the law, and the court, of the
facts, thereby directly interfering and disturbing the constitutional
and statutory functions of both the court and the jury. In this case,
the majority opinion states that the trial court exercised its discretion
against the plaintiff, and thercfore the plaintiff cannot complain.
Nevertheless, the trial court denied a new trial npon grounds of pro-
cedure, and for the further specific reason that the deceased was guilty
of contributory negligence as found by the jury. The majority opinion
abandons, apparently, both of these grounds, so asserted by the trial
court as reasons for denying a new trial, and bases its holding upon
the ground that the jury found that the defendant was not negligent.
By such reasoning does it assert that the discretion of the trial court
should not be disturbed ?

Then, again, the jury, in an answer to the dircet question so pro-
pounded, found that the defendant was negligent. Perhaps the major-
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ity opinion so states, like Antony spoke at the funeral of Julius Cewsar,
that “Brutus was an honorable man.”” No quarrel is to be had with
the authorities cited in the majority opinion. The pertinent point
is the method of their application. It may not be doubted that, if
the defendant, through the failure to exercise reasonable care at the
time of this accident, frightened the horse and proximately occasioned
the injuries and resultant death of the deceased, it is liable; and,
vice versa, if the injurics resulted through the fright of the horse upon
the sight of the moving locomotive through the usual noises or incidents
of its ordinary operation without defendant’s negligence, it is not liable.
In the case at bar the locomotive of dcfendant’s freight train was en-
gaged in switching at a local town. The freight train was standing on
the main track, at or near onc of the crossings involved. There were
three different tracks crossing the highway involved, in rather close
proximity. The locomotive, at the time of the accident, was proceeding
on a so-termed house track towards the highway. Its view by the trav-
eler on such highway was excluded by a coal shed, fencing and piles of
wood and brick, and by another building. At that time the deccased
was riding in a buggy towards this crossing upon the highway. The
horse was then being driven by another person. It was 35 feet from
the crossing when the accident occurred. At that time it was the duty
of the defendant to give a warning of the approach of the locomotive,
by blowing the whistle or ringing the bell. This was a statutory duty.
Comp. Laws 1913, § 4642. And, regardless of the statute, it was its
duty, in any event, to give notice of the approach of the locomotive
at all points of known or rcasonably apprehended danger. Coulter v.
Great Northern R. Co. 5 N. D. 568, 578, 67 N. W. 1056. It was its
duty to keep a proper lookout to avoid inflicting injury. Rober v.
Northern P. R. Co. 25 N. D. 394, 142 N. W. 22, Tt was also its
duty in this case to flag this crossing. The defendant’s brakeman,
Louis Larson, testified that it was a part of his duty while the train
was working to flag the crossing, and he stood there for the purpose of
protecting the crossing. It was also its duty to refrain from creating
and continuing the usual noises incident to the ordinary operations of
its serviee, if in the exercise of reasonable care and ordinary prudence,
it might therchby avoid fright in a horse and consequent injuries to a
traveler upon the highway. 83 Cve. 936: Carraher v. San Francisco
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Bridge Co. 100 Cal. 177, 34 Pac. 828; Williams v. Chicago, B. & Q.
R Co. 78 Neb. 693, 14 LR.A.(N.S.) 1224, 111 N. W. 596, 113 N.
W. 791; Louisville & N. R. Co. v. Penrod, 24 Xy. L. Rep. 50, 66 S.
W. 1012. The driver, a witness for the plaintiff, testified that this
brakeman was not there at the crossing when she started down the
road to the crossing; other witnesses similarly testified ; she never saw
the brakeman before that she knew of ; that after she and the deceased
eot hurt some man asked them if they were hurt; she would not recog-
vize the man. She testified that just previously at the lumber yard
(this is about 200 feet distance from the crossing) she got some mold-
ing. She then turned around and went towards the south on a slow
trot; there was a farmer driving in front on a lumber wagon; all at
once the farmer, ahead, waved. She stopped the horse. Immediately,
the train went by ; the horse got scared and turned; she jumped out,
her aunt was thrown out and the'horse ran away. Just previously the
farmer, his horses, and wagon, escaped the engine close to him by
slapping the lines, the horses jumping, jerking to the side of the track,
and going on. The brakeman, in addition to the testimony stated in
the majority opinion, further testified that he was the rear brakeman
on the freight train; the train stopped east of this strect after he un-
‘oaded and loaded freight; he walked around the train to look over hot
Loxes. During this time the other brakeman had uncoupled the engine
and some cars, and pulled over upon the house track (where this acci-
dent occurred). That he was about five minutes unloading the freight
and six to eight minutes walking around the train; that after he got
through looking over the train he stopped right on this crossing, be-
tween the passing track and the house track; that the engine was then
east of this house track. It was backed up west of the crossing to
spot some cars; this was their second trip on the house track. He re-
mained where he was; that he was watching the engine and looking up
the road ; that there werc some wagons going across the track while he
was standing there; he did not sec this witness, the farmer, coming
along with the wagon; he saw a rig with the two women in it some 200
feet, or such a matter, north of this north track (the house track):
that he held up his hand for them to stop because he saw that they were

getting too close to make the crossing; that he saw the horse start to
47 N. D—é.
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turn, and he ran over ahead of the engine to the north side, and that he
crossed the house track ahead of the engine to see what had happencd.
That the rig then was some 50 or 60 feet from the center of the north
track.

It is rather difficult to discover the harmony that the majority opin-
ion finds in the jury’s answers to interrogatories Nos. 10 and 11. It
attempts to harmonize such answers because, forsooth, the jury would
not have found that Larson went north across the track in front of the
engine, warning the two women of danger if they had believed that
he was not in fact stationed at the crossing, and had not in fact given
the warning he claimed to have given. It arrives at harmony accord-
ingly by the finding as a fact, that this engine was ringing the bell as
it approached the crossing at the rate of 6 miles per hour; that the
brakeman did signal the women by holding up his hand (presumably
in time to avoid the accident) ; that the horse then became frightened
at the engine and started to turn, with the result that the deceased fell
out of the buggy and was injured. The opinion underscores the word
“appear” in the 10th interrogatory, and gives to it, by definitive mean-
ing, a status like unto the vision of Banquo’s ghost. In question
10, the jury directly and incontrovertibly stated and found that this
brakeman, when the engine was approaching the crossing, did not
appear on such crossing warning the women to stop in the street north
of such crossing. In question 11 the jury found that this brakeman did
go north across said ¢racks (tracks in the plural) in front of the engine,
cntering upon Fourth avenue, warning the women of danger. The
brakeman did testify that he went north of the tracks as hereinbefore
recited, but the question is, When? The answer, perhaps, might be,
“Not until the women and the horse were in a position of danger and
at a time when acts of aid, not of warning, were nccessary. .

Assuredly, if the interrogatories can be made consistent it may not
be upon the theory asserted in the majority opinion. Again, the ma-
jority opinion upholds the affirmative answer of the jury to the 9th
question, “Was the bell being rung or the whistle blown?” Tt dis-
approves of the submission of such question in the alternative or dis-
junctive, but condones the offense in this case by showing that there
was no evidence of the whistle being blown, and, therefore, the answer
of the jury must have concerned the bell. Even so, the vice of the



BALEWSKI v. MINNEAPULIS, ST. P. & S. 8TE. M. k. CO. 83

question is not alone therein. It was the duty of the defendant to
kecp a lookout and give warning of its apprecach, by the ringing of the
bell, if such warning was proper, prior to the approach, as a warning
to the occupant, and not, after the approach, as an occasion of fright
for the horse.

The pertinent question was, in this regard, and the one nccessary
to be answered by the jury, “When was the bell being rung?” and,
“To what extent prior to the approach upon the crossing ?” IFrom such
premises, the majority opinion deduces the conclusion that the jury
found no negligence on the part of the defendant. The elements of
negligence, if any, in this record are failure to exercise reasonable care
concerning lookout, warning, and flagging. It is manifest that the
jury, by the questions propounded, did not find upon the questions,
as igsuable facts, whether or not the defendant excrcised due care in
these respects. The fact that the engine did not make undue noise, or
that there was nothing unusual in its incidental and ordinary opera-
tion, did not absolve it from care in respect to the matters mentioned.
See cases cited, supra. The brakeman, through his own testimony,
appareatly left his post as flagman after discovering the horse and
women in difficulty, without any attempt to flag or stop the engine.
But the error in the questions submitted are to be further discussed.
The jury found, pursuant to interrogatory 17, that the defendant
was negligent, at this time and place, in handling its railway and train.
This was a question of law for the court. This question was improp-
erly submitted to the jury. The majority opinion recognizes this by
disregarding the answer of the jury in that respect, and by controlling
and superseding such answer through the other specific findings made
by the jury. In interrogatorics 19 and 20 the jury found that the
deccased was mnegligent in her manner of driving toward the engine
and crossing, or, by failing to look and listen for the train, and in inter-
rogatory 20, that such negligence contributed to her own injury. In-
terrogatory 19 is a double question. No one can tell whether the
deceased was held guilty of negligence in lier manner of driving or in
her failing to look and listen for the train. Furthermore, the evidence
is undisputed that the deceased was not driving the horse; and so, the
trial court denied the motion for a new trial upon the ground that the
deccased was guilty of contributory neglizence although, in interroga-
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tory 16, the jury found that the women, by the exercise of reasonable
care and ordinary care, could not have seen or heard the engine ap-
proaching, and have stopped their horse and prevented the accident.
Perhaps, this is not “confusion worse confused,” but, at least, it has
some of the clements of it. Perhaps, the trial court did, and possibly,
the majority opinion may by reasoning similar to that applied to
questions No. 10, 11, and 17, harmonize the apparent contributory
negligence found in questions 19 and 20 and the absence of it in ques-
tion 16. This court has repeatedly held that, pursuant to the statute,
the special verdict must present conclusion of evidence as established
by the evidence, and not the evidence to prove it; that the questions
for a special verdict should be plain, single, and direct; that they
should contain only the ultimate conclusions of facts in controversy.
Nygaard v. Northern P. R. Co. 46 N. D. 1, 178 N. W. 961, and
cases cited. Comp. Laws 1913, § 7632. As this court has heretofore
hicld, questions should not be submitted that call for conclusions of law.
Nygaard v. Northern P. R. Co. supra. It is apparent that the ques-
tions submitted do violence both to the statute and the repcated hold-
ings of this court. They have served, as is apparent in this case, to
mislead and confuse the jury; to submit to the jury an issue of law and
plainly, as has been observed, to submit to the court an issuc of faet.
For it is evident that the trial court, particularly, this court in its
majcrity opinion, determines the facts in this record, by interpretation,
and after such interpretation, by answering the interrogatories sub-
mitted to the jury, and in direct opposition to the jury’s direct find-
ings upon questions of law submitted to it. The evident result is a
mistrial. It may be that this is a close ecase, and that the right of
plaintiff’s recovery is a close question both of law and of fact. How-
cver that may be, close cases are those which give rise to acts of in-
justice, and closo cases upon the law and the fact are particularly
cntitled to a fair and legal trial. It has not been accorded, in my
opinion, in this case, and a ncw trial should be granted by reason
thereof.

Grack, J. (dissenting). I concur in the dissenting opinion of Mr.
Justice Bronson, in this case. I conenr in the greater part, but not in
all, of the reasoning therein contained.
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On Petition for Rehearing filed January 18, 1921.

Pre Curiam. Plaintiff has filed a petition for rehearing. The
petition is largely a reargument of the cause. It is asserted that the
ninth interrogatory was double and misleading. In the former opinion
we considered this question, and arrived at the conclusion that, in view
of the evidence in this case, the jury could not have been misled by the
form of the question. As we stated in that opinion: “In this case
there was absolutely no evidence and no contention that the whistle was
blown as the locomotive approached the crossing.” It is not con-
tended that this statement is incorrect, but it is asserted that there
was evidence to the effect that the locomotive blew the whistle when
the train came into the village (some twenty minutes before the acci-
dent occurred), and that the jury might have had this in mind. We
do not believe that this contention is at all tenable. The two preceding
interrogatories clearly indicated both the time and the place to which
the inquiry was restricted. The three interrogatorics were as follows:

“7. At the time of such accident, if any occurred, was the railway
company’s engine and train, approaching Fourth avenue at the crossing
of the railroad on the house track?

“8. At what rate of speed was said engine and train approaching
and coming upon said crossing?

“9. Was the bell being rung or the whistle blown ¢ ”

These three interrogatories follow each other in logical order. The
first two fix the time and place to which the inquiry is directed. The
time is specifically stated to be, “at the time of such accident.”
The seventh and eighth interrogatory together inquire as to the rate
of speed of the train, as it approached the Fourth avenue crossing at
the time the accident occurred. The ninth interrogatory asks if the
whistle was blown or the bell rung. Manifestly it referred to the same
time and incident referred to in the previous questions. It is incon-
ceivable that intelligent men could have understood it otherwise. Nor
is there, under the evidence, any reason to doubt that the jury so
understood the interrogatory; and that they must have found that the
bell was rung for the requisite distance from the crossing. The evi-
dence relating to the ringing of the bell was as follows:
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Hannah Bartkowski, the driver, testified that she did not hear the
bell. One Nowatzck, a witness for the plaintiff, testified also that he
did not hear the bell. Opposed to this negative testimony the defend-
ant introduced the testimony of the engincer and fireman, three brake-
men, a farmer, two laborers, and the manager of a local lumberyard.

According to the testimony of the engineer and the fireman the
locomotive was equipped with a device whereby, by turning a little
valve, the bell was put in action, and would continue to ring until the
valve was turned off. They further testified that the bell was rung con-
tinuously during the entire time they were engaged in switching. The
testimony to the effect that the bell was rung during all the time they
were engaged in switching was corroborated by the three brakemen.
One Mohler, local manager of the Rogers Lumber Company, testified
that at and immediately prior to the accident he was in a place where
he could observe the crossing and the approach to it on the north side
of the railway tracks; that he observed the brakeman warning the
women by holding up his hand when they were more than 60 feet away
from the crossing; that the brakeman made two attempts to stop them;
that when the rig was more than 60 fcet away from the track, Mohler
observed that the bell was ringing. One Mansfield, a farmer living
southwest of Courtenay, testified that at the time the accident occurred
he was standing on Foshold’s corner, about 100 feet south of the main
track ; that he observed the rig containing the two women approaching
from the north; that he saw the brakeman warn them; that for some-
time before he could sce the locomotive he heard the bell ringing. One
Ryan, a resident of Courtenay, who said he was a common laborer,
testified that he was on his way to work; that he was coming down on
the west side of main street going north (on the south side of the
track) ; that as he was going down the street and opposite the Fire-hall
(situated some 50 fect south of the main track); he heard the bell
ringing, although he could not sce the locomotive. He further testi-
fied: “When I got right about down to here, just between the passing
track and the main line, I looked over here then, and the engine was
just a little to the west of the coal shed, west of the east end, I should
say. I had time to cross, and went across, and just as I got across the
track out of the way, I heard somebody holler off to one side, and I
turned and T scen a man raise his hand, doing that way [indicating] ;
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it was one of the trainmen, but I don’t know which.” He further
testified that during all of this time he heard the bell ringing. Some-
what similar testimony was given by one Wright, who also stated that
his occupation was that of a common laborer.

It will be noted that, so far as there was any controversy relating to
the ringing of the bell, it was whether the bell was being rung at all.
As already stated two witnesses for the plaintiff testified that they did
not hear the bell, and several witnesses testified for the defendant that
the bell rang not only at the time of the accident, but for a consider-
able length of time prior thercto. If the witnesses for the defendant
told the truth the bell was unquestionably rung as prescribed by the
statute. If the facts were as the negative testimony adduced by the
plaintiff tended to prove, then the bell did not ring at all. In answer-
ing, as they did, the jury must have bclieved the testimony of defend-
ant’s witnesses. i

The other propositions advanced in the petition for rehearing were
all considered at the time the former decision was promulgated. A
majority of the court were of the opinion that, under the facts found
by the jury, there was no actionable negligence on the part of the de-
fendant ; hence, the errors predicated upon requested instructions and
proposed interrogatories bearing on the question of contributory neg-
ligence were deemed immaterial. A careful reconsideration of the
case has not altered the views of the majority. And not a single
authority has been found which we deem inconsistent with these
views. Most of the cases which have been called to our attention are
eases like Coulter v. Great Northern R. Co. 5 N. D. 568, 67 N. W. 1046,
and Rober v. Northern P. R. Co. 25 N. D. 394, 142 N. W. 22, wherein
wme party was actually run over by train at a crossing. That, of
course, i8 not the condition here. Here there is no contention that
there was any collision.

We adhere to the former opinion. Rehearing denied.

Breozerr and Rosinsow, JJ., concur.
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FLORENCE E. KITTEL, Appellant, v. MAURICE C. STRAUS
et al., Respondents.

(181 N. W. 628.)

Homestead — wife entitled to cancelation of mortgage where purpose for
which it was given fails.

In an action to cancel a mortgage as a cloud on plaintiffs title to home-
stead property, where it appeared that the plaintiff joined with her husband in
the mortgage, which she understood to have been given as security for the
performance, by her hushand and another, of certain contract obligations, and
where the obligees in that contract, discovering fraud on the part of plaintifi’s
husband sufficient to justify rescission thereof, promptly rescinded and re-
pudiated it, but retained the mortgage under a prior agreement with the hus-
band that he would give such a mortgage as security for a pre-existing deht,
it is held:

1. Where a wife joins in a mortgage upon a homestead, with the understand-
ing that it is to be used for a specific purpose, and where the purpose fails and
the rights of innocent third parties have not attached or been prejudiced, the
wife has an equitable right to have the mortgage canceled as a lien upon the
homestead.

Opinion filed December 27, 1920. Rehearing denied February 7, 1921.

Appeal from the District Court of Cass County, 4. T. Cole, J.
Reversed and remanded.

Engerud, Divet, Holt, and Frame, for appellant.

Lawrence & Murphy, for respondents.

Statement of facts- by Birpzerr, J. Two actions were by stipula-
tion consolidated and tried as one. One is an action by Florence Kit-
tel, mortgagor, against Straus and others, to cancel a mortgage execut-
cd by her on December 2, 1915, running to the First National Bank of
Casselton, mortgagee, and to remove the same as a cloud upon her title
to the property therein described. The other is an action by the First
National Bank of Casselton against Richard C. Kittel and Florence
Kittel, his wife, to foreclose the same mortgage. Separate findings,
conclusions, and judgments were entered in the two cases, and separate
appeals were taken to this court. The parties have stipulated that the
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appeal in the foreclosure action shall abide the result of the appeal
in the action to remove cloud. The important facts are substantially
as follows :

For sometime prior to the cxecution of the mortgage in question
Richard C. Kittel had been president of the First National Bank of
(Casselton and W. F. Kittel, his brother, had been cashier. It appears
that during the summer of 1915 it became known to the National Bank
Examiner and to the directors of the bank that the bank was carrying
among its assets considerable bad paper. This matter had been dis-
cussed somewhat, and had become a matter of negotiation between
Richard Kittel and the dircctors, and between the dircetors and the
Comptroller of the Currency. Kittel, from time to time, assured the
directors that he would make good all the bad paper, and the dircctors
in turn made representations to the Comptroller of the Currency that
they would see that the bank was rendered in unobjectionable condi-
tion by the end of the ycar. By the latter part of November, 1915,
the directors had concerned themsclves seriously as to the condition of
the bank. Conversations were held between them and with Kittel at
various times, looking toward the making of a definite arrangement
whereby they would relieve the bank of the objectionable paper and
Kittel indemnify them by his own obligation supported by collateral
in the shape, principally, of stocks and bonds. These negotiations
took on definite form at meetings held November 27th and 28th, and
December 2d and 3d.

Among the bad paper that had been under discnssion prior to
November 27th was an unsecured promissory note of Richard C. Kit-
tel for $3,000, dated October 1, 1913, and payable on demand. The
directors, at Kittel’s request, had made no reference to this note in
their prior resolutions concerning the bad paper, but it seems never-
theless to have been condemned by them. During some of their earlier
meetings, also, Kittel had turned over to Straus some forty shares of
his stock in the First National Bank as collateral to the obligations
the directors were assuming with reference to some of the bad loans
for which Kittel recognized that he should be held responsible. Some
of the directors testify, and we shall assume it to be a fact, that dur-
ing these carlier negotiations it was understood that Kittel would
secure his £5.000 note bv giving a mortgage upon his residence prop-
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erty for $6,000; that the difference between his note, with the accrued
interest, and the new obligation of $6,000, should be credited to his
account in the bank, upon which he would be permitted to draw cash
in payment of traveling expenses in his future operations in the real
estate business. R. C. Kittel resigned as director and president of the
bank on November 28th, and Straus succecded him as president. W.
F. Kittel resigned as cashicr on November 29th, and his resignation
was immediately accepted by Straus.

It seems that no definite arrangement for the future conduct of the
business of the bank resulted from the meeting of November 27th and
28th, other than the change in management, but on the afternoon of
December 2d a meeting was held, attended by the Kittels and a num-
ber of the directors, and by one Tenner, who was acting as attorney
for the directors. In the interim there had been an examination of the
bank by two persons from Minncapolis, and from this examination it
appeared that Kittel’s shortage was in the neighborhood of $75,000.
This meeting continued until about 3 o’clock in the morning of Decem-
ber 3d. Late at night on December 2d, W. F. Kittel went from this
meeting to the residence of Richard C. Kittel for the purpose of secur-
ing the signature of Florence E. Kittel to the mortgage in question.
The mortgage was executed, and upon his return it was placed among
the papers that were the subject-matter of the negotiations. When the
meeting finally adjourned, a contract had been entered into between
Straus, Johnson, Gray, Dittmer, Ford, and Runck, who were members
of the board of directors, as parties of the first part, and Richard and
William Kittel as parties of the second part. -

This agreement provided, in substance, that the parties of the first
part would take over the bank; also some objectionable bonds previ-
ously held in its assets; and reimburse the bank for all paper which
the National Bank Examiner ordered taken out, together with all
existing liabilities, discrcpancies, and differences in reconcilements;
and that they would continue to operate the bank. The parties of the
second part agreed to repurchase the objectionable bonds by January 1,
1916, with interest, and by January 15th to purchase certain objec-
tionable notes to which reference had previously been made on the
minutes, and on or before December 1, 1916, to pay all losses, liabil-
ities, and disercpancies which the first parties might be called upon
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to pay under the agreement. As security for the performance of their
obligations, the Kittels agreed to turn over 283 shares of stock in
the bank, 815 shares of stock in the Northern Trading Company, 18
shares in the Casselton Realty Company, 3 shares in the Frank Lynch
Company, 8 shares in the Farmers State Bank of Towner, $60,000 of
the bonds of the Northern Trading Company, “and a mortgage execut-
ed by the said R. C. Kittel and his wife, upon their residence prop-
erty in Casselton and the vacant lots across from the same for $6,000.”
A few days later it was discovered that Kittel’s shortage was a great
deal larger than the parties had anticipated, amounting eventually to
$240,000. A resolution of insolvency was passed on December 6th,
and the bank examiner, C. H. Anhier, was placed in charge. At An-
hier’s request Kittel subsequently executed, as of December 2, 1915,
2 $6,000 note payable December 2, 1916. This was treated as a renew-
al note of Kittel’s $5,000 note. It was attached to that note and was
later entered in the books of the bank as an asset. The mortgage was
recorded on December 27th. On January 10, 1916, the directors who
had signed the agreement of December 2d served upon the Kittels a
notice of cancelation and rescission of the agreement, in which it was
stated that the parties rescinding “offer and tender to you all matters
and things received or tendered to them by you under this agrecment.”
Kittel never drew the cash representing the difference between the
mortgage and his old note, but nearly all of the balance was used with
his consent to take up an overdraft of the Northern Trading Company.
In other ways, as in directing changes to be made in the loss payable
clauses of the insurance policies upon the property, for instance, Kittel
recognized the rights of the bank under the mortgage.

Bmrrozrrr, J. (after stating the facts as above): The sole question
for our consideration upon this appeal is the validity of the mortgage
referred to in the above statement as a lien upon the homestead of Rich-
ard and Florence Kittel. There is no question but what the mortgage
ziven is the one referred to in the contract of December 3d, and there
is nothing to show that Florence Kittel knew of any other considera-
tion for the mortgage than such as was stated in that contract. The
only testimony in the record concerning the cirenmstances of the
execution of the mortgage by her is that of W. F. Kittel, who took it
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to her for execution and took her acknowlecdgment. He testified by
deposition as follows:

“I took the mortgage to her and told her that a new contract was
being entered into with the directors of the bank, by which they agreed
to continue to operate the business of the bank, in which they agreed
to remove any asscts of the bank objectionable to the department.

. I explained to her the terms of the contract and the fact that
it was drawn to take care of any liability of my brother and myself to
the bank, and that the mortgage was required by the directors to guar-
antee the fulfilment of the contract by my brother and myself.”

Even if this testimony be considered of doubtful credence in view
of the witness’s fraud and deception as an officer of the bank, for
which he was later convicted in the Federal court for violation of §
5209, U. S. Comp. Stat., it can scarcely be disregarded entirely in view
of the fact that it is so fully corroborated by the reference to the mort-
gage and the purpose for which the security was given as contained in
the contract of December 3d.  In this state of the record we cannot
find that Florence Kittel executed this mortgage for any purpose other
than that stated in the testimony of William F. Kittel and in the con-
tract. The mortgage, in its effect upon the homestead, will therefore
have to stand or fall in the light of its execution for this purpose as
affected by the subsequent transactions regarding the contract.

Tt is true that Kittel further testified that Mrs. Kittel would only
consent to a delivery of the mortgage upon condition that the directors
would not prosccute her husband, and that he communicated this con-
dition to the dircctors. . If the performance of such a condition be
regarded as the consideration for the mortgage, it is obvious that it
would be illegal as compounding a felony, and the entire mortgage
would be void. If, on the other hand, it should be regarded merely
as a condition affecting delivery, the condition is not operative after
delivery to the grantee (Comp. Laws 1913, § 5197) ; and the question
of the consideration for the mortgage is still open to inquiry. Of
course it is not the law—and neither party to this proceeding contends
that it is—that the consideration for a mortgage cannot be inquired
into after delivery to the grantee or mortgagee. The majority of the
court does not hold the consideration to be illegal, nor does it give
effect to any condition upon which the mortgage was delivered.
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The bank held this mortgage but a few days before it was ascer-
tained that it would be impossible to carry out the contract. In the
meantime ncither the bank nor the dircctors had assumed any new
obligation in reliance upon the mortgage, nor had either in any way
altered their position. At most, according to the bank’s contentions,
it had taken the mortgage as security for a debt long past due, and it
was not until after the bank had closed that the excess was applied to
wipe out the overdraft of the third party, with Kittel’s consent. The
contract under which Florence Kittel understood that the mortgage
was being given was soon rescinded, so far as the dircctors of the bank
were able to rescind it, except for their failure to return the mortgage
in question, and, possibly, some of the shares of stock which had been
originally pledged with Straus. They refused to recognize it further
a3 having any binding effect. Could they thus rescind the contract,
and, as against Florence Kittel, leave the mortgage in possession of
the bank as security for Kittel’s pre-existing debt?

We have no good reason to doubt that, prior to the execution of the
eontract of December 3d, there was an understanding between Richard
Kittel and some of the directors of the bank that he would mortgage
his residence property to securc his past-due note. This is the testi-
mony of Straus and some of the other directors. TDut there is no evi-
dence that Florence Kittel was ever made aware of this promise, and
neither is there any evidence from which we would be justified in sav-
ing that she executed the mortgage, intrusting it to her husband to
use as general security in any way he should see fit. On the contrary,
the evidence discloses that she understood the nature of the arrange-
ment that was being made on December 2d an:l 3d. But she was not
a party to that contract, and was in no way responsible for the fraud
of her husband which occasioned its rescission and cancelation. She
had the undoubted right to dctermine the conditions and terms upon
which she would convey the homestead. The statute requiring a con-
veyance of a homestead to be executed and acknowledged by both hus-
hand and wife does not spend its force in exacting a mere formal act.
It implies that either shall have power to give or withhold consent
eatirely, or to attach any condition that might be cffective if the sep-
arate property of a grantor alone were involved.  We are of the opinion
that the record in the instant case clearly shows that the mortgaze was
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executed by Florence E. Kittel to be used as security for the perform-
ance of the specific contract of December 3d, and that when this con-
tract was abandoned she had the same right to secure the release of the
mortgage that she would have had if she had pledged her own property
for a similar purpose. See Gammon v. Wright, 31 Ill. App. 353, 358;
Johnson v. Callaway, — Tex. Civ. App. —, 87 S. W. 178, s. c¢. (Dash-
icll v. Johnson, 99 Tex. 546, 91 S. W. 1085); 13 R. C. L. 630.

While it might at first blush seem but cquitable to allow the bank
to foreclose the mortgage npon the homestead, as it was voluntarily
cxccuted and sccures but a small part of the indcbtedness of the officer
whose conduct was responsible for so large a loss, it is evident to a
majority of the court that it cannot be permitted in the instant case
without trenching upon the policy of the law with respect to the home-
stcad estate. To permit a mortgage to be enforced as against the home-
stead estate where it has been obtained for one purpose and is being
applied to another, and where the rights of no innocent third party
liave attached but remain in statu quo, would be to establish a prece-
dent that would deprive the homestcad estate of the protection which
the Constitution and the statutes have sought to accord to it.

It follows from what has been said that the mortgage is of no effect
as a lien upon the homestead of Richard and Florence Kittel. Tn so
far, however, as it creates a lien upon any property of Richard Kittel
cxclusive of the homestcad estate, it is valid, as he had agreed to secure
the specific obligation and recognized the mortgage as such security
subsequent to the contract of December 3d. This lien was not defeated
by the subsequent conveyance of the residence property from Richard
Kittel to his wife. The judgment appealed from is reversed and the
cause remanded, with directions to enter judgment in accordance with
the foregoing opinion. The appellant will rccover costs.

CrristiansoN, Ch. J., and BrrpzeLL and Grack, JJ., concur.

Bronson, J. T dissent. The majority opinion holds invalid the
mortgage involved, only so far as the same affects the homestead rights
of the plaintiff. The majority opinion sustains the mortgage as a lien
upon the property not within the homestead estate. It therefore up-
holds the testimony and contentions of the defendants and the findings
and conclusions of the trial court to the effect that this mortgage was
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given by the husband of the plaintiff to secure an indebtedness of .
$5,000, and interest, owing by the husband to the bank, and for
advances to be made, covering traveling expenses or other incidental
matters, and that such mortgage was not given as collateral in con-
nection with the making of exhibit 100, which was afterwards repudi-
ated between the directors of the bank and the husband. At the time
this mortgage was executed, the property so mortgaged stood in the
name of the husband. The majority opinion, further, is practically
lased entirely upon the testimony of one W. F. Kittel concerning the
circumstances of the execution of the mortgage by the plaintiff, and up-
on the asserted fact that there was nothing to show that the plaintiff
knew of any other consideration for the ‘mortgage than such as was
stated and in that contract. It is to be noted that the plaintiff in this
case did not testify and no reason is asserted in the record for the
absence of her testimony. The trial court prepared extensive findings
and also an extensive memorandum opinion showing that he had given
this case very careful and considerate attention. The trial court has
found that this mortgage was executed by the plaintiff as the result of
representations made to her by her husband and his brother, W. F.
Kittel, in connection with their business with the defendant bank; that
she did not scek any interview with any of the members of that bank,
or any explanation with reference to the execution of this mortgage,
or make any statement with reference to any restrictions as to its use
and purposes; that she knew that her husband had been the head of
that bank for a long time and had managed its affairs, and thercfore
must have known the relations and financial matters to be calculated
and considered in making a scttlement between the bank and her hus-
band; that the execution of this mortgage was for the accommodation
and use of her husband at his solicitation and the solicitation of this
W. F. Kittel; that, both in reason and law, she constituted her hus-
band her agent to use this mortgage for the purposes he deemed best
in dealing with the bank. The trial court further found that the value
of the homestead consisting of four lots, being a part of the premises
mortgaged, was $8,000, or $3,000 in cxcess of the homestead limita-
tion of $5,000. Tt is to be noted that the record discloses that this bank-
was wrecked and went into the hands of a receiver by reason of acts
of default of the plaintiff’s husband and his brother: that this hushand
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. pleaded guilty to making falsc entries and misapplication of funds
under the Federal Statutes, and was sentenced to the Federal Pen-
itentiary and at the time of this trial was on parole; that the testimony
of this brother W. F. Kittel was taken in the Federal Penitentiary, at
Leavenworth, where he was then confined under sentence for violating
the banking laws, and that there is testimony in the record to the effect
that he was discharged from the bank when discovered in acts of
forgery.

The majority opinion, however, have not stated the real reason why
the plaintiff signed this mortgage. It has not stated the testimony of
this Kittel, which recites the reason why she signed this mortgage.
Only that part of the testimony has been quoted by the majority opin-
ion which contains Kittel's statement to the plaintiff, and not her state-
ment to him. This testimony demonstrates, conclusively, the serious
error in which the majority opinion has fallen in stating that the testi-
mony, as quoted in the majority opinion, was the basis of her reason
for signing the mortgage.

This testimony is as follows:

Q. You then returned the mortgage, as I understand it, back to your
brother at the bank?

A. She objected at first to signing it.

Q. Did she finally sign it?

A. She said she would not sign it unless there was a clause embodied
in it to the effect that there would be no prosecution of my brother and
myself.

Q. That clause was in the contract ?

A. No, but I told her that such a clause, in my opinion, could not be
inzerted in the mortgage. She would only agree to sign the mortgage
and deliver it to me with the understanding that it was not to be deliv-
cred to the directors of the hank unless thev agreed that there should
be no presceution of my brother and myself.  She was very insistent
upon this point, and at the time that T took the mortgage into the meet-
ing of the direetors and Mr. Tenner, T stated that the mortgage was
delivered with this understanding, and that it should be returned to
her if there was any prosecution of myself or my brother.

In this conneetion it is to be noted that, in the course of the proceed-
ings of the bank’s directors and in trying to make an adjustment of the
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bank’s affairs so that it might continue, it was represented and made to
sppear that the defalcations were something like $75,000. Later,
lowever, this ameount was discovered to be over $200,000, by reason
whereof this bank went into the hands of a receiver. This testimony
of the brother, therefore, concerning this demand of the plaintiff,
upon which ground alone she consented to the signing and delivery
of the mortgage is important because it demonstrates her knowledge
of her husband’s and her brother-in-law’s doings in connection with the
bank. It demonstrates further a familiarity of knowledge of the trans-
actions of such parties. It is to be noted, further, that Kittel in his
testimony testified that he took this mortgage and delivered it at the
meeting of the directors, with this understanding that it should be
returned to the plaintiff if there was any prosecution of himself or
plaintifP’s husband.

I am unable to find any testimony that this plaintiff signed this
mortgage, and so agrecd to sign for the reason that it was made as
collateral to this contract betwcen her husband, and the directors of the
bank. Accordingly, the record, upon the testimony of this brother,
discloses that the only understanding which the plaintiff had was for a
conditional delivery of the mortgage based upon nonprosecution for
crimes involved. It is rather difficult, therefore, to understand the
holding of the majority opinion that this mortgage was executed by the
plaintiff for the purpose of being collateral to this contract. Exhibit
100. The majority opinion does state that thev cannot find that the
plaintiff executed this mortgage for any other purpose than that stated
in the testimony of this brother. That purpose, as stated in the major-
ity opinion, is not the purpose as disclosed by the evidence of this
brother and contained in his deposition. The majority opinion further.
states that if this testimony of the brother is of doubtful eredence in
view of his conviction, it is fully corroborated by reference to the mort-
gage and the purpose for which the security was given. It is difficult
to understand what corroboration may thus be inferred when the mort-
cage itself speaks of a definite indebtedness and a definite note, and
when the majority opinion otherwise finds the mortgage to be valid
as security for this very indebtedness thus deseribed in the mortgage.
The majority opinion accordingly demonstrates the correctness of the

trial court’s findings, viewed in connection with the evidence above
47 N. D.—T.
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stated herein. It is further evident that the testimony of this brother
served as a self-serving declaration in favor of the plaintiff, who was
not a witness, and who did not present herself to give testimony in this
casc. The majority opinion further practically states that it is only
cquitable to permit the foreclosure of this mortgage upon a homestead,
but it cannot permit such to be done without intrenching upon the
policy of the law concerning homestead estates. This is an action in
cquity ; principles of equity should apply to the plaintiff as well as
to her husband and this brother. ‘Their actions should be scrutinized
closely just as they were very closely scrutinized in a very recent case
in Wisconsin, where the plaintiff was secking to retain title conveyed
by her husband and was there claiming to be a bona fide purchaser.
See Spangler v. Kittel, 172 Wis. 583, 179 N. W. 759. It is not assert-
ed in this record that any fraud, duress, or improper influence was
excrted upon the plaintiff. This mortgage was delivered, as found by
the trial court, and, as found by this majority opinion, to secure the
indebtedness described in that mortgage. The mortgage as an instru-
ment became valid only upon delivery. Stockton v. Turner, 30 N. D.
641, 153 N. W. 275.

It is well settled by statute and decisions that a mortgage cannot be
delivered to the mortgagee conditionally. Comp. Laws 1913, § 5497 ;
Sargent v. Cooley, 12 N. D. 1, 94 N. W. 576 ; First Nat. Bank v. Prior,
10 N. D. 146, 86 N. W. 362. This mortgage, upon its delivery,
accordingly, took effect absolutely, discharged from the parol condi-
tions upon which delivery was made. Upon this record, and pursuant
to the findings of the trial court, also as sustained in the majority opin-
ion, at least with respect to the property other than the homestead es-
tate, it is further manifestly incquitable to permit this plaintiff, who,
possessed of and chargeable with knowledge of her husband’s and
brother-in-law’s transactions, asserted only one reason as a condition
in the signing of this mortgage, to rescind her signature to the mort-
gage and to defeat the just claim of the bank. Upon principles of
both equity and law the plaintiff is not entitled to prevail. The judg-
ment in all things should be affirmed.

Bronson and Rosinsonw, JJ., concur.

RoBinsor, J. (dissenting). On December 2, 1915, R. C. Kittel and
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mortgage on seven lots in Casselton to secure $6,000, with interest at

8 per cent, according to one promissory note. Also, to secure any and

all advances made to or on behalf of the mortgagors by the mort-
gagee; also, to secure any other present and future indebtedness of
said mortgagors to the mortgagee. A few hours after the making of

the mortgage R. C. Kittle and his brother made, with five directors

« of the bank, a written contract—exhibit 100. The contract recites
:: that performance of its conditions by the Kittel brothers is secured
'2 by a lot of stocks and bonds and a mortgage made by R. C. Kittel and
;.E his wife for $6,000. On January 7, 1916, the directors who signed
the contract individually, signed and served a notice of rescission
S and cancelation on the Kittel brothers. The notice, if true, shows
o that the contract was obtained by gross fraud. In November, 1916,
;Richard Kittel having first conveycd the seven lots to his wife, she

>»
g Florence, his wife, made to the First National Bank of Casselton a
32

commenced this action to cancel the mortgage because of the rescission.
The bank commenced an action to foreclose the mortgage. The two
actions were properly consolidated for trial as one action, and in each
a judgment was cntered in favor of the bank.

The findings of fact and conclusions of law cover twenty-five pages;
the testimony, five hundred pages. The memorandum of the trial judge
giving the reasons for his decision appears quite conclusive, and in it he
cites forty decisions. Any attempt to recite or state the evidence would
be of no avail. It is known to the parties and their attorneys, and
strangers care nothing for it.

The basis of the complaint by Florence Kittel is that the mortgage
was made only as security for the performance of the contract which
the directors repudiated, and that after the delivery of the mortgage it
was altered by inserting words and figures to make it appear as security
for the promissory note of $6,000. Now the mortgage is in due and
proper form. It shows no interlineations, erasures, alterations, or
marks of suspicion. Tt makes no reference to the contract in question.
It is made to secure $6,000 and interest according to one promissory
note. The signatures of Richard Kittel and Florence Kittel are in a
clear businesslike handwriting. The acknowledgment is by W. F. Kit-
tel, a notary public. The plaintiff signed the mortgage for the use and
benefit of her husband, and on such representations as he made to her.
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She did not sign at the request of the defendants or on any representa-
tion made by them. Indced, she never exchanged a word with any of
them in regard to the mortgage. It was made to secure $6,000 promis-
sory note given in renewal of a $5,000 note, and interest at 8 per cent.
The note was long past due, and it was made by Richard Kittel to
the bank, and Kittel had repeatedly promised to secure the same.
When the mortgage was made, Kittel had just been forced to resign
as president and director of the bank. He had confessed to defalca-
tions of $75,000, but the correct amount was $240,000. Now, it
seems by this action that Mr. Kittel and his wife are well disposed to
defeat the mortgage security and thereby add to the defalcations
$6,000, and interest. As a result of the Kittel defalcations the bank
went into the hands of a receiver, and, to redcem it, the directors had
to pay $240,000. Such being the facts, it seems a little nervy to ask
a court of justice to set aside the mortgage. The judgment is so clearly
just and right it needs no support fromn any elaboration or argument.

J. R. WATKINS MEDICAL COMPANY, a Corporation, Appel-
lant, v. F. G. PAYNE and C. O. Greenley, Respondents,

(180 N. W. 9¢8.)

Guaranty — alteration of contract by changing amount of liability releases
securities.

1. The plaintiff is engnged in manufacturing certain medicines, extracts,
ete., which it sells at wholesule price to those with whom it contracts, limiting
the party, in making sales, to a specific territory. It made a contract with
one R. C. Hill, who had theretofore had other contracts with it. The contract
contained a provision to pay indebtedness arising under former contracts. At
the time defendants signed it, the amount of past indebtedness was not inserted
in it. There was a blank space in the contract, where it could be inserted.
These defendants signed the contract, as sureties. After the execution and
delivery of the contract, without their knowledge or consent, the amount of the
old debt was filled in the blank by the plaintiff.

Held, that this was a material alteration of the instrument, and operated
to release defendants from all liability under it.
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Guaranty — signature by surctics held not to estop them from denying
liability as to amount inserted without their knowledge.

2. It is further held, in such circumstances, the signing thereof, by defend-
ants, without the statement of the amount of past indebtedness in the blank,
did not authorize the plaintiff thereafter to insert it, and plaintiff having
done 8o, the defendants are not estopped to deny their liability on the contract.

Pleading — under statute defendant may plead and prove inconsistent de-
fenses.
3. Under the provisions of subdivision 2 of § 7419, Comp. Laws 1913, a de-
fendant may plead, and offer proof of, inconsistent defenses.

Opinion filed December 28, 1920. Rehearing denied January 11, 1921.

Appeal fromn separate judgments of the District Court of Sargent
County, F. J. Graham, J. '

Judgments affirmed.

Ole S. Sem and Tawney, Smith, & Tawney, for appellant.

“The proof or admission of a signature of a party to an instrument
i« prima facie evidence that the instrument written over it is his act,
and this prima facie evidence will stand as binding proof, unless the
maker can rcbut it by showing evidence that the alteration was made
after delivery.” Riley v. Riley, 9 N. D. 580, 84 N. W. 347; Wilcon
v. Hayes, 40 Minn. 531; Modie v. Breiland, 9 S. D. 506, 70 N. W.
637; Foley, etc., Co. v. Solomon (S. D.) 170 N. W. 639; Cosgrave v.
Fanebust, 10 S. D. 213, 72 N. W. 469; Wicker v. Jones, 159 N. C.
102, 74 S. E. 801, Ann. Cas. 1914B, 1083; llanrick v. Patrick, 119
U. S. 156, 30 L. ed. 396; ITogen v. Merchants & Bankers Ins. Co.
s1 Towa, 330, 46 N. W. 1114; Magee v. Allison, 94 Towa, 527, 63
N. W. 322; James v. Holdam, 142 Ky. 450, 134 S. W. 435; Dorsey
v. Conrad, 49 Neb. 443, 68 N. \V. 45,

If one signs an instrument containing blanks, he must be understood
to intrust it to the person to whom it is so delivered, to be filled up
properly, according to the agreement between the parties, and, when so
filled, the instrument is as good as if originally execented in complete
form. Merchants Nat. Bank v. Brastrup (N. D.) 168 N. W. 42;
Porter v. Hardy, 10 N. D. 556, 88 N. W. 460; Re Tahite Co. I.. R.
17 Eq. 273; Styles v. Scotland & Co. 22 N. D. 469, 134 N. W. 708;
Montgomery v. Dresher, 90 Neb. 632, 38 L.R.A.(N.S.) 423, 134 N.
W. 251,
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Written contracts supersede oral negotiations. The execution of
a contract in writing, whether the law requires it to be written or not,
supersedes all the oral negotiations or stipulations concerning its (sub-
ject) matter, which preceded or accompanied the execution of the in-
strument. Comp. Laws 1913, § 5889 ; Gilber Mfg. Co. v. Bryan (N.
D.) 166 N. W. 805; J. R. Watkins Medical Co. v. Holloway (Mo.)
181 S. W. 602; Graham v. Savage, 110 Minn. 510; Armstrong v.
Cavanaugh (Towa) 166 N. W. 673; Vogt v. Schenbeck, 123 Wis. 491,
100 N. W, 8§20.

Where a party sceks to avoid an instrument on the ground of an
alteration, he must make out his case by clear and convincing testimony.
Mecrchants Nat. Bank v. Brastrup (N. D.) 168 N. W. 43; Riley v.
Riley, 9 N. D. 508, 84 N. W. 347 ; Maldner v. Smith, 102 Wis. 30, 78
N. W. 141; Brunton v. Ditto, 51 Colo. 178, 117 Pac. 156 ; Graham v.
Graham, 184 Mich. 638, 151 N. W. 596; Droge Elwater Co. v. W. P.
Brown Co. (Iowa) 151 N. \W. 1048,

Kvello & Adams, and A. Leslie, for respondents.

If, after a name is signed as surety, the name of a preceding surety
should be erased without the knowledge or consent of the subsequent
signer, then, as to him, his contract would be materially altered, and
he would be released from liability thereon. Cass County v. American
Exch. State Bank, 9 N. D. 263, 83 N. . 12; Hagler v. State, 31 Nebh.
144, 47 N. W. 692; Porter v. Hardy, 10 N. D. 551, 88 N. W. 45§
Watkins Medical Co. v. Miller (S. D.) 168 N. W. 3%73.

The addition to the contract of the additional liability of $1,487.60,
without the consent of the defendants, voids the contract. Koch Mecd-
ical Tea Co. v. Poitras (N. D.) 161 N. W. 727.

The guarantors, by so signing, were not estopped to deny liability on
the amount thereafter filled in without their consent. Ibid.

Gracg, J. This action is one by plaintiff to recover upon a bond
claimed to have been signed by these defendants as sureties. The case
was tried to the court and a jury. The verdict of the jury was in
defendants’ favor. Judgment was entered thereon, and from it the
plaintiff appeals.

The material facts, briefly stated, are as follows: Plaintiff is a
manufacturer of certain medicines, extracts, ete. It is a corporation.
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Its principal place of business is at Winona, Minncsota. It sells its
product at wholesale prices to those who will undertake the sale thereof,
who are required to confine their sales to territory specified in a written
contract, which sets forth the agreement of the parties in detail.

One contracting with plaintiff is required to canvass the territory
allotted to him under the contract at least three times a year, at his own
cost and expense, and is required to provide a team, wagon, and outfit.
He is required to keep a record of all the goods disposed of by him,
and to make weekly written reports of all sales and collections, and of
the goods on hand and outstanding accounts. Ile is also required to
pay the freight or express, if any. At the termination of the contract,
Le agrees to pay the amount remaining unpaid. He also had the privi-
lege of paying for the goods in cash within ten days from the date of
invoice, and receive a 3 per cent discount, provided that full payment
for all goods previously purchased had then been made.

Sufficient has been stated to indicate the nature of the contract. The
plaintiff entered into a contract of the character above indicated with
one R. C. Hill, of the state of North Dakota. The territory in which
Hill might sell plaintiff’s product was Sargent county, North Dakota.

The date of the contract is December 1, 1916. It would appear that,
before the time of this contract, Hill had been engaged in selling
plaintif’s product, and thereby became indebted to it, in the sum of
about $1,487.60. The contract contained a provision whereby Hill
promised to pay the company the indebtedness due it at the date of the
contract. The time of payment thereof was extended during the time
of the contract, which terminated on the 1st day of March, 1918.

Under certain conditions, the company had the right to limit or
discontinue the sales, and either party could terminate the written agrec-
ment upon giving the other notice in writing; and, in that event, any
indebtedness owing the company became immediately due and payable.
The contract was signed by the company and by R. C. Hill. Tmmediate-
ly following Hill’s signature is the following:

“In consideration of $1 in hand paid by the J. R. Watkins Medical
Company, the rcccipt whereof is hereby acknowledged and the execu-
tion of the foregoing agreement, which we have read or heard read and
hereby assent to, and the sale and dclivery by it to the party of the
seeond part as vendcee, of its medicines, extracts, and other articles, and
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the extension of the time of payment of the indcbtedness due from him
to said company, as therein provided, we, the undersigned sureties, do
hereby waive notice of acceptance of this agrcement and diligence in
bringing action against the second party, and jointly, severally, and
unconditionally promise and guarantee the full and complete payment
of said sum and indebtedness and for said medicines, extracts, and other
articles, and of the prepaid freight, and express charges thereon, at
the time and place, and in the manner in said agreement provided.”

Plaintiff claims that the foregoing was signed by F. G. Payne and
C. O. Greenley. The action is upon the contract, to recover of the de-
fendants the sum of $1,724.03, $1,487.60 of which is claimed to be the
past indebtedness of 1lill, and $236.43, the amount remaining unpaid
for certain merchandise purchased during the time the contract under
consideration was in force.

Payne and Greenley interposed separate answers. Payne’s answer,
after a general denial, in substance, alleges that during May, 1917,
Hill requested the defendant to sign the instrument, which he repre-
sented to be a statement showing that he made regular trips through
that territory, sclling the medicine of plaintiff; that, before the paper
was signed by defendant, Hill represented that he was acting in behalf
and at the request of the plaintiff, in securing signatures to said paper,
and as its agent; that Hill represented to him that the paper signed con-
tained no obligation on the part of the defendant, in any manner or
form; that thc defendant can read and write with difficulty; that the
instrument signed by him contained no typewriting near the bottom,
as shown in the contract, to wit, “Fourteen hundred eighty-seven and
60/100 dollars;” that the plaintiff, without the knowledge, procure-
ment, or consent of the defendant, knowingly and frandulently altered
the paper signed by defendant, by inserting in the blank space referred
to the following words, to wit: “Fourteen hundred eighty-seven and
#0/100 dollars;” that the paper was wholly without consideration.

Greenley’s answer, after a general denial, states that Hill came to
him about December 1, 1916, asking him to sign an instrument in the
form of a contract or bond, on the printed form of plaintiff. e sets
forth substantially the same representations made by Hill as to agency,
as are contained in the answer of Payne, the same statement of fact
relative to the fraudulent insertion of the item of $1,487.60; and that
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Hill represented to him, that the instrument he was asked to sign was
for future advances from the plaintiff to him; and that when the con-
tract was presented to him, it contained, as a first signer, the name of
W. E. Hill, father of R. C. IIill, with whom defendant was well ac-
quainted, and upon whose prior signature he relied, and was induced
and influenced to sign because of it; that thereafter R. C. Hill returned
to the defendant and requested the execution, by the defendant, of an-
other instrument of the same general form as the one first signed, stat-
ing that the instrument formerly signed was not satisfactory to the
company ; that, relying upon defendant’s belief that R. C. Hill was
the agent of plaintiff, for the purposc of procuring signatures to the
contract, defendant signed the second instrument as prescnted, which
did not contain the typewriting near the bottom of the contract, “four-
teen hundred eighty-scven and 60/100 dollars.”

Then follows an allegation alleging the fraudulent alteration of the
instrument, and the insertion of the item of fourteen hundred cighty-
seven and 60/100 dollars; and further, that, at the time the second in-
strument was signed, the name of W. E. 11ill was signed in the place
left for the first signer, and that defendant was induced and influenced
to sign as a second signer, by virtue of his reliance upon the financial
standing and integrity of W. E. IHill; and that had his name not ap-
peared on the bond or contract at the head of the place that he was
asked to sign, he would not have signed the same. He denics that, at
this time, Payne’s name was on the instrument, and denies any con-
sideration for the alleged contract.

Plaintiff interposed reply to each answer, among other things setting
forth that the contract expressly provides that the contract may not be
changed or modified in any respeet, except in writing by the partics
thereto ; and that the contract provided that R. C. Hill had no power nor
anthority to incur any debt, obligation, or liability of any kind what-
soever, in the name of, or for, or on account of, the said company, cte.

The principal issues as to Payne arc:

(1) Did he execute the contract upon which suit is maintained ?

(2) If the indebtedness of $1,487.60 was not inserted in the agrce-
ment at the time the same was executed by him, was it inserted by the
eompany, without authority, after its return to it?

As to Greenley, the issnes are:
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(1) Did R. C. Hill, in procuring Greenley to execute the contract,
make statcments and representations to the effect that W. E. Hill had
signed as first surety ; and that the contract was for future indebtedness
and not for past?

(2) The same as No. 2, supra, of Payne’s case.

Appellant has specified twenty-two errors. We have considered each
of them, but will discuss only such as are of importance and necessary
in reaching a determination of the questions presented in this appeal.

Payne’s defenses, that he never signed the contract sued upon, and
that the contract was altered in the manner above stated, are claimed
by appellant to be inconsistent, and that for this reason the second
defense is not available. In this contention appellant is in crror.

Under tho provisions of subdivision 2 of § 7449, Comp. Laws 1913,
Payne could plead and offer proof of every defense he had to the con-
tract, though such defenses might be inconsistent.

It is not difficult to discern that the statute is of much importance in
the preservation of valuable rights to a defendant. To illustrate, the
defendant in the present case may have been absolutely certain that he
never signed the contract sued upon, but it might also appear that his
name was signed to the contract, and that the signature was so similar
in appearance to his genuine signature that it might be difficult to prove
that the purported signature was not his; that there might be adduced
such evidence as would lead the jury to believe that the signature at-
tached to the instrument was his, though, in fact, it was not.

In such circumstances, we do not think that the defendant should be
precluded from asserting any other defense he had to the contract, even
though inconsistent with the defense that he had not signed the con-
tract ; for he was not liable if he never signed the contract ; neither was
he liable if it were found that he did sign the contract, if the contract
were materially altered after it was signed, without the consent of
defendant, and after it came under control of plaintiff. Certainly there
was no error in permitting inconsistent defenses.

Error is assigned, by refusal to reccive in evidence exhibit “1” (the
contract upon which suit is brought) under the admissions, in the
scparate answer of Payne. In this, there was no error. Payne, in his
answer, did not admit signing exhibit “1.” Hec there states that Hill
came to him and requested him to sign an instrument or paper. This



WATKINS MEDICAL COMPANY v. PAYNE 107

is far from admitting the execution of the alleged contract sought to be
introduced in evidence, in the manner above stated.

It is true, he did sign an instrument, but the testimony shows this to
have been Exhibit “2,”” which was signed by him in pencil, and that his
signature was thereafter traced in ink by somcone.

The company received this instrument, but was not satisfied with
the manner in which it was executed, and detached the signatures from
it and returned them to Hill, requesting him to have a new contract
executed, the blank for which it inclosed him. This is the contract
which is marked exhibit “1,” and upon which the plaintiff seeks to re-
cover, and which purports to be signed by Payne, and is admitted to
have been signed by Greenley.

Payne’s testimony is to the effect that he never signed this contract;
that Hill never came back (meaning after the time the first contract
was signed) and asked him to sign any other paper in connection with
the Watkins Company petition or any other petition; that he was not
there in the latter part of May or in the first part of June, asking him
to sign the papers.

Opposed to this testimony are photographs of certain instruments
introduced, containing the genuine signature of Payne, the purpose
being to show that the signature thereon was the same as that on ex-
hibit “1,” which is claimed by plaintiff to be that of Payne.

Certain bankers compared Payne’s genuine signature on these in-
struments, with that on the contract, and pronounced them as written
by the same hand. Whether the signature to the contract was the signa-
ture of Paync was a question of fact for the jury, nunder all the evi-
dence adduced in that regard.

The jury, by its general verdict, determined all the issues in the
case in favor of Payne, and necessarily determined that he never signed
exhibit “1.””  That there is substantial evidence in the record to sustain
the verdict, there is not the least doubt.

Payne should be more familiar with, and know his signature with
greater certainty than any other person. ITe knew he signed the first
contract, which mever became cfTective. He also should know, as a
matter of fact, whether he did sign the second contract, and his testi-
mony, to the effect that he did not, and that the signature thercon was
not his, is substantial evidence in that regard: and according to his
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testimony, Hill never saw him in the latter part of May or in the first
part of June, when, as the evidence shows, the second contract was
signed by parties other than Payne; and there is no other testimony
showing that Hill did scc him at that time. IIill was neither a party
to this action nor a witness in the case. The relation of Payne and
Greenley on the contract was that of surety.

Payne’s further defense is to the effect that the contract was ma-
terially altered by the insertion of the item of $1,487.60.

The plaintiff claims there is no alteration of the contract. It con-
tained a printed provision as follows:

“Tho party of the sccond part (Hill) herchy promises to pay said
company, at Winona, Minn., during the term of this agreement, the
indebtedness now due it, for goods and other articles sold and delivered
to him, as vendee, f. 0. b. cars at its regular places of shipment, pay-
ment of which is hereby extended during said term. The partics here-
to, for the purpose of settling and determining the amount now due,
hereby mutually agree that the said indebtedness now due company is
the sum of ————— dollars, which sum the second party agrees to pay,
and payment of which is extended, as above provided. And it is fur-
ther mutually agrecd that either of the parties hereto may terminate
this agreement at any time by giving the other party notice thercof in
writing by mail, and any indebtedness then owing from said second
party to said company shall thereupon be and become immediately duve
and payable.”

Tt is claimed the contract having provided for the pavment of the
indebtedness, that insertion of the sum of the indebtedness, by the plain-
tiff, after the execution of the contract and delivery of it, would not con-
stitute an alteration of it.

We are of the opinion, upon consideration of the language of the con-
tract above quoted, that it did not amount to a contract to pay an un-
determined or unknown amount of indebtedness from Hill to the plain-
tiff, and that to give effect thereto, it was necessary to insert the specific
amount of such indebtedness.

It is true the language is: “The parties hereto, for the purpose of
settling and determining the amount now due, hereby mutually agree,
ete.,” but, in the eircumstances here, this would really mean nothing,
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unless the blank, at the time the contract was signed, was filled in, with
the amount of indebtedness then determined to be due.

There is competent evidence, substantial in quantity, to show that,
in the contract Payne signed, and at the time he signed it, the amount
of the indebtedness, in the sum of $1,487.60, was not inserted therein.

He testified that Hill represented that what he wanted him to sign
was a petition showing that he made three trips a year; that Hill read
part of it to him. Payne, at the trial, in answer to a question, said:
“I asked him if there was any money in any form in that (meaning
what he termed a petition) and if there was, I would not have anything
to do with it, and he said there was not anything in there. He said, ‘I
bave read it to you.”” Payne has little education. He stopped attend-
ing school at the age of thirteen years, and he was then in the third
grade.

On cross-examination, he testified:

Q. Did you scrutinize this contract sufficiently close to sce that this
typewriting “fourteen hundred eighty-seven and 60/100 dollars” was
not typewritten in there ?

A. Yes, sir.

Later in the cross-examination, he was asked the following question:

Q. You cannot say for sure whether that amount was typewritten in
there ?

A. Yes, sir. Tt was not there. T looked to sec if there was any moncey
written in. .

There is some other testimony having some weight in this regard,
but it is not necessary to refer to it. Sufficient has been said to show
that appellant’s claim, that Payne’s defense in this regard has no sup-
port in the evidence, is absolutely without any merit.

The jury having returned a verdict in favor of each defendant, and
the same being supported by substantial evidence, it must be held that
the jury determined, by its general verdiet, that the words “fourteen
hundred eighty-seven and 60/100 dollars” were not in the contract
signed by Payne, at the time he signed it, nor in the contracts admitted-
Iy signed by Greenley.

It would seem to follow that the insertion of the amount must have
occurred after the return of the contract to plaintiff, and that the same
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was made by plaintiff or someone acting under his direction or authority.

The insertion of the amount of the indcbtedness, in the blank space,
by plaintiff, or its agents, after the same had been returned to it, or
after defendants signed, was a material alteration of the contract, the
legal effect of which was to release defendant from all obligation under
it. See § 5940, Comp. Laws 1913.

That the alteration of the contract, in the manner above shown, was a
material one, and extinguished the executory obligations contained in
it, in favor of plaintiff, the defendants never having consented thereto.
Sce Porter v. Hardy, 10 N. D. 551, 88 N. W. 458.

The filling in of the blank, in the manner as shown by the evidence,
was a material alteration of the instrument. J. R. Watkins Medical Co.
v. Miller, 40 S. D. 505, 168 N. W. 373 ; Dr. Koch Medical Tca Co. v.
Poitras, 36 N. D. 144, 161 N, W. 727. This case is clearly distinguish-
able from that of Merchants’ Nat. Bank v. Brastrup, 39 N. D. 619, 168
N. W. 42. ‘

‘What has been said with reference to the legal cffect of the material
alteration of the contract applies, in the proceeding, against cach defend-
ant.

A further reason why Greenley should be wholly discharged from the
contract is that when he first signed it, it was on the strength that the
name of W. E. Hill appeared as the first surety. R. C. Hill had repre-
sented to him that his father would first be responsible on the bond, be-
fore there would be any liability on his part.

It would seem, from the evidence, that Greenley knew that W. E.
Till was of some financial worth, and that he relied upon his being first
surety. This was also true at the time of signing of the second bond
or contract. His testimony shows that he signed each time in pencil.
The contract appears with the name of Payne as first surety and Green-
ley as sccond surety.

Greenley having a verdict, the jury must have determined that each
time Greenley signed the bond the name of W. E. Hill appeared as first
surcty, and that it was upon the strength of that that he signed the
hond.

There is no need to refer to all the evidence in this regard. Suffice
it to say there is substantial evidence to sustain the verdiet.

Where one signs his name as surety, after the name of a preceding
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surety, whose name is erased without his knowledge or consent, it con-
siitutes & material altcration of his contract, which operates to release
him from liability. Cass County v. American Exch. State Bank, 9 N.
D. 263, 83 N. W. 12; Hagler v. State, 31 Neb. 144, 28 Am. St. Rep.
514, 47 N. W. 692,

There is substantial evidence to show that the $1,487.60 was not in
any of the contracts at the time they were signed by either of the de-
fendants. The testimony conclusively shows that the above amount was
written in the contracts in the plaintifP’s office.

The verdict of the jury being in defendants’ favor, it must have nec-
essarily decided that the sum above mentioned was not in the contracts
when signed by defendants, and that it was thereafter inserted by the
plaintiff, without any authority from the defendants to do so.

A stenographer in the employ of plaintiff testifies, in substance, that
she did all the typing, wherc the same appears on the contracts.

We think the contract must be considered as an entire, and not a
geverable, one. It was all one contract and indivisible. The material
alteration of it destroyed it entirely. Schlosser v. Moores, 16 N. D.
185, 112 N. W. 78.

After a full consideration of the case, we are fully satisfied there is
no error in the admission or exclusion of evidence, nor in the ruling
upon objections, nor in the giving of instructions, nor in the refusal to
give special instructions, requested by the plaintiff. There is sub-
stantial evidence to sustain the verdict in favor of each defendant.

The judgments appealed from are affirmed. Respondents are entitled
to their costs and disbursements on appeal

R. 8. BROOKINGS, Respondent, v. NORTHERN PACIFIC RAIL-
WAY COMPANY, a Corporation, Appellant.

(180 N. W. 972.)

Trial = instruction in action for kllling of live stock held erroneous,
assuming and singling out facts.

In an action to recover of a railway company the value of a certain stallion

killed at a crossing by one of the railway company’s train, the fireman on a
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train which went over the place where the stallion was killed, at or about the
time he was killed, testified that the train on which he was such fireman struck
& horse at that time and place, that he kept a lookout on the side of the track
where the horse went upon the track; that the horse was not visible from where
the engineer was seated keeping a lookout; that the engincer had died hefore
the action was commenced. The plaintiff testified that the stallion went out
of the pasture where he was kept between 2 o’clock r. M., and dark on Novem-
ber 9, 1912, That plaintiff went down to the crossing in the evening of Novem-
ber 9, 1912, but saw nothing of the stallion; that he went there again in the
morning of Novembher 10, 1912, and saw blood, hair, and portions of the entrails
on the west end of the planks in the crossing, and that from there to a dis-
tance some 150-200 feet west of the crossing, where the mangled body of the
stallion lay, there were marks showing that the stallion had been dragged vy
the train. There was no evidence, and no contention, that any other horse
had been killed or injured at that particular time and place.

1t is held that the trial court erred in instructing the jury:

1. That, even though they found that the defendant was not negligent in the
operation of the train that struck the horse concerning which the fireman tes-
tified, they might find that the horse had been killed by some other train,
concerning which defendant had offered no explanation.

ﬁallroads — instruction on lookout erroneous.

2. That it was the particular duty of the engineer to keep & lookout for
live stock.

Trial — instruction to find full value shown held erroneous.
3. That in event they found for the plaintiff, they must return & verdict for
the full amount demanded by the plaintiff.

Opinion filed December 28, 1920.

From a judgment of the District Court of Stark County, Lembke, J.,
defendant appeals.

Reversed and remanded for a new trial.

W. F. Burnett and Young, Conmy, & Young, for appellant.

In a case of this kind negligence proximately causing the loss must
be shown. And where the killing is explained, plaintiff’s case gets no
support in the statutory presumption. Corbett v. G. N. R. Co. 19 N.
D. 456, 125 N. W. 1054 ; Stoeber v. Soo (N. D.) 168 N. W. 562.

Proximate cause was not mentioned, and the jury simply found for
the plaintiff on general principles. Under the holdings of this court
the judgment should not be permitted to stand. Stoeber v. Soo R. Co.
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supra; Anderson v. Soo (N. D.) 123 N. W. 28; Corbett v. G. N. R. Co.
23 N. D. 136 ; Duneau v. G. N. R. Co. 17 N. D. 610, 118 N. W. 826.

Defendant’s employees, in operating its train, were not required to
keep a lookout for trespassing stock. Bostwick v. R. Co. 2 N. D. 450,
51 N. W. 781; Hodgins v. R. Co. 3 N. D. 389, 56 N. W. 139; O’Leary
v. Elevator Co. 7 N. D. 554, 41 L.R.A. 677, 75 N. W. 919; Wright v.
M.St.P.&S. S. M. R. Co. 12 N. D. 163.

8. E. Ellsworth, for respondent.

“The killing or damaging of any horses, cattle, or other stock by the
cars or locomotive along a railroad shall be prima facie evidence of
carelessness and negligence on the part of the corporation.” Comp.
Laws 1913, § 4644.

“Generally the corporation operating a railway train and its em-
ployees possess the only information relating to negligence in operating
the train, and this is why the burden is taken from the plaintiff, after
proving the ownership and the killing, and placed upon the defendant.”
Corbett v. Great Northern R. Co. 19 N. D. 450, 125 N. W. 1034.

“The questions of negligence and contributory negligence are, where
there is any material conflict in the testimony, questions of fact for the
Jury, rather than the court, to pass on.” Corbett v. Great Northern
R Co.29 N. D. 136, 148 N. W. 4.

“The dnuty of a railway company and its employees in case of stock
trespassing upon its right of way is to exercise ordinary care not to
injure it after it is discovered to be in a place of danger.” McDonell v.
Soo Line, 17 N. D. 606, 118 N. W. 819. '

Curistiansow, Ch. J. This is an action to recover damages for the
loss of a certain stallion. In his complaint, the plaintiff alleges: That
the defendant at all times mentioned in the complaint operated a line of
nailway through and across the county of Stark; that on November 9,
1912, the plaintiff was the owner and in full possession and control of
a pure-blooded Percheron stallion, Prince Albert, registered No. 65,485,
age about three years, and of the value of $2,000.

“That on the 9th day of November, A. p., 1912, while said stallion.
Prince Albert, belonging to plaintiff as aforesaid, was rightfully and

properly upon a public crossing over the railroad track of said defendant
47 N. D.—S8.
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and upon grounds included in a public highway, near said station of
Richardton, county and state aforesaid, the agents and employees of de-
fendant, operating a train upon said railway, approached said crossing
at a high rate of speed without blowing the whistle or ringing the bell
upon the engine of said train, or giving any of the signals required by

law; and, knowing that said stallion was upon said cressing and in a
- position of peril from said approaching train, negligently, carelessly,
and wilfully caused said train to run upon, against, and over said stal-
lion, thereby injuring and wounding him so that shortly thcreafter he
died. That by reason of the facts aforesaid, and by negligent and wil-
ful act of the servants, agents, and employees of said defendant in oper-
ating said train upon said tracks as aforesaid, without fault on his part,
plaintiff has sustained damage and injury in the sum of $2,000.” The
answer denied generally the allegations of the complaint; and denied.
specifically that the stallion was of the value alleged in the complaint.
The answer further denied that the stallion was injured by reason of the
negligence of the defendant or its servants, and alleged the fact to be
that the stallion was injured because of plaintiff’s own negligence. The
case was tried to a jury, verdict was returned in favor of the plaintiff
for the full amount demanded in the complaint. Judgment was entered
pursuant to the verdict, and defendant has appealed from such judg-
ment.

Plaintiff offered evidence showing that he owned the stallion in con-
troversy, and that he kept him at his ranch, some 2} miles east of
Richardton, in Stark county in this state; that the buildings on plain-
tif’s ranch, and a pasture adjacent thereto consisting of about 250
acres, lay on the north side of the defendant’s line of railway ; that such
pasture lay in two sections; that the plaintiff had placed a gate where
the fence running along the south side of such pasture intersected the
section line, said gate being about a quarter of a mile directly north of
the crossing at which the stallion was killed. Plaintiff testified that
about 2:00 o’clock in the afternoon on November 9, 1912, he went to
Richardton ; that at the time he left, he observed that the stallion was in
the pasture. In going to Richardton, the plaintiff went through the
gate, which he says that he closed after passing through it. According
to his testimony he returned “about dark.” When asked to tell the
time, he says, “He supposed [he returned home] between 5 and 6
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o'clock.” On his return he found the gate open, and, on arriving at the
Larn, he found only “part of the bunch of horses that the stallion was
running with there.” He thereupon went down to the crossing but
found no horses there. He found some of the horses at a point between
the crossing and the stable and drove those horses back toward the barn.
Ile says that there was no snow on the ground; that it was not stormy,
but that he thinks it was a little cloudy.

The following questions and answers are quoted from his direct ex-
amination.

Q. Did you go over the crossing to the south ¢

A. Yes, I went over to the crossing; I don’t know as I went over the
crossing,

Q. Did you find him anywhere?

A. 1 didn’t see any evidence of him at all.

Q. Did you make such search as you could in the condition as to
light ¢

A. Yes, sir. I didn’t search very much because I didn’t see the horse
or the body of it at the crossing. I didn’t suppose he was there.

Q. You looked about did you, looked about as long as you could ?

A. T looked about the crossing. I didn’t find the horse. I didn't
look very much because I thought perhaps I was mistaken; that the
horse was still maybe at home, and I went back to the stable.

Q. When you went back was he there?

A. No, sir.

Q. You took the other horses back with you ?

A. Yes, sir, what I found.

Plaintiff further testified that he went to the crossing in question the
next morning and saw “blood, hair, entrails, and everything clse on the
crossing and west of the crossing;” that there was blood upon the planks
of the crossing; that those marks extended from a point on, and abont 5
or 6 feet from the west end of the crossing until a considerable distance
(about 150200 feet) west of the crossing, where he found the dead
body of the stallion; that at that time the section crew of the defendant
was engaged in digging a hole in the ground in which to bury the body.
Plaintiff’s testimony further shows that east of the crossing at which
the animal was killed, the railway tracks extend in a straight line for a
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distance of about 3,200 feet; that beyond that point there is a slight
curv: toward the north for a distance of about 630 feet.

The defendant’s witness, Hunke, testified that he was a fireman on
defendant’s train No. 5; that this train passed over the crossing in
question, about midnight, on the night that plaintiff’s stallion was
killed ; that the engineer in charge of the train is now dead; that the
train hit a horse on the crossing in question, on that particular night;
that as the train approached the crossing, he (Hunke) was on thc
bench keeping a lookout ahead; that the headlight was in good order
and focuscd directly on the track ahcad, but that the light would illumi-
nate so as to make objeets visible for a distance of about 100 fect on
cach side of the track; that as they approached the crossing, they were
traveling at between 40 and 50 miles an hour; that he was seated so
that he could and did keep a lookout on the south side of the track;
that shortly before reaching the crossing some horses moved onto the
track; that the train was then only a short distance away, and that it
was impossible to stop the train after seeing the horses; that the engi-
neer could not bave seen the horses as they came on to the track, from
where he was seated,—he being scated on the north side of the cab;
that the train hit one of the horses; that this was evidenced by the
rumbling of the wheels passing over the body of the horse, as well as by
the stench which arose from the entrails and blood of the horse, coming
in contact with the hot pipes or the front of the engine; that the bell
was not rung, but that the whistle was blown for the crossing.

Plaintiff also introduced evidence that at the time of the accident the
defendant operated four west-bound passenger trains, No. 3, which
passed through Richardton about 1:30 in the afternoon; No. 5, which
passed through there abont midnight; No. 1, which passed through
there about 1:30 a. ar.; and No. 7, which passcd through there at about
5:15 p. M. ; that there also was a fast freight which went through there
"during the night, and that usually there were other west-bound freights
during the night.

On this appeal defendant asserts that the plaintiff has failed to estab-
lish actionable negligence on the part of the defendant. While the
case is a close one, we are not prepared to hold as a matter of law that
the defendant overcame the statutory presumption of negligence (Comp.
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Laws 1913, § 4644) raised by the fact that the horse was killed by de-
fendant’s train.

The defendant next contends that the court erred in its instructions
to the jury. This contention, we believe, is well founded and must be
sustained. The court instructed the jury in part thus: “Now, gentle-
men of the jury, in this case we have the railroad coming in here and
denying that they are liable. Then, the railroad comes in here and sets
up an explanation with refercnce to one train only, and that is No. 7.
Now, under the evidence of this case there are two trains that have
passed this crossing between 5 o’clock and midnight the same afternoon
and night. There is no evidence before you as to which train actually
killed the horse; the horse that stood on the track was never identified
by either the plaintiff or the defendant. The case stands this way.
Supposing that the railroad company has established to your satis-
faction a good and valid excuse for the killing of the horse by train No.
T—no, by train No. 5, that still would leave train No. 7, which arrives
at Richardton at 5:15 p. M. uncontradicted. The question is left open
there as to whether, perhaps, No. 5 may not have killed the horse; and
it is up to you, jurymen, to find as to whether No. 5 has killed the horse
or not from the evidence introduced in this case.”

Later in his instructions the court said: “The court further in-
structs the jury that the law is that when a man proves that he owns
live stock, and that it was killed upon the track of the railroad com-
pany, the law raises the presumption of negligence as against the rail-
road company, and when there is no showing to the contrary, no ex-
planation on the part of the railroad company, then the man is entitled
to recover. Gentlemen of the jury, this is applicable especially to train
No.7 . . . i

Plaintiff contends that these instructions were correct under the rule
announced by this court in Wright v. Minneapolis, St. P. & S. Ste. M.
R. Co. 12 N. D. 159, 96 N. W. 324, and Andecrson v. Minneapolis, St.
P.& S. Ste. M. R. Co. 18 N. D. 462, 123 N. W. 281. In our opinion
these cases readily distinguish themselves from the case at bar. In the
Wright Case, the plaintiff introduced evidence showing that he owncd
two cows which had been killed by some train belonging to the Soo Rail-
way Company. The defendant introduced evidence by the engineer of
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the east-going passenger train which passed the place where the cattle
were killed, on the morning of the day when they were killed. The
court held that the testimony adduced by the defendant overcame the
statutory presumption of negligence, and entitled the railway company
to discharge as to this part of the plaintiff’s claim. The testimony of
the engineer and fireman related to the killing of one cow only, and the
circumstances surrounding the death of the other cow were such as to
indicate that that cow could not have been killed by that train, but must
have been killed by a train moving in an opposite direction. Hence,
there was no evidence whatever on the part of the defendant to overcome
the statutory presumption of negligence as to the train which must have
killed the second cow, and the court held that the verdict must be sus-
tained as to the second cow for this reason. The portion of the opinion
in the Wright Case dealing with this particular phase of the case is as
follows: “Defendant, to overcome the prima facie case so made by its
adversary, introduced as witnesses the engincer and fireman of the pas-
senger train No. 108, which passed the place where these cattle were
killed, going east on the morning of March 2, 1901. The testimony of
these witnesses disclosed the killing of one only of the cows by this
train, but under circumstances which, in the judgment of the trial court,
fully overcame the statutory presumption of negligence, and entitled
the defendant to a discharge as to this part of plaintifPs demand.
Hodgins v. Minneapolis, St. P. & S. Ste. M. R. Co. 3 N. D. 382, 56 \.
W. 139. The remittitur of $30, ordered by the trial court on the mo-
tion for a new trial, was for the value of this cow. As to the second
cow included in the verdict, the evidence was such as to indicate that
it was killed by a train going west, and therefore could not have been
killed by passenger train No. 108, which killed the first one. This
second cow was found dead ncar the track, about 2 rods west of the
highway crossing. From a point about 25 rods east of this crossing
there were footmarks for 7 or 8 rods, where ‘the cow had made great
leaps along the track; also evidence indicating that she had been
dragged west along the track 15 rods, leaving marks of blood, hair,
horns, and hide on the track, to the point near which the broken and
bruised body was found. This evidence is not reconcilable with the
theory that the cow was killed by a train moving in an easterly diree-
tion. The jury must have found, as they had a right to do if they be-
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lieve this evidence, that this cow was killed by some other train, and not
by passenger train No. 108. Defendant offered no evidence to meet this
condition of the proof. The statutory presumption of negligence from
the killing of this cow by defendant’s train was not overcome, and is
sufficient to sustain the verdict for her value.” 12 N. D. 162.

In the Anderson Case the defendant defended on the theory “that it
did not injure the horse;” and in the supreme court it strenuously
argued that there was no evidence “to warrant the jury in finding that
the defendant inflicted the injury which resulted in the killing of the
horse.”” 18 N. D. 465. The railway company in that case called as its
witnesses the engineer and fireman of a certain train which passed over
the place where the horse was injured. These witnesses testified that
they discovered the injured horse lying in the ditch alongside the rail-
road track, and that they notified the station agent to send someone back
to look after it. According to their testimony, however, the train which
they operated did not injure the horse at all. Hence, we have this
situation,—the horse was found under such circumstances that the only
reasonable inference was that it had been injured by a passing train.
The statute raised the presumption that the injury was occasioned by
the negligence of the railroad company. If the testimony of the engi-
neer and brakeman was true, the fact would still remain that the horse
had been injured by a train belonging to the defendant in that case, and
no evidence was adduced as to the such other trains. The court, also,
held that the circumstances in the case were in direct conflict with the
testimony of the trainmen, and that the jury might well have coneluded
that the train which they operated injured the horse. The court said:
“The circumstances surrounding the injury to this horse are such that
the jury may have found that they clearly indicated the injury of the
animal by a train, and, while not equally as clear, we think strongly
point toward the train in question, notwithstanding the testimony of the
trainmen. The jury may well have found that the condition of the
animal could be explained in no other manner, and that the testimony
of the engineer and fireman was false.”

In this case the situation is wholly different from that which existed
in the Wright and Anderson Cases. In this case, the defendant dors
not deny that one of its trains killed the horsc at the time and place
where plaintiff’s horse was found dead the next morning. And there
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is not even the slightest intimation in the proof that more than one
horse was killed at that time and place. The plaintiff,—who lives close
to where the horse was killed,—according to his testimony, went down
to the crossing between 7 and 8 o’clock on the morning of November
10th, and he then observed the blood, hair, and entrails on the west end
of the crossing, and that from that place to the point where the mangled
body of his stallion lay. Similar substances were found on the rails and
ties. The same condition was testified to by one Mottershead, another
witness called by the plaintiff, who was there and saw the horse being
buried by the scetion crew on the morning of November 10th. The
cevidence will be searched in vain for even an intimation that any other
horse was injured or killed at that particular crossing on that particular
night. It will also be noted that the court, in its instructions, singles
out train No. 7, as the one which might have killed the horse. Accord-
ing to the evidence offered by plaintiff this train was due to arrive
at Richardton at 5:15 p. m. Hence, of course, it would pass the place
where the stallion was killed some time earlier. It will be noted that
the court says: ‘There is no evidence before yon as to which train
actually killed the horse.” He further statcs that the horse which stoed
on the track has never been identified by either the plaintiff or the de-
fendant. Of course, it goes without saying that the engineer and fire-
man of a train going at between 40 and 50 miles an hour cannot identify
an animal with great particularity. If the instruction given in this
caso is correct, it would doubtless be correct in every case in which an
animal is killed by a train, especially during the nighttime. It will
also be noted that the court singled out the hours between 5:00 in the
afternoon and midnight. According to plaintiff’s testimony, he arrived
at his home on his return from Richardson about dark, and according
to his “supposition” the time was between 5:00 and 6:00 o’clock. After
returning home he walked from his place down to the crossing. The
instruction related to a matter which the defendant could not, under
any reasonable view, have anticipated would he injected into the lawsuit.
It not only assumed a state of facts for which there was no basis in
the evidence, but, in instructing with reference to the statutory pre-
sumption of negligence, the trial court singled out train No. 7, and
suggested to the jury that the statutory presumption was particularly
applicable thereto. In this state a trial court has no right to comment
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on facts, or express an opinion on the weight of the evidence. The
inference to be drawn from the facts in evidence are for the jury. And
it is a general rule that a misstatement of the evidence on a material
fact to the prejudice of the party complaining is reversible error. In
any view of the case, we are of the opinion that the giving of this in-
struction constituted reversible error.

The court also instructed the jury thus: “The court instruects the
jury that it was the duty of the defendant’s engincer to keep a lookout
for stock upon its tracks, and to use ordinary care to avoid injury to
stock after they had been discovered or after he might have discovered
them by use of ordinary care and diligence.”” We also believe that this
instruction was erroncous. In this case the engineer was dead. The
action was not brought until between five and six years after the horsc
was killed, and in the meantime the engincer had died, so it was im-
possible for the defendant to produce his testimony. It will be noted
that the court in its instruction places the duty to keep a lookout upon
the “engineer.” By the very nature of things there may be situations
wherein it will be practically impossible for the enginecer to keep a
lookout on both sides. An examination of varicus reported cases dis-
closed that in many of them the fireman as well as the engincer was
keeping a lookout at the time and place where an accident occurred.
Tt is the duty of the defendant to keep a lookout at a crossing, but it is
beyond the province of the court to say that this duty must be performed
by any particular person.

The court, also, instructed the jury: “If vou find from the evidence
that the plaintiff is entitled to a verdict, he is entitled to the full
amount, with interest from the date of killing.”” (Later the court
changed the instruction so as to make the allowance of interest discre-
tionary, but permitted the rest of the instruction to stand as given.)

In our opinion, this instruction should not have been given. It is
true defendant offered no evidence as to the value of the stallion. Plain-
tiff, however, had the burden of showing its value. To establish such
value he introduced the testimony of himself and two other witnesses.
Mottershead and Davis.

On this phase of the case, plaintiff testified on his dircct examination
thus:
Q. Now, Mr. Brookings, from your knowledge as you have stated
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it of the qualities of breeding of this stallion, your knowledge of the
market value of horses of that class in this locality, the fact that you
were the owner of this horse and of his sire and dam, can you state the
value of the animal on the 9th day of November, 1912 ¢

A. I think I could.

He further testified that the horse at that time was of the value of
at least $2,000. The witness Mottershead testified that the value of
the horse was “about $2,000.”

The witness Davis testified thus:
Q. What was his value?

A. Oh, I think around $2,000.

Q. About $2,000%

A. Yes, sir.

We are of the opinion that under this evidence the question of value
should have been submitted to the jury, and that it was error for the
trial court to instruct that, in event they found for the plaintiff, they
must fix the value of the horse at the full amount demanded in the com-
plaint, viz.; $2,000. See Chamberlayne, Ev. §§ 2172 et seq.; Shuman
v. Rund, 35 N. D. 384, 160 N. W. 507.

It follows from what has been said that the judgment must be re-
versed and the cause remanded for a new trial. We find it unnecessary
to consider the other errors assigned, as-it is not likely that they will
arise upon another trial.

Reversed and remanded for a new trial.

Bronsor, Rosinson, and Birnzery, JJ., concur.

GraCE, J. (specially concurring). I concur in the reversal of the
judgment and in the remanding of the cause for a new trial.

Under the evidence in this case, the value of the horse was exclusively
a question of fact for the jury. The instruction given, to the effect that
if the jury found from the evidence that plaintiff is entitled to a verdict,
that he is entitled to the full amount, is clearly erroneous. It was an
invasion, by the court, of the province of the jury. The full amount
referred to in the instruction was the value of the stallion, as alleged in
the complaint.
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BANGS, BERRY, & CARSON, a Foreign Corporation, Respondent,
v. J. J. NICHOLS, E. T. Williams, Leonard Retterath, Scan-
dinavian American State Bank of Van Hook, North Dakota, a
Corporation, and Farmers State Bank of Sanish, North Dakota,
a Corporation, and E. E. Balsukot, Appellants.

(181 N. W. 87.)

Chattel mortgages — Frauds, Statute of — evidence held to sustain judg-
ment of foreclosure by action; sale of part of mortgaged herd gives
right to foreclose; verbal agreement extending time of payment of
note held within Statute of Frauds.

Plaintiff, as assignee of mortgagee, commenced foreclosure by advertisement
of a certain chattel mortgage, which was restrained by order of court, after
which foreclosure by action was had, resulting in a judgment of foreclosure.
Under the evidence it is held, the judgment is right.

Opinion filed December 30, 1920.

Appeal from District Court of Mountrail County, Honorable K. E.
Leighton, Judge.

Judgment affirmed.

John E. Greene, for appellants.

McGee & Goss, for respondent.

The court has repeatedly held that the appellant cannot try his law-
suit on one theory in the trial court, and appeal and attempt.to try it
on another theory in the supreme court. Lynn v. Seby, 29 N. D. 420;
Harris v. Van Vranken (N. D.) 155 N. W. 72; Peterson v. Conlan, 18
N. D. 205, 119 N. W. 367; Movius v. Propper, 22 N. D. 452, 136 N.
W. 942 ; Petree v. Wyman, 159 N. W. 6186.

Geack, J. This action is one to foreclose a certain chattel mortgage
covering certain stock. From a judgment in plaintiff’s favor defend-
ants appeal.

The material facts are as follows:

About the 2d day of July, 1918, defendant Nichols purchased from
Retterath & Williams, 167 head of young steers and heifers, for $9.639.

Prior to the time of said sale, Retterath & Williams had purchased
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the same stock from plaintiff for $9,220.75. Nichols exccuted his
promissory note, payable to Retterath and Williams, for the purchase
price of the stock, and secured it by a chattel mortgage on all of the
stock, and agreed to give a first mortgage in the sum of $1,000, on a
certain quarter scction of land, as additional security, which he never
did.

The note matured on about January 2, 1919, when Nichols gave a
renewal note, which, including the accrued interest on the original note,
amounted to $10,072, bearing interest at the rate of 9 per cent per
annum. It was due July 2, 1919. The two notes and chattel mort-
gage, prior to maturity, were assigned to plaintiff by Retterath and
Williams. On July 2d, Nichols wrote to plaintiff to ascertain if it were
not agreeable to hold the property longer.

A short time thereafter Carson, one of the officials of plaintiff cor-
poration, called upon Nichols and required of him to pay the note,
which was not done, and plaintiff commenced forcclosure of the chatte!
mortgage by advertisement. Nichols turned the eattle over to it. Later,
plaintiff, by an order of the district court, was restrained from procecd-
ing with the foreclosure by advertisement. It proceeded then to fore-
close by action, procured a warrant of seizure, and took possession of
the stock thercunder. The defendant Nichols then rebonded, the
amount of the bond being $24,000.

It is the claim of defendant Nichols that, at the time of the purchase
of the stock, from Retterath and Williams, it was agreed between them,
that he should have two years in which to pay for the stock, but that,
in order to comply with certain bank regulations of a hank at South St.
Paul, it was necessary to have the indebtedness mature at the expira-
tion of six months, when a renewal note wonld be exceuted, for which
the note and chattel mortgage, first executed, should remain as security.
and by continued renewals the matter to be carried until the expiration
of the time alleged to have been agreed upon, as claimed by defendant
Nichols.

Plaintiff denies any such agreement and, as a further defense to it,
pleads the Statutes of Frauds. In addition to this, plaintiff claims the
conditions of the mortgage were violated, by reason of Nichols sellingz
some of the stock, without its written consent. It is undisputed that
Nichols, in violation of the provisions of the mortgage, did sell one bull.
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and that he sold to some Indians one heifer, which died while calving

The case is before this court for trial de novo. Nichols’s testimony
is to the effect that he was to have two years in which to pay for the
cattle, while that of Retterath and Williams is that he was to have
cighteen months. In any event, it would scem that the time which
Nichols claims he was to have in which to pay for the cattle has now ex-
pired. All that is involved in this case at this time is the matter of
costs, which amount to approximately $700.

We are of the opinion there was a default in the mortgage at the
time it was attempted to be foreclosed, for the reason that Nichols had
sold part of the stock. The sale of the bull, without the written or
verbal consent of the plaintiff, and other sales, as shown by the evidence,
was sufficient to constitute a breach of the conditions of the chattel
mortgage, and authorize plaintiff to foreclose the mortgage. There was
no written consent to such sales, and the evidence is insufficient to show
a verbal one.

There is some evidence which tends to show that plaintiff had knowl-
cdge of the alleged agrecment relative to the time of payment, claimed
to have been entered into by Nichols with Retterath and Williams. We
are of the opinion, however, that such evidence is not sufficient to show
a diffcrent agreement than that represented by the notes and chattel
mortgage ; and further, we think the agreement, if any, was of no effect
and was within the statute of frauds.

As we view the matter, at the time foreclosure proceedings were
commenced, the notes secured by the chattel mortgage were due, and
no payment thereof having been made, of the amount claimed to be due
thereon, plaintiff had a legal right to foreclose the chattel mortgage,
pursuant to law.

We can discover nothing in this case which will entitle defendant
Nichols to any relief, nor do we sce any reason why he should escape
the payment of the costs of the litization. Plaintiff had a legal right
to foreclose the mortgage. The conditions authorizing the foreclosure
had become operative. IIe was entitled to a judgment of foreclosure.
A judgment of that character was entered by the trial court. It should
be and is affirmed.

Respondent is entitled to the costs and disbursements on appeal.

Rorrysox. and Broxsox, JJ.
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CHrisTiaNsoN, Ch. J. (concurring). The sole contention of the ap-.
pellants is that there was a verbal agreement that the defendant Nichols
should have two years in which to pay for the cattle, and that the note
which he gave in payment thereof should be rencwed every six months
until the expiration of the two-year period. As stated in the opinion
prepared by Mr. Justice Grace,—at the time this action was com-
menced, the rcnewal note taken by the plaintiff was past due; and there
was, according to the terms of the note and the chattel mortgage, default
in the payment of the indebtedness sccured by the mortgage. There
was also default in the conditions of the mortgage by reason of the sale
of at lcast one head of stock covered by the mortgage.

I agree with Mr. Justice Grace that the evidence adduced by the de-
fendant “is not sufficient to show a different agreement than that repre-
sented by the notes and chattel mortgage.” Apparently a similar con-
clusion was reached by the trial judge, for he found “that default exists
in the terms and conditions of said chattel mortgage in this,—that the
indebtedness, the payment of which is secured by said chattel mortgage,
is past due and wholly unpaid, and the defendant J. J. Nichols has sold
and disposed of a portion of the property described in said chattel mort-
gage.” 1 concur in an affirmance of the judgment.

JACOB SAILER, Respondent, v. UNITED STATES RAILWAY
ADMINISTRATION, W. D. Hines, Director General, and
Northern Pacific Railway Company, a Corporation, Appellants.

(181 N. W. 57.)

Carriers — carrier assuming care of stock for which shipper was to provide
attendant was liable for negligence. .

In an action against a carrier for damages sustained in a live-stock ship-

ment, where there is evidence in the record that milch cows were shipped in

good condition, and where, although shipment was made under a live-stock

" Nore.—On .il;é‘question of statutory duties of carriers of live stock with reference
to care of stock during transportation. see note in 44 L.R.A. 449.

On duty of carrier of live stock as to feeding and watering stock during trans-
portation, see notes in 43 Am. St. Rep. 446, and 63 Am. St. Rep. 554.
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contract which provided for an attendant to accompany the cows, nevertheless
there is evidence in the record from which the jury might find that the com-
pany became aware that the cows were not attended, and thereupon furnished
feed, care, and attention to such cows, it is held, pursuant to the findings of
the jury, that the carrier thereupon assumed a duty and was liable for its
negligence in the performance thereof.

Opinion filed December 31, 1920. Rehearing denied January 18, 1921.

Action in District Court, Mercer County, Lembke, J., to recover
damages upon a live-stock shipment.

Judgment affirmed as to the Director General, and dismissed as to
the Railway Company.

Young, Conmy, & Y oung, for appellants. :

The court erred in refusing to dismiss the action as to Northern
Pacific Railway Company. MecGrath v. Northern P. R. Co. (N. D.)
177 N. W. 383.

In computing delay of shipment of cattle, due consideration must be
made of the stops for feed, water, and rest. St. Louis, I. M. & S. R.
Co. v. Carlisle (Tex. Civ. App.) 78 S. W. 553; Hickey v. Chicago, B.
& Q. R. Co. (Mo. App.) 160 S. W. 24.

For the plaintiff to recover there must be proof of delay. Johnston
v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. (Neb.) 97 N. W. 482; Clevex v. Chicago,
B. & Q. R. Co. (Neb.) 108 N. W. 982,

There must be proof that the delay was neghgent Clark v. St.
Joseph & G. I. R. Co. (Mo. App.) 122 S. W. 318; McDowell v. Mis-
souri P. R. Co. (Mo. App.) 152 S. W. 435.

The court must submit, on his own motion, all the issues raised in
the trial. Moline Plow Co. v. Gilbert, 3 Dak. 239, 15 N. W. 1; Owen
v. Owen, 22 Jowa, 270; Forzen v. IIurd, 20 N. D. 42, 120 N. W. 224:
Barton v. Gray, 57 Mich. 622, 24 N. W. 638 ; Putnam v. Prouty, 24 N.
D. 530; Sackett v. Stone (Ga.) 41 S. E. 564; Dikeman v. Arnold
(Mich.) 40 N. W. 42 Chicago, R. O. & P. R. Co. v. Buskstaff (Neh.)
91 N. W. 426; Boyd v. St. Louis Transit Co. (Mo.) 83 S. W. 287.

Where there are two theories, the court must submit both. Cerrillos
Coal R. Co. v. Descrant (N. M.) 49 Pac. 807; McCarty v. Houston &
T. C. R. Co. (Tex.) 54 S. W. 421.

John Moses and Norton & Kelsch, for respondent.



128 47 NORTH DAKOTA REPORTS

Rosixson, J. On May 16, 1919, plaintiff shipped over the Northern
Pacific Railway from South St. Paul to Hazen, North Dakota, thirty-
one hicad of cows in good condition. Five days afterwards, when the
animals arrived at Hazen, their condition was terrible to behold. They
were nearly starved, many of them were unable to walk or to cat. Six
of them died within a few days. Five cows had calves prematurely,
of which some died in the car and the others died within a few days.
At Hazen a veterinary was called and tried to milk the cows that ha!
calved, but the milk had dried up and turned to putrid matter and the
cows had a high fever. The calves had not sucked them and they had
not becen milked. The value of the animals that survived was greatly
reduced, and the jury gave plaintiff a verdict for damages, $850, with
interest from May 21, 1919. Plaintiff paid freight charges, $110.26.

To quote and book the evidence would scrve only to waste time and
add to the tax burdens. The parties have their copies and strangers
have no interest in the matter.

The counsel does iusist that there is no evidence of negligence on the
part of the carrier, but there is positive evidence to show the good con-
dition of the animals at the time and place of shipment and showing
their pitiful condition on arrival at Hazen. Tt shows beyond question
that the carrier was guilty of very gross negligence and want of carc,
and even cruelty to the animals. It shows damages in excess of the
verdiet. The testimony is entirely convineing and the verdiet is very
moderate.  ITence the long string of objeetions, exceptions, and errors
assigned do merit no consideration.

In this case there was no express contract between the plaintiff and
the Direetor General. Tn the shipping bill the carrier named is the
Northern Pacific Railway Company, not the Director General, who had
taken control of the railway. Hence the judgment must be corrected
by striking out the name of the Northern Pacific Railway Company.
both in the title of the action and in the body of the judgment wherc-
ever the same occurs.  There will be no judgment either against the
Northern Pacific Railway Company or in its favor, and as thus cor-
reeted, the judgment is affirmed, with costs in favor of the plaintiff.

Corrected and affirmed.

Grack, J. T concur in the result.
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Bronson, J. (specially concurring). I concur in the affirmance of
the judgment as to the Director General and for its dismissal as to the
railway company. I am of the opinion that the record presents ques-
tions of fact for the jury concerning the mnegligence of the carrier in
failing to give proper care and protection to the milch cows shipped.
There is evidence in the record that these cows, when shipped, were in
good condition. Although shipment was made under a live-stock con-
tract which provided for an attendant to accompany the cows, never-
theless, there is evidence in the record from which the jury might find -
that the company became aware that the cows were not attended, and
furnished feed, care, and attention even to the extent of servicés fur-
nished and charged in assisting one of the cows when giving birth to a
calf. The carrier thereupon assumed a duty and was liable for its neg-
ligence in the performance thereof. See Morrell v. Northern P. R. Co.
46 N. D. 535, 179 N. W. 922 ; Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. v. Williams, 61
Neb. 608, 55 L.R.A. 289, 85 N. W. 832; Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. v.
Slattery, 76 Neb. 721, 124 Am. St. Rep. 825, 107 N. W. 1045, 20 Am.
Neg. Rep. 405; Millam v. Southern R. Co. 58 S. C. 247, 36 S. E. 571;
Spalding v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. 101 Mo. App. 225, 78 S. W. 274;
McGrath v. Northern P. R. Co. L.R.A.1915D, 644, and note (121
Minn. 258, 141 N. W. 164) ; Trout v. Gulf, C. & S. F. R. Co. — Tex.
Civ. App. —, 111 S. W. 222; 10 C. J. 97. Although more complete
instructions might have been given upon the issues, I am of the opinion
that the prime question of the carrier’s negligence was fairly tried and
submitted to the jury, and that no prejudicial error exists in the record,
with respect to the carrier held.

CaeisTiaNsox, Ch. J., and Birozerr, J., concur.
On Petition for Rehearing, Filed January 18, 1921.

Pxe Curiam. Upon a petition for rehearing the carrier complains
that there is no evidence of negligence on the part of the carrier con-
cerning this shipment of live stock. That the failure to milk the cows
was not negligence. In this regard there is evidence in the record of

inspection by the switch foreman of the carrier when the stock was
47 N. D.—9.
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shipped, and of further inspection by the railway employees at every
stop as this carload of stock proceeded cn route. There is evidence in
the record to charge carrier with knowledge that this carload of stock
was unaccompanied by an attendant. There is further evidence in the
record that the carrier did give care and attention to the stock, even to
the .extent of taking care of one of the cows while it was delivering a
calf. For these services it made and collected a charge therefor. As
heretofore stated, we are of the opinion that this assumption of care
and duty under the circumstances created a duty for which the carrier
was liable for its negligence. When the carrier became eware of nat-
ural propensities of the cows, in their then present condition, and it
undertook, as the evidence discloses, to provide care and aid the acts of
nature, it thereupon assumed a duty extending beyond the mere acts
of feeding and watering, which were then only some of the personal de-
mands of the cattle. Manifestly, if the natural propensities had been
given an opportunity to act naturally, milking might not have been re-
quired at all. The artificial conditions that existed after the carrier
became aware of the conditions of the cattle were conditions of the
carrier’s own creation, and were conditions that could be ameliorated
by the carrier’s care and attention. It sought so to do, and the measure
of this care and attention in that regard, upon this record, was a ques-
tion of fact for the jury.

Again, the carrier complains because the issue of plaintiff’s negli-
gence was not submitted to the jury, for the reason that the carrier did
not know and were not informed covering the conditions of the cows
when shipped, and, further, that the jury were not given an opportunity
to pass upon the question whether the injury was occasioned through
the natural propensities and physical condition of the cattle or through
the negligence of the carrier. Prejudicial error did not occur by rea-
son of the failure of the trial court to submit such issue to the jury.
The evidence discloses without contradiction that the cows were in good
condition when loaded. The carrier, after it became aware of the con-
dition of the cattle, may not excuse its lack of care and attention there-
to because of the failure of the plaintiff to notify the carrier concerning
the character of the shipment. See Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. v. Wil-
liams, 61 Neb. 608, 55 L.R.A. 289, 291, 85 N. W. 832; 10 C. J. 97.
Complaint is also made that the trial court prejudicially charged the
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jury that the plaintiff might recover for the unrcasonable delay in trans-
portation, whereas as a matter of law there is no show of unreasonable
delay in the record. Under the circumstances in this case the element
of time in transportation was an element likewise that concerned the
care and attention requisite for these cattle after the carrier became
aware of their condition. Furthermore, the carrier read into the record
a stipulation concerning the time of transportation wherein, pursuant
to the stipulation, an error of twelve hours was made apparently by
stating the time of departure as being 9:05 A. M. instead of the correct
time, 9:05 p. M. Even though this may have been a clerical error for
the reason that the foreman of the stockyard at Dilworth testified that
on this day the carload was reloaded at Dilworth at 7:15 ». M., and
presumably they left that evening instead of at the prior time, to wit,
9:05 a. M., nevertheless neither the court nor the jury were advised of
the error, and assuredly the carrier is not in a position to complain of
prejudicial error by reason of its own voluntary act in introducing an
erroncous computation of the time of the transportation which con-
tained therein an apparent issue of unreasonable delay in the time of
actual transportation. The trial court likewise did not err prejudicial-
ly, as the carrier claims, in permitting the introduction of evidence
showing that these cattle were bought for sale on the market as milch
cows. The questions thereupon were in the nature of preliminary ques-
tions, and the answers thereto did not constitute prejudicial error. The
petition for rehearing is denied.

CurisTiANSON, Ch. J., and BroNsoxN, RoBinsoN, and Birozery, JJ.,
ww-
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ADDIE McKEEN, Respondent, v. NELS IVERSON, Appellant.
(180 N. W. 805.)

Carriers — death — finding for guest in automoblile on issues of negligence
and contributory negligence warranted — three thousand dollars held
not excessive for killing of husband.

The plaintiff is the widow of Sig McKeen, deceased. He was a guest in a
car owned and driven by defendant. The car turned over and killed McKeen,
and, as the jury found, the proximate cause of his death was the reckless driv-
ing of the car by defendant. The verdict, $3,000, is moderate and in accord
ance with the evidence.

Opinion filed January 4, 1921.

Appeal from judgment of District Court of Renville County; Hon-
orable C. W. Buttz, J.

Affirmed.

Bradford & Nash, for appellant.

If the deceased acquicsced or participated in a use of intoxicating
liquor resulting in defendant’s incapacity to safely operate the car,
plaintiff cannot recover. Lynn v. Goodwin, 170 Cal. 112, L.R.A.
1915E, 588, 148 Pac. 927; Powell v. Berry, 145 Ga. 696, L.R.A.
1917A, 306, 89 S. E. 753.

A guest may be held negligent who consents to stay in an automobile
after dark without light on an unfamiliar rond. LRebillard v. Minne-
apolis, ete. R. Co. L.R.A.1915B, 953, 133 C. C. A. 9, 216 Fed. 503;
Kearney v. Fitzgerald, 43 Iowa, 580; Engleken v. Hilger, 43 Towa,
063 McDonald v. Casey, 84 Mich. 503, 47 N. W. 1104 ; Ronsencrantz

"NorE—The general rule is that the r neghgence of a driver of an automobile who
is intoxmicated is not imputable to a passenger so as to bar the latter’s right of re-
covery, yet one who rides with the driver of an automobile, with knowledge that
the driver is drumk, is guilty of independent negligence apart from the driver's
negligence, and cannot recover from the driver of another automobile, or the
driver of the car in which he was riding, by reason of the intoxicated driver’s neg-
ligence, as will be scen by an examination of a note in L.R.A.1917A, 314, on in-
toxication of person operating automobile.

On excessive or inadequate damages for personal injuries resulting in death,
see comprehensive note in L.R.A.1016C, 820.
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v. Shoemaker, 60 Mich. 4, 26 N. W. 794; Elliott v. Barry, 34 Hun,
129,

Notwithstanding the fact that the negligence of the driver will not
be imputed to the passenger, yet it is necessary that the passenger him-
self exercise ordinary care. Lake Shore ete. R. Co. v. Boyts, 16 Ind.
App. 640, 45 N. E. 812; Flanagan v. New York C. ete. R. Co. 70 App.
Div. 505, 75 N. Y. Supp. 225, affirmed in 173 N. Y. 631, 66 N. E.
1108; Galveston ete. R. Co. v. Kutac, 72 Tex. 643, 11 S. W, 127,

No recovery can be had where the passenger acquiesced or partici-
pated in the negligent acts of the driver. Colorado, ete. R. Co. v.
Thomas, 33 Colo. 517, 70 L.R.A. 681, 81 Pac. 801 ; Illinois C. R. Co. v.
MecLeod, 78 Mass. 334, 52 L.R.A. 9534, 84 Am. St. Rep. 630, 29 So
76.

E. R. Sinkler and J. E. Bryans, for respondent.

In order to raise the question of contributory negligence it is neces-
sary that that defense which is an affirmative should be plecaded. Carr
v. R. Co. 16 N. D. 217; Ouverson v. Grafton, 5 N. D. 231; 5 PL. &
Pr. 12.

Rosixsox, J. The complaint avers that plaintiff is the widow of
Sig McKeen on whom she depended for support; that she is the
administratrix of his estate; that in July, 1917, McKeen was a guest
of defendant in an automobile owned and driven by him; that by the
gross negligence of defendant the automobile turned over and killed
McKeen. The jury found a special verdict on which judgment was
given against defendant for $3,000. The verdict finds that McKeen
was a guest in defendant’s car when it overturned; that defendant
was intoxicated and his intoxication contributed to the overturning of
the car. The speed of the car, when making a turn on the road short-
Iy before the accident was 30 miles an hour, and it was 15 miles at
the time of the accident, and the speed contributed to the overturning
of the car. Defendant was intoxicated and McKcen knew it,

Questions submitted to jury:

Q. Did McKeen know or have reason to believe there was danger
in riding in the car?

A. No.

»
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Q. If he had reason to believe there was danger, did he have time
and opportunity, without danger, to get out of the car?
No.
In driving the car did defendant use ordinary caret
No.
What was the proximate cause of the accident ¢
Reckless driving by defendant.
. In what sum has the plaintiff been damaged ?
A. $3,000.

' The defense is that the deceased was guilty of contributory negli-
gence. At the time of the accident defendant was driving a high-power
car in which the deceased and the several others were all “gloriously
drunk together.”

Ira Pellett testifies: They crossed a bridge and then defendant
commenced to speed.

Q. Did anybody try to get out of the car shortly after you crossed
‘the bridge ?

A. Yes, sir. Mr. Johnson was hollering: “For God’s sake stop
and let me out of this car,” and Sig McKeen said: “Take me back.
T don’t want to go like this.” Defendant did not stop. He speeded
up a little. He kept increasing the speed all the time after he started
down the road.

Q. How fast was the car going as it approachod within 100 or 200
feet of the turn?

A. Why from 35 to 45 miles.

The testimony covers 420 pawes. There is considerable conflict.
Yet the verdict is well sustained. McKeen came to his death by
means of reckless driving and gross negleet of defendant, and six oth-
ers narrowly cscaped death. Defendant ean urge no defense only
that he was drunk, and dé¢ceased knew it, and in getting into the auto-
mobile deccased was guilty of ncgligence. Towever, the jury finds
that Sig McKeen did not know or have rcason to believe that there
was danger in riding on the car. The fact that a person is more or
less intoxicated does not indicate that he will act the part of a mad-
man. McKeen secing five or six other persons on the car would nat-
urally conclude that they were not all so foolish as to go on a car

eroPrOP
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where there was a great and apparent danger. Then he might well
conclude, as the fact is, that a man who is intoxicated must know it,
and that he should be the more careful in driving a car with six or
seven guests.

By statute every person is responsible, not only for his wilful acts,
but also for an injury occasioned to another by the want of ordinary
care in the management of his property or person, except so far as the
latter has wilfully or by want of ordinary care brought the injury up-
on himself. Now in this case it will not be contended that the deceased
wilfully brought the injury upon himself or that he was guilty of
more negligence than the scveral other persons on the car. It is truc
the guests were all more or less under the influence of liquor, but their
condition was neither the direct nor proximate cause of the car turn-
ing over on them. As the jury found, the proximate cause of the acci-
dent was the reckless driving by decfendant, and the reckless driving
was not in any manner caused by the condition of deceased.

It is urged plaintiff cannot recover if the deceased participated in
the use of intoxicating liquor which resulted in defendant’s incapacity
to operate the car. But the evidence does not show, and there is no
presumption or finding, that the defendant had not capacity to safelv
operate the car. The accident resulted not from the lack of capacity,
but from the lack of care and a desire to do a dare-devil stunt and to
frighten the guests. They cried for him to stop

But the more they cried, Whoa!
More he said, Let her go!
And the good car went faster and faster.

The verdict is moderate and in accordance with the testimony.
Affirmed.

GracE, J., disqualified, did not participate.

Beonson, J. (specially concurring). I concur in the affirmance of
the judgment. The record discloses that this case was fairly tried and
fairly submitted to the jury for a special verdict. The trial court
submitted the proposed interrogatories to both parties for their sug-
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gestions and amendments. Both parties were satisfied with the inter-
rogatories as proposed and submitted to the jury. Both parties, like-
wise, were satisficd with the instructions given by the trial court to
the jury.

I am satisfied that the questions of the negligence of the defendant
and of the deccased were questions of fact for the jury; that the find-
ings as made by the jury have support in the evidence and warrant
the judgment rendered by the trial court.

CrristiansoN, Ch. J. (concurring specially). In the trial court
the defendant contended that he was not intoxicated at the time the
accident occurred. In this court the claim is made that, under the
facts as found in the special verdict, the intoxication of the defendant
was the basal clement of the negligence which occasioned the death of
plaintiff’s husband, and that the deceased was guilty of such negli-
gence as precludes a recovery. It is true the jury found that defend-
ant was intoxicated, and that the deceased knew that he was intoxicated
at the time the “car left the Chautauqua Park for the ballgrounds on
the day of the accident.” But they, also, found that he did not ‘“know
or have reason to believe there was any danger in riding in the car”
and that he had no “time or opportunity, without danger, to get out
of the car.” They further found that “the proximate,—the direct,—
cause’’ of the accident was “reckless driving on the part of the defend-
ant.” It is true they found that this reckless driving occurred while
he (defendant) was intoxicated, and that he lost control of the car
“while making the turn in the road.” But I do not believe that it
follows as a matter of law from these facts that defendant is relieved
from liability. As I construe the special verdict it finds that the injury
was occasioned by defendant’s negligence, and that the deceased was
not negligent. I concur in an affirmance of the judgment appealed
from.

Brrozewy, J., concurs,



MORGAN v. JENSON 137

WILLIAM B. MORGAN and George Schas, Respondents, v. H. B.
‘ JENSON, Appellant.

(181 N. W. 89.)

Adverse possession — evidence as to encroachments, etc., held to show
visible and notorious possession.

Plaintiffs, the record owners of a certain city lot, brought an action against
defendant to determine adverse claims with reference thereto. Defendant set
forth his adverse claims, whereby he claimed title, by reason of certain ea-
croachments on the north 18% inches of the lot, and further claimed that he
and his predecessors had been in possession thereof, under claim of title or
claim of right, for twenty years or more. The nature, extent, and duration of
the encroachments are shown by the evidence.

The judgment of the trial court was in favor of plaintiff. For reasons
stated in the opinion, it is held, the judgment is right and is sustained by the
evidence.

Opinion filed January 4, 1921.

Appeal from judgment of District Court of Cass County. Honor-
able A. T. Cole, Judge.

Trial de noro demanded by defendant and appellant.

Judgment affirmed.

Prerce, Tenneson & Cupler, for appellant.

“When it shall appear that there has been actual continued occu-
pation of premises under a claim of title exclusive of any other right,
but not founded upon a written instrument, or a judgment or decree,
the premises so actnally occupied and no other shall be deemed to have
becn held adversely.” Comp. Laws 1913, §§ 7362, 7368, 7369.

Jf there is a privity between successive occupants holding adversely
to the true title continuously, the successive period of occupation may
be united or tacked to each other to make up the time of adverse hold-

" Norr.—The authorities are unanimous in requiring adverse possession to bLe
continuous and uninterrupted for the entire statutory period before anything is
gained by it, as will be seen by an examination of the cases in note in 15 I.R.A.
(N.S.) 1202, on unbroken continuity as essential element in adverse possession.

On necessity and requisites of continuity of adverse possession, see notes in 13
Am. Dec. 185, and 331.
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ing prescribed by the statute as against such title. 2 C. J. § 66, p. 82;
Comp. Laws 1913, § 7362; Streeter J. Co. v. Frederickson, 11 N. D.
300; Nash v. Northwest Land Co. 15 N. D. 566; Martin v. O’Brien
(N. D.) 173 N. W. 809.

Payment of taxes not essential to acquire title by adverse possession.
Power v. Kitching, 10 N. D. 254.

The twenty-year statute is more than a statute of repose. Martin
v. O’Brien, supra; Steinway v. Brown, 38 N. D. 611.

To render possession hostile, there need be no ill-will, malevolence,
or desire to injure. 2 C. J. 122; Ballard v. Hanson (Neb.) 51 N. W.
295.

Barnett & Richardson, for respondents.

Defendant is not entitled to claim the right to tack the possession of
Faley to any portion of lot 19, which was not included in Faley’s deed
to the defendant. Wilhelm v. Herron (Mich.) 178 N. W. 769; Grae-
ven v. Devies, 31 N. W. 915; Lake Shore R. Co. v. Sterling (Mich.)
155 N. W. 383; Maher v. Brown (Ill.) 56 N. E. 181; Messer v. So-
ciety (Cal.) 84 Pac. 837.

It is the knowledge, either actual or imputable, of the possession of
his lands by another, claiming to own them bona fide and openly, that
affcets the legal owner thereof. Buttz v. Hames (N. D.) 156 N. W.
547; Jones v. Weaver (Tex.) 122 S. W. 621; O’Boyle v. Kelly (Pa.)
04 Atl. 448,

Gracg, J. This is an action to determine adverse claims to certain
real property. A statement of the material facts will present the issue
to be determined.

Plaintiff claims ownership and title to all of lot 19 in block 3, of
Keeney & Devitt’s addition to Fargo. The defendant claims title to
all of lot 18, in the same block, which adjoins lot 19 on the north. He
also claims title and ownership to the north 183 inches extending east
and west, the entire length of lot 19, and this, on the theory that he
and his predecessors have continued to occupy, adverscly to plaintiff,
this tract, for more than twenty vears prior to the commencement of
this action.

Lot 18 is in the northwest corner of lot 3, and is bounded on the
north by First Avenue North, and on the west by Fourth street. In
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width, north and south, cach lot is 28 feet, and 150 feet in length
cast and west.

Plaintiff’s chain of title to lot 19 is as follows: The title thereto
was conveyed on June 20, 1877, to Mary A. Ball. On November 6,
1912, by a final decree in her cstate, to Wilbur F. Ball. On June 14,
1913, by final decree in the estate of Wilbur F. Ball, to Grace Ball
Wheelock, William F. Ball and John G. Ball. Subsequently, William
Ball acquired the interest of Grace Ball Wheelock and John G. Ball.

September, 1913, William B. Morgan purchased lot 19 from Wil-
liam Ball, under contract for dced, and about a yecar later received con-
veyance thereof, by deed, from William Ball, which is Exhibit “1.”

In the latter part of 1919, Morgan sold lot 19, under contract for
deed, to plaintiff, George Schas. There has never been any buildings on
lot 19. It has always been vacant and unoccupied. All taxes thereon
have been paid by the plaintiffs and their predeccssors. The defend-
ant has never paid any taxes thereon.

The chain of title of lot 18 is as follows: On December 7, 1893,
John Faley acquired title to lot 18. He conveyed it to the defendant
on May 18, 1903, who has continued to own, occupy, and control it
and the buildings thereon continuously since that time. There are five
buildings now on lot 18, have been on it since 1893 and 1894.

Building No. 1 faces on Fourth street. There was a house built
where this house now stands, by a Mrs. Brown, who owned the lot prior
to the time it was acquired by John Faley. This house was burned in
a fire of 1893, and another house built after the fire, in the same loca-
tion, in 1893. The foundation wall of the bay window extended over
the boundary line about 64 inches, and the eaves and roof of that win-
dow extended over the line about 181 inches, on lot 19. .

Building No. 2 is a coal and wood shed, used in connection with this
dwelling house, and extends on lot 19 about 10 inches at the base linc,
and about 15 inches at the roof.

Back of this there is another dwelling house, facing north, fronting
on First Avenue North. It was placed there in 1894. The south line
of this building, at the foundation, extends on lot 19 10} inches, and
at the eaves and roof 15 inches. In connection with this dwelling, and
to the east of it, is an outhouse or store room, which, at its foundation,
extends on lot 19 11 inches, and 15 inches at the eaves and roof.
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To the east of the latter building is a frame building, facing north
on First avenue. It extends, at its base, on lot 19 about 8} inches, at
the caves and roof about 12 inches. The buildings are not on a straight
line, east and west, on plaintiff’s lot. Some extend over on lot 19 more
than others.

The parties to this action do not agree upon the exact distance each
building is over on the lot. But, for the purposes of this case, it will be
assumed that the distance the buildings are over on lot 19 is substan-
tially as above stated. The houses are occupied at least part, and per-
haps most, of the time for residential purposes.

The only specification of error is a request for a retrial of the entire
case in this court, upon this appeal.  Plaintiff has full record title to
all of lot 19, and defendant to all of lot 18.

Under the provisions of § 7365, Comp. Laws 1913, plaintiff is pre-
sumed to have been possessed thereof within the time required by law,
and the occupation of such premises by any other person shall be deemed
to have been under and in subordination to such legal title, unless it
appears that the lot in question has been held and possessed adversely
to such legal title for twenty years before the commencement of this
action.

Section 7368, Comp. Laws, provides: “When it shall appear there
has been an actual continued occupation of premises under a claim of
title exclusive of any other right, but not founded upon a written in-
strument, or a judgment or decree, the premises so actually occupicd
and no other shall be decmed to have been held adversely.”

Section 7369, Comp. Laws, provides:

“For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession by a person
claiming title not founded upon a written instrument, or a judgment
or decree, land shall be deemed to have been possessed and occupied in
the following cases only.

“(1) When it had been protected by a substantial inclosure.

“(2) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.”

Under our statutes there are two ways of asserting title by adverse
possession.

(1) That the occupant or those under whom he claims entered into
possession of premises under claim of title, exclusive of any other right,
founding such claim upon a written instrnment, or upon a decree or
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judgment of a competent court, as provided in § 7367, Comp. Laws
1913.

(2) Where the occupation is under claim of title, exclusive of any
other right, but not founded upon a written instrument, judgment, or
decree, as provided in §§ 7368, 7369, supra.

As we view defendant’s contention, it is a claim of title by adverse
possession, resting upon the assertion that he and his predecessors have
been in open, notorious, continuous, and exclusive possession of the par-
cel of land in dispute for a period of twenty years or more.

We think it manifest that the burden is on one claiming title by ad-
verse possession to prove his assertions, with reference to the elements
of his claim, by clear and convincing evidence, and that the statutes of
adverse possession should be strictly construed.

It is clear from the evidence that defendant’s actual possession, when
limited to his personal possession, is not of such length of time as to
place him in position to claim adverscly to the plaintiff. The defend-
ant has been in possession of the premises only since 1903. It is only
when he tacks the possession of Faley to his that he may be said to have
placed himself in such position that he can claim a right to assert claim
of title adversely to plaintiff. If he may not properly tack Faley’s pos-
session to his, then his claim of title by adverse possession would fail.

Tn short, unless there is competent evidence to show that he succeeded
to Faley’s claim to the disputed strip, he would not be in position, as a
matter of law, to tack IYaley’s claim of title and possession to his. The
first knowledge that the defendant had that Faley claimed title to the
disputed tract, and the only competent evidence of the first time Faley
did claim title to this strip, was when the defendant purchased from
him lot 18, in 1903.

Assnming the testimony shows that Faley so claimed at that time,
and that he then so informed the defendant, in the face of what sub-
sequently transpired in defendant’s purchase of lot 18 from Faley, can
it be said Faley transferrcd any of his claim of title or right to the dis-
puted strip, to the defendant? It appears that Faley deeded to Jenson
only lot 18, and nothing more. By that deed he did not convey any
claim of title or right to the disputed strip, though defendant admits
that Faley at that time told him that a portion of the buildings were on
lo 19 and that he claimed to own the land on lot 19, upon which snch
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buildings were located, but, by the deed, he did not convey the disputed
strip. ITe conveyed lot 18 only, which was 28 feet wide and 150 feet
in length. It must be clear that, if Faley had acquired any title or
claim of right to the disputed strip, he did not convey it to defendant
by his deed.

The rule would seem to be that evidence of adverse possession is to
be construed strictly, and every presumption is to be made in favor of
the true owner. We think this is really the meaning of our statutes in
regard to adverse possession, and such was the rule laid down in the case
of Sydnor v. Palmer, 29 Wis. 252 ; Wilhelm v. Herron, 211 Mich. 339,
178 N. W. 769 ; Vicksburg, S. & P. R. Co. v. Le Rosen, 52 La. Ann
192, 26 S. W. 834; Messer v. Hibernia Sav. & Loan Soc. 149 Cal.
122, 84 Pac. 837.

Faley, when he sold defendant lot 18, ceased his possession of the
disputed strip. IHe made no attempt to convey it to the defendant.
The possession of it must have reverted to the true owner, who retains
title of it unless it has been divested by the adverse posscssion of the
defendant since he purchased lot 18, and entered into possession of that
lot under his deed, and into possession of the disputed strip, by occupy-
ing the same, but without any right, under the deed, to do so.

There is no evidence of a parol agreement between Faley and the de-
fendant, whereby the possessory right of Faley, if any, to the disputed
strip, is transferred to the defendant. Hence, there was no privity of
estate between Faley and the defendant, the suceessive parties in pos-
session. In these circumstances, defendant could not tack the posses-
sion of Faley to that of his, so as to constitute a single, continuous pos-
session. Defendant’s occupancy was for approximately seventeen years
only, while the statute requires ocenpaney for a period of twenty years
before one, claiming title by adverse possession, can be heard to assert
the claim of title against the true owner. Hence defendant did not
hold adversely to plaintiff and his predccessors for the time required
by our statute, supra. In what the writer has above stated with refer-
ence to tacking, he is speaking for himself only.

If we are correet in what we have above stated, we could well con-
clude the opinion at this point. However, appellant has laid inuch
stress on additional points and we will briefly refer to them. It is in-
cumhent upon defendant to prove, not only that his possession has been
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for the statutory period, but also that it has been open, 1. e., visible.

To prove this, defendant offered evidence, in detail, of the character
of the buildings above mentioned. The plaintiff characterizes all the
buildings as shacks. From the evidence as to the character of the build-
ings, we think the word “shacks,” as its meaning is commonly under-
stood, is as expressive a term as could be used to convey an idea of the
real character of all the buildings, with the exception, perhaps, of the
story and a half or two story dwelling, fronting on Fourth street, which
is a little more substantial than the remainder of the buildings. But,
as we view the evidence, none of the buildings, including the large
building furthest west, arc of substantial and permanent nature, suffi-
cient to call the attention of the owner of the record title, that an en-
croachment was taking place upon his property.

It is not a case where a large, substantial, expensive, permanent
building has been partially constructed upon an cneroachment on the
land of the adjoining record owner, under which buildings there has
been constructed an expensive foundation, and large and expensive
basements, ete.

An encroachment of this character could be said to be open, visible,
or notorious, so as to generally be sufficient to attract the attention to
owner of the property upon which such encroachment has been made.

The evidence also shows, that no part of the large dwelling encroaches
upon lot 19, except the bay window, the foundation of which is over
on lot 19 a few inches, and the roof thereof was over a few inches more
than the foundation. Otherwise, the whole of this building is on lot 18.

Such an encroachment certainly could not be said to be sufficient to
attract the attention of, or be visible to, the owner of the record title of
lot 19, and all of the buildings, in the condition they were, were insuf-
ficient for that purpose.

The only remaining matter that needs any consideration relates to
the claim of appellant, that plaintiffs and their predecessors had actual
notice of defendant’s claim of title to the disputed strip, and his
endeavor to prove such actual notice, by certain conversations and
claims had with, and made to, one Fred Ball, who it is maintained was
the agent of the then record owner, who the defendant endeavored to
show was Wilbur F. Ball, father of Fred Ball. These conversations
were claimed to have been had abhout 1904,
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Plaintiff claims Mary A. Ball and Wilbur F. Ball were both living
at that time, and that Mary A. Ball was then the record owner of lot
19. Necessarily, if at that time she was the record owner, any conver-
sation, in the respect mentioned, had with Fred Ball, the alleged agent
of the father, would be no notice to Mary A. Ball.

It is not very clear from the record, when Mary A. Ball died. It
does appear that by final decree in her estate, on November 6, 1912,
title to lot 19 was transferred to Wilbur ¥. Ball. We think it could
be reasonably inferred from this that she was living in 1904, the time
of the alleged conversation. We think such evidence, in these circum-
stances, was wholly incompetent, as showing Mary A. Ball had actual
notice.

But if it were assumed that Wilbur F. Ball was the record owner at
the time of the alleged conversation, and that Fred Ball was, in some
capacity, his agent, it does not appear from the evidence in what capaci-
ty Fred Ball was acting as an agent, other than a general statement
that he was looking after the property. Such a general statement does
not show that, if he were such agent, he had any authority to look after
any matters affecting the title of the property.

But, further than this, we think it is a general rule that agency can-
not be established by the declaration of the agent only. We do not
think there is sufficient cvidence in the record to show an agency, or to
show that Fred Ball had any authority to represent his father, or any-
one else, with reference to matters affecting lot 19. We think his evi-
dence was wholly incompetent, and, therefore, inadmissible to prove
any of the issucs in this case, and we so hold.

The issues here involved have been ably presented to this court by
eminent counsel on either side. The authorities on the subject of ad-
verse possession have becn extensively collated in their respective lucid
and able briefs. The appellant, however, must fail in the accomplish-
ment of the purpose for which this action was brought, and this, by
weakness and failure of proof of material facts necessary to sustain his
contention, not the least among which is the character of the buildings,
as above described. There is also an insufficiency of evidence, amount-
ing to failure of proof, to show occupation and possession, under claim
of title and claim of right, for a period of twenty years or more, as re-
quired by statute, and. lastly, the failure of appellant to show any



MORGAN v. JENSON 1456

actual notice thereof to the record owner of the property during that
time, other than the actual notice to Morgan just before the commence-
ment of this action, which avails nothing.

We think the evidence is insufficient, and that the proof fails to show
visible, notorious, continuous, and exclusive possession of the parcel of
land in dispute, in the appellant, for the time required by the statute,
and hence, he has acquired no title thereto by his alleged adverse pos-
session.

The judgment appealed from is affirmed. Respondent is ehtxtled to
his costs and disbursements on appeal.

Roeixsox, J., concurs.
Droxsox, J. T concur in result.

CuristiaxsoN, Ch. J. (concurring specially.) T concur in an affirm-
ance of the judgment on the ground that the possession of the defend:
ant and his grantor was not of such character as to indicate any asser-
tion by either of them of claim of ownership to any portion of lot No.
19. See Enderlin Invest. Co. v. Nordhagen, 18 N. D. 517, 123 N. W.
390, 1 R. C. L. pp. 692, ¢05.

I disagree with what is said in the majority opinion on the question
of tacking. As I understand the law, all that is nccessary to privity
between successive occupants of property, and in regard thereto, is that
one receive his possession from the other by some act of the other or by
operation of law. 1 R. C. L. p. 718. All that the law requires is a
continuous adverse possession for the full statutory period. The con-
tinuity of the original posscssion may be effected by any conveyance or
understanding the purpose of which is to transfer to another the rights
and the possession of the adverse claimant, when accompanied by an
actual delivery of possession. And, “where the owner of a tract of land
occupies other property, adjacent thereto, by adverse possession, it iz
not material that in selling the whole the land claimed by adverse pos-
session is not described in the conveyance.” If it is the intention of the
erantor to transfer and of the grantee to take the whole of the prop-
erty, and possession of the whole is actually delivered, the continnity

of the adverse posscssion is not broken, and the doctrine of tacking is
47 N. D.—10.
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applicable. 1 R. C. L. pp. 719, 720; Wishart v. McKnight, 178 Mass.
356, 86 Am. St. Rep. 486, 59 N. E. 1028; Clithero v. Fenner, 122
Wis. 356, 106 Am. St. Rep. 978, 99 N. W. 1027 ; St. Louis Southwest-
ern R. Co. v. Mulkey, 100 Ark. 71, 139 S. W. 643 Ann. Cas. 19130
1339 ; Vandall v. St. Martin, 42 Minn. 163, 44 N. W. 525.

BrrozeLy, J., concurs.

ALBERT ROBERTS, Respondent, v. CHARLES E. TAYLOR et
al, Appellants.

(181 N. W. 622.)

Navigable waters — ‘‘navigabiilty in fact’’ test as to whether inland lake is
public water.
1. In determining the status of an inland lake in this state, as public or
private waters, the test of “navigability in fact” is applied.

Navigable waters — ‘‘navigability in fact” defined.
2. This test is not confined to a capacity for use in commerce of a pecuniary
value, but may be extended to capacity for use for purposes of navigation for
pleasure, public convenience, and enjoyment.

Navigable waters —'sl:ate possesses title to bed of public waters.
3. The state, in its sovereign right, possesses the title to the bed of public
waters within this state.

Navigable waters — public land — state owns island within government
school section. s,
4. The state, in its proprietary right, owns an island existing in public
waters located within a school section, which has been ceded by the Federal
government to the state.

Navigable waters — Sweetwater lake held navigable.
5. Sweetwater lake, extending some 6 miles in length and in width 2 miles
in places, with clear and deep water, meandered by the United States Govern-

Note.—The questﬁ “as to what waters ws,r:;m\'nigo.ble is discussed in a note in
42 L.R.A. 305.

On general tests by which the navigability of waters is determined in the United
States, see notes in 126 Am. St. Rep. 717, and 131 Am. St. Rep. 757.

On the question as to what are navigable waters in the United States, see note
in 22 L. ed. U. S. 391.
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mental survey in 1883, and since that time used by the public for boating and
hunting, and capable of being navigated for such and other purposes, is navi-
gable.

Navigable waters — riparian owners held to receive no title from Federal
government to bed of navigable inland lake.

6. The plaintiff and the defendant, riparian owners by virtue of grants from
the Federal government and from the state to lands abutting upon such lake,
received no title to the bed of the adjacent lake. and only the rights of riparian
owners upon navigable waters.

Navigable waters — state held interested in rights to bed of inland na'vi-
gable lake—reliction must be considered in determining rights of
riparian owners to bed of inland lake.

7. The state, as well as the parties, are interested in the accessions that
have occurred to the respective tracts of land through the recession of the lake
waters, and the portion to be allotted to each is determinable upon principles
of reliction.

Opinion filed January 4, 1921. Rehearing denied January 14, 1921.

Action in District Court, Ramscy County, Kneeshaw, J., to deter-
mine adverse claims concerning the land of a lake bed.

The defendants have appcaled from a judgment in favor of the
plaintiff and demand a trial de novo.

Reversed and a new trial granted with directions to notify the state.
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